
Notice of Meeting 

 
 

 
   

 

 
County Hall, New Road, Oxford, OX1 1ND 

www.oxfordshire.gov.uk  Media Enquiries 01865 323870 
 

Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 

Thursday, 9 February 2023 at 10.00 am 

Room 3 - County Hall, New Road, Oxford OX1 1ND 
 

These proceedings are open to the public 
 

If you wish to view proceedings online, please click on this Live Stream Link. 

 
Membership 
 

Chairman - Councillor Jane Hanna OBE 
Deputy Chairman - District Councillor Paul Barrow 
 
Councillors: Nigel Champken-Woods 

Imade Edosomwan 

Damian Haywood 

Nick Leverton 

Dan Levy 

Dr Nathan Ley 

District 
Councillors: 

Sandy Dallimore 

Jabu Nala-Hartley 

Elizabeth Poskitt 

David Turner 

  

Co-optees: Jean Bradlow Barbara Shaw Vacancy 
  

 

For more information about this Committee please contact: 

Chair - Councillor Jane Hanna OBE 
  Email: jane.hanna@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
Scrutiny Officer - Eddie Scott, Health Scrutiny Officer 

Tel: 07840857812 
 Email: eddie.scott@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 

 

 
Stephen Chandler  
Interim Chief Executive February 2023 

Public Document Pack

http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/
https://oxon.cc/OJHOSC10032022


 

 

What does this Committee review or scrutinise? 

 Any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of health services in the area of 
its local authorities. 

 Health issues, systems or economics, not just services provided, commissioned or managed 
by the NHS. 

 
How can I have my say? 

We welcome the views of the community on any issues in relation to the responsibilities of this 
Committee.  Members of the public may ask to speak on any item on the agenda or may suggest 
matters which they would like the Committee to look at.  Requests to speak must be submitted 
to the Scrutiny Officer no later than 9 am on the working day before the date of the 
meeting. 

 
About the Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
 
The Joint Committee is made up of 15 members. Twelve of them are Councillors, seven from 
Oxfordshire County Council, and one from each of the District Councils – Cherwell, West 
Oxfordshire, Oxford City, Vale of White Horse, and South Oxfordshire. Three people can be co-
opted to the Joint Committee to bring a community perspective. It is administered by the County 
Council. Unlike other local authority Scrutiny Committees, the work of the Health Scrutiny 
Committee involves looking ‘outwards’ and across agencies. Its focus is on health, and while its 
main interest is likely to be the NHS, it may also look at services provided by local councils which 
have an impact on health. 
 
About Health Scrutiny 
 

Health Scrutiny is about: 

 Providing a challenge to the NHS and other organisations that provide health care 

 Examining how well the NHS and other relevant organisations are performing  

 Influencing the Cabinet on decisions that affect local people 

 Representing the community in NHS decision making, including responding to formal 
consultations on NHS service changes 

 Helping the NHS to develop arrangements for providing health care in Oxfordshire 

 Promoting joined up working across organisations 

 Looking at the bigger picture of health care, including the promotion of good health  

 Ensuring that health care is provided to those who need it the most 
 

Health Scrutiny is NOT about: 

 Making day to day service decisions 
 Investigating individual complaints. 
 
What does this Committee do? 
 
The Committee meets up to 5 times a year or more. It develops a work programme, which lists 
the issues it plans to investigate. These investigations can include whole committee 
investigations undertaken during the meeting, or reviews by a panel of members doing research 
and talking to lots of people outside of the meeting.  Once an investigation is completed the 
Committee provides its advice to the relevant part of the Oxfordshire (or wider) NHS system 
and/or to the Cabinet, the full Councils or scrutiny committees of the relevant local authorities. 
Meetings are open to the public and all reports are available to the public unless exempt or 
confidential, when the items would be considered in closed session. 
 

If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of these papers 

or special access facilities) please contact the officer named on the front page, 
giving as much notice as possible before the meeting  

A hearing loop is available at County Hall. 



 

 

 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments  
 

2. Declarations of Interest - see guidance note on the back page  
 

3. Minutes (Pages 1 - 8) 
 

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 24 November 2022 and to receive 
information arising from them. 

4. Speaking to or Petitioning the Committee  
 

Members of the public who wish to speak at this meeting can attend the meeting in 

person or ‘virtually’ through an online connection.  
 

To facilitate ‘hybrid’ meetings we are asking that requests to speak or present a 
petition are submitted by no later than 9am four working days before the meeting. 
Requests to speak should be sent to 

committeesdemocraticservices@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

If you are speaking ‘virtually’, you may submit a written statement of your 
presentation to ensure that your views are taken into account. A written copy of your 
statement can be provided no later than 9am 2 working days before the meeting. 

Written submissions should be no longer than 1 A4 sheet. 

5. Oxfordshire Community Musculoskeletal Service (Pages 9 - 34) 
 

10:20 
 
To receive a joint report from Danielle Chulan, Head of Operations (South), Connect 

Health; Judy Foster, Senior Commissioning Manager – Planned Care (Oxfordshire), 
ICB; and Avril Fahey, Operations Manager, Connect Health, in respect of the 

performance against KPIs, successes and areas for improvement and future plans 
for the Oxfordshire MSK Service.  
 

  

6. Oxfordshire Temporarily Closed Services Update (Pages 35 - 78) 
 

mailto:committeesdemocraticservices@oxfordshire.gov.uk


- 2 - 
 

 

11.05  
 
To receive a report from Dr Ben Riley, Executive Managing Director - Primary Care 

and Community Services, Oxford Health, in respect of the closed inpatient unit at 
Wantage Community Hospital.  

7. Healthwatch Oxfordshire Report (Pages 79 - 88) 
 

11.55 

 
To consider a report from Healthwatch Oxfordshire, to be presented by Veronica 
Barry, Interim Executive Director. 

8. Responses to Committee Recommendations (Pages 89 - 90) 
 

12.20 

 
To consider the formal response from the Integrated Care Board in response to the 
Committee’s recommendations in relation to Primary Care at its meeting on 24 

November 2022.  

9. Winter Pressures Update  
 

12:30 
 
To receive an update from the Integrated Care Board, Place-Based Director, Dan 

Leveson in respect of the Winter Pressures facing the Oxfordshire System.  
 

The Committee is recommended to resolve that formal consideration of the 
Oxfordshire System’s Winter Plan for 23/24 is considered as a substantive item at its 
meeting in September 2023.  

 

LUNCH 

Lunch at 12.45 for 45 minutes. 
 

10. South Central Ambulance Service (SCAS) Improvement Programme 
Update (Pages 91 - 96) 
 

13.30 
 

To receive a report from Will Hancock, Chief Executive, South Central Ambulance 
Service which updates as to the:  

a. Progress against our improvement programme linked to the August 2022 

Care Quality Commission report. 
b. Impact of industrial action 

c. Operational performance in the Oxfordshire area  
d. Recent Board level appointments 



- 3 - 
 

 

11. Chair's Report (Pages 97 - 106) 
 

14.15 
 

To receive an update from the Chair of the Committee. 

12. Actions and Recommendations Tracker (Pages 107 - 114) 
 

14:25 

 
To review progress against the Committee’s agreed actions and recommendations.  

The Committee is asked to note progress made and agree any actions arising. 

13. Committee Work Programme (Pages 115 - 122) 
 

14:35 
 
To review the Committee’s work programme for the remainder of the 2022/23 

municipal year. 



- 4 - 
 

 

 

Declarations of Interest 
 
The duty to declare….. 

Under the Localism Act 2011 it is a criminal offence to 
(a) fail to register a disclosable pecuniary interest within 28 days of election or co-option (or re-

election or re-appointment), or 
(b) provide false or misleading information on registration, or 
(c) participate in discussion or voting in a meeting on a matter in which the member or co-opted 

member has a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

Whose Interests must be included? 

The Act provides that the interests which must be notified are those of a member or co-opted 
member of the authority, or 

 those of a spouse or civil partner of the member or co-opted member; 

 those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as husband/wife 
 those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as if they were civil 

partners. 
(in each case where the member or co-opted member is aware that the other person has the 
interest). 

What if I remember that I have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the Meeting?. 

The Code requires that, at a meeting, where a member or co-opted member has a disclosable 
interest (of which they are aware) in any matter being considered, they disclose that interest to 
the meeting. The Council will continue to include an appropriate item on agendas for all 
meetings, to facilitate this. 

Although not explicitly required by the legislation or by the code, it is recommended that in the 
interests of transparency and for the benefit of all in attendance at the meeting (including 
members of the public) the nature as well as the existence of the interest is disclosed. 

A member or co-opted member who has disclosed a pecuniary interest at a meeting must not 
participate (or participate further) in any discussion of the matter; and must not participate in any 
vote or further vote taken; and must withdraw from the room. 

Members are asked to continue to pay regard to the following provisions in the code that “You 
must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an advantage or 
disadvantage on any person including yourself” or “You must not place yourself in situations 
where your honesty and integrity may be questioned…..”. 

Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting should you have any doubt 
about your approach. 

List of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests: 
Employment (includes“any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain”.), Sponsorship, Contracts, Land, Licences, Corporate Tenancies, Securities. 

 
For a full list of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and further Guidance on this matter please see 
the Guide to the New Code of Conduct and Register of Interests at Members’ conduct guidelines. 
http://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps/wcm/connect/occ/Insite/Elected+members/ or email 
democracy@oxfordshire.gov.uk for a hard copy of the document.  

 
 

 

http://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps/wcm/connect/occ/Insite/Elected+members/
mailto:democracy@oxfordshire.gov.uk


 

OXFORDSHIRE JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 
MINUTES of the meeting held on Thursday, 24 November 2022 commencing at 

10.00 am and finishing at 2.30 pm 
 
Present: 

 
 

Voting Members: Councillor Jane Hanna OBE – in the Chair 

 
 District Councillor Paul Barrow (Deputy Chair) 

Councillor Nigel Champken-Woods 
Councillor Imade Edosomwan 
Councillor Damian Haywood 

Councillor Nick Leverton 
Councillor Dr Nathan Ley 

District Councillor Elizabeth Poskitt 
District Councillor David Turner 
Jean Bradlow 

Barbara Shaw 
Councillor Alison Rooke 

 
Co-opted Members: 
 

Jean Bradlow 
Barbara Shaw 

 
Other Members in 

Attendance: 
 

Councillor Tim Bearder 

Councillor Mark Lygo 

By Invitation: 

 
Katrina Anderson (Service Director, Oxfordshire, 

BaNES, Swindon & Wiltshire Mental Health Directorate) 
Rob Bale (Clinical Director and Consultant Psychiatrist 

Oxford Health) 
Julie Dandridge (Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire and 
Berkshire West Integrated Care Board) 

Dan Leveson (Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire and 
Berkshire West Integrated Care Board) 

Lily O’Connor (Director of Urgent Care for Oxfordshire) 
 

Officers: 

 
 

Whole of meeting Ansaf Azhar – Corporate Director of Public Health 

Karen Fuller – Interim Corporate Director of Adults and 
Housing 
Tom Hudson - Principal Overview and Scrutiny Officer 

Eddie Scott – Health Scrutiny Officer 
Simon Wright - Clerk 

 
Part of meeting 
 

Stephen Chandler – Interim Chief Executive 

  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



JHO3 

  

 
The Scrutiny Committee considered the matters, reports and recommendations 
contained or referred to in the agenda for the meeting [, together with a schedule of 

addenda tabled at the meeting/the following additional documents:] and agreed as 
set out below.  Copies of the agenda and reports [agenda, reports and 

schedule/additional documents] are attached to the signed Minutes. 
 

 

64/22 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND TEMPORARY APPOINTMENTS  
(Agenda No. 1) 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs Levy and Nala-Hartley. 

 
Cllr Rooke attended in place of Cllr Levy 

 

65/22 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
(Agenda No. 2) 
 

Cllr Hanna noted her position as Chief Executive of SUDEP Action. 
 

66/22 MINUTES  
(Agenda No. 3) 
 
The minutes of the HOSC meeting held on 22 September 2022 were AGREED as an 

accurate record subject to the following: 
 
Min No. 62/22 – Chair’s Update 

 

It was advised that advice had been sought by the Principal Scrutiny Officer 

regarding the ability of the committee to make submissions to the Covid inquiry with 
regard to the reports that had been produced in respect of care homes. The advice 
was such that the committee could not do this on behalf of the council. However it 

was agreed to amend the minutes to reflect the Committee’s wishes. 
 

The request to Cllr Bearder that the council be actively involved in any inquiry be 
included in the minutes. 
 

67/22 SPEAKING TO OR PETITIONING THE COMMITTEE  
(Agenda No. 4) 
 

The following requests to speak were received: 
 
Item 6 Integrated Care Programme for Oxfordshire 

 
Julie Mabberley 

Councillor Jenny Hannaby (statement only) 
 

68/22 PRIMARY CARE  
(Agenda No. 5) 

Page 2



JHO3 

 

The Chair welcomed Julie Dandridge and Dan Leveson to the meeting who 
presented the outcomes from the HOSC Primary Care Workshop held in October. 
 

Members raised a number of issues in respect of the following: 
 

 Capacity of the estates and funding being in place. In response it was 
acknowledged that this could always be improved but the necessary expertise 
and skills were in place. 

 The use of Section 106 and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to fund 
projects. It was explained that two projects at Long Hanborough and Didcot 

had been delivered with a number of other schemes being developed. It was 
noted that all district councils were involved but some were more proactive. 
The importance of working with local councils, particularly those with 

Neighbourhood Plans, was key. 

 The anticipated population growth in Oxfordshire was highlighted and the need 

to work with developers to ensure correct infrastructure was in place was 
noted. 

 Data for wait times to see a GP. It was clarified that the wait time and number 
of patients at practices varied widely. In particular it was noted that practices 
that dealt with students had seen a significant drop in numbers. Overall 

Oxfordshire practices saw 85.2% of patients within two weeks compared to a 
national average of 82%. It was further advised that many practices did have 

allocated ‘on the day’ appointments. GP patient lists were regularly reviewed 
to help identify issues. 

 Levels of workforce in primary care settings and the recruitment and retention 

of staff. In response it was explained that £10m had been allocated to 
Oxfordshire in this regard but training of staff took a long time so the benefits 

could be some time away. It was emphasised that increased use of technology 
and self-management could also help. 

 In respect of GP retention it was noted that a number of schemes were in 

place and were proving effective in the county. 

 Following discussion on the subject at the Committee’s workshop session, 

where there had been significant concern in respect of the unsustainable 
levels of growth in patient numbers at Woodlands Medical Practice, the 

Committee were advised that a portacabin would be placed on the site of the 
Woodlands Medical Practice to allow for more clinical space. It was also 
advised that the ICB were working with the District Council to secure a longer-

term solution to the issues in Didcot using section 106 monies and developer 
contributions.  

 The importance of the One Public Estate initiative was highlighted as an 
example of public organisations working together to deliver health services. 
Local hubs where a variety of services were available was given as an 

example. It was anticipated that such schemes would take time to establish 
but could help reduce demand on primary care services. The monitoring would 

be undertaken through the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy.  

 

The Chair summarised the discussion and made a number of recommendations 
which, on being put to the vote, were approved. 

Page 3



JHO3 

 
RESOLVED 
 

1. Specified roles are filled within the ICB with the primary responsibility to 

work with District Councils at Place Level to coordinate use of CIL 
funds held by the ICB and from executed Section 106 funds for 

Primary Care. 
 

2. The Oxfordshire Primary Care Estates Strategy be endorsed by the 

Committee following amendments, to reflect the significant 
population growth and change in the more rural areas of the County. 

 
3. A priority list for funding of new primary care facilities in Oxfordshire is 

created with a view to seeking contributions for health where housing 

developments are already planned and delivered. 
 

4. A letter is formulated, in consultation with the Integrated Care Board; 
and sent on behalf of the Committee to the Secretary of State for 
Health and Social Care to detail the Committee’s concerns in respect 

of General Practice capacity, workforce and retention issues, need for 
healthcare infrastructure as a prerequisite to major developments, 

and to highlight the need for devolved capital funding and flexibility in 
the interests of meeting the needs of primary care in Oxfordshire. 

 

5. The Cabinet is recommended to explore ways for which the Council can 
support the ICB, from a communications angle, to better inform the 
public narrative in primary care. 

 
6. The use of additional roles within Oxfordshire is explored by the 

Committee moving forward. 
 

         

 

69/22 INTEGRATED CARE PROGRAMME FOR OXFORDSHIRE  
(Agenda No. 6) 

 
The Chair introduced the item and made reference to the participation earlier in the 
meeting and the interest the committee had in the issue. 

 
Lily O’Connor, Director of Urgent Care, gave an update on the Integrated Care 

Programme with a specific focus on the metrics around outcomes as discussed at the 
June Committee Meeting. 
 

Members highlighted the following: 
 

 The pausing of the Oxfordshire Way initiative and the impact on work already 
undertaken. In response it was confirmed that whilst work had been paused 
until October 2023 finance was available for digital initiatives and so work 

would continue on this. However work on Adult Social Care and Safeguarding 
would not be advanced at this stage. 

Page 4



JHO3 

 It was noted that meetings were ongoing with the Department of Health & 

Social Care and matters relating to the future of the project would be kept 
under review in the background with a view to progressing them. 

 The use of technology and impact for customers. It was explained that the 

Virtual Ward initiative which involved partners such as GPs, Age UK and Adult 
Social Care working with clients on their care provision. In addition there were 

a number of contracts with Age UK to provide social prescribing in the 
community. 

 The closure of beds and lack of consultation with HOSC. It was noted that 

urgent decisions had been made regarding the closure of some short stay 
beds. 

 The change in culture and challenges this could present. The concern was 
acknowledged and it was confirmed that a co-ordinated approach was needed 

and challenge was very important in this regard and would be facilitated. It was 
agreed that this could be very staff intensive and provision was being made in 
this regard with a view to maximising resources across partners, reducing 

inefficiencies and providing training to allow staff to take on increased roles. 

 The provision of home care, with community support, and whether this was 

always appropriate. It was acknowledged that the wishes of the client would be 
respected and appropriate provision put in place as needed. 

 The strategic positioning of care beds and lack of consultation with HOSC in 

respect of closures. It was noted that some of the information was 
commercially sensitive and there was a need to address recruitment issues. It 

was noted that the overall number of beds had not decreased but consultation 
was needed. 

 It was agreed that a glossary of terms should be developed to allow better 
public understanding of the language used. 

 

The Chair summarised the debate and a number of recommendations were 
proposed and agreed. 

 
Resolved: 
 

1. Matters in respect of the Community Services Strategy continue to be 
looked at by the Integrated Improvement Programme Sub- Group; 

2. That further work by the committee on the urgent care be not pursued in 
the short term but that there be an annual review by the committee;  

3. That the temporarily closed services within the county including the 

midwifery led units at Wantage and Chipping Norton and the inpatient 
unit at Wantage Community Hospital: 

a. be considered by the Committee at its next meeting alongside a 
completed substantial change toolkit form for the services; and  

b. engagement and dialogue on the services with the Wantage Town 

Council Health Sub-Committee is continued by the relevant 
provider.  

 
 
Break in Meeting  

 
The Committee adjourned at 12.50pm and resumed at 1.25pm 

Page 5



JHO3 

 

70/22 SERIOUS MENTAL HEALTH  
(Agenda No. 7) 

 
The Chair welcomed Katrina Anderson (Service Director, Oxfordshire,  

BaNES, Swindon & Wiltshire Mental Health) and Dr Rob Bale (Clinical Director, 
Oxfordshire, BaNES, Swindon & Wiltshire mental Health  
Directorate – Oxford Health) to the meeting. 

 
The speakers presented a report outlining capacity and demand issues, recrui tment 

and the development of a framework to develop services in the community rather 
than at crisis point. Work would be undertaken with community volunteers and 
primary care services. It was anticipated that three pilot hubs would be in place to 

deliver the service. 
 

The clinical role was explained and the importance of developing services with users 
was paramount when introducing significant changes. 
 

In response to members questions it was: 
 

 Confirmed that the scheme was being developed and delivered in partnership. 
It was advised that the first hub was in Blackbird Leys with a further two 

proposed in Abingdon and Banbury once estates issues had been resolved. 
There was also the possibility of virtual hubs. 

 In respect of performance monitoring it was indicated that using indicators was 

difficult as each case was unique. There was however work being procured to 
look at evaluation methods. The scheme was nationally funded with 

Oxfordshire getting a percentage of the money. 

 It was acknowledged that the scope of the work on prevention services could 
be expanded to include other outreach services such as drugs but this would 

need further discussion. 

 Confirmation was given that the specialist practitioners were in place until the 

end of the financial year with primary care funding. It was acknowledged that 
some groups were particularly disadvantaged and support above primary care 

level may be needed in those cases. 

 It was advised that patient feedback was essential when looking at outcomes 
and this involvement should reduce need for crisis intervention. 

 In respect of the growth in referrals between April 2019 and August 2021 it 
was advised that data was still to be fully assessed so the impact of the 

pandemic was not clear. There was an identified increase in young people 
accessing services during this time however. 

 The set up of the Blackbird Leys hub was outlined and it was clarified that this 

had been expedited as a third party had premises available and it was an area 
of high demand.  

 Further to this, confirmation was given that the Frank Bruno Foundation was 
not working in partnership with Oxford Health or providing services at the hub; 

instead the foundation had just leased space to the hub. This was after 
concern of Committee members in respect of the selection of the 3rd sector 
organisation and its suitability in respect of those who had significant learning 

disabilities.  

Page 6



JHO3 

 Confirmation was given that the framework for such schemes was in place and 

there was a process for working with voluntary services to deliver support. This 
involved ensuring due diligence and ensuring that partners had the necessary 
skills. 

 It was agreed that other services such as debt advice could also be included in 
hubs. 

 
The Chair summarised the discussion and acknowledged the direction of travel 
was good. It was suggested and agreed that the issue be examined further and 

the possibility of a joint workshop could be beneficial encompassing agreed 
parameters. 

 
Resolved: 
 

1. That the report be noted; and  
2. That the committee continues to monitor the issue and look at arranging 

a joint workshop on the subject. 

 

71/22 WORK PROGRAMME  
(Agenda No. 8) 

 
A report updating on the Committee Work Programme was considered. 

 
It was noted that data from the Ambulance Service would be presented at the next 
meeting and that the palliative care item was to be deferred to April 2023 as that 

would be one year into the project. 
 

Reference was made to the ICP strategy and the consultation process on this was to 
be clarified. 
 
Resolved: 
 

That, the report be noted. 

 

72/22 ACTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER  
(Agenda No. 9) 

 
The updated actions and recommendations tracker report was received. 

 
In respect of the substantial change toolkit in relation to the SARC in Bicester it was 
reported that this was not considered to be a substantial change and a response from 

the commissioner was awaited. 
 
It was confirmed that following the cessation of the Wider Access Fund this had been 

raised with partners and alternative funding sources could be looked at. 
 

In respect of the amendment to the minutes agreed earlier in the meeting it was 
noted that further advice would be sought. 
 

It was noted that members were looking at further care homes to visit. 

Page 7



JHO3 

 
Resolved: 
 
That the report be noted. 

 

73/22 HEALTHWATCH UPDATE  
(Agenda No. 10) 
 

Consideration was given to the written report from Healthwatch. 
 

It was agreed that if members had any questions regarding the report that they 
forward to officers. 
 
Resolved: 
 

That the report be noted 

 

74/22 CHAIR'S UPDATE REPORT  
(Agenda No. 11) 

 
The Committee received the Chair’s report updating on a number of issues. 

 
Reference was made to a recent Oxford University Hospitals maternity services 
stakeholder event. It was explained that this would help in developing a new strategy 

going forward and a request would be made to see the final document. 
 

In respect of the Covid 19 Sub-Group it was requested that trend data from the 
hospital trust be bought forward for consideration. 
 
Resolved: 
 

That the update report be noted. 

 
 
 in the Chair 

  

Date of signing   

 
 

 
 

Page 8



1 
 

Health Scrutiny Report January 2023 

 

Meeting Date February 9th 2023 

Report prepared by: Danielle Chulan, Head of Operations, Connect Health  

Judy Foster, Senior Commissioning Manager,  NHS Buckinghamshire, 
Oxfordshire & Berkshire West Integrated Care Board 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

Connect Health, a national provider of NHS community services including MSK (musculoskeletal), 
chronic pain, rheumatology and mental health, was successfully selected to deliver the Oxfordshire 
Community MSK service, in partnership with Principal Medical Limited, an Oxfordshire-based GP-led 
not for profit, primary and community care provider and GP Federation. The new service 
commenced on October 1st 2022. 

The former Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group (OCCG) carried out a comprehensive 
procurement process for the service, which was informed by patient experience, feedback and input 
from the Pain Management, Orthopaedics and Rheumatology services at Oxford University Hospitals 
(OUH), Oxfordshire GPs and others. 

The Oxfordshire Community MSK service, receives between 5,000 – 6,000 referrals per month and 
the quality of service provision is paramount, not only to the patients it serves, but also to the whole 
MSK care system locally. 

THE MOBILISATION 

Upon award of the contract Connect spent 6 months working with NHS Buckinghamshire, 

Oxfordshire & Berkshire West Integrated Care Board, the incumbent provider; Healthshare and 

other providers/stakeholders within the locality to mobilise the new service model and transfer the 

care of 18,942 patients. These patients were separated into 3 categories: 

Backlog – These were patients who had been referred to the Healthshare service but were yet to 

have an initial appointment. There were 5,414 backlog patients (1498 were accepted prior to go live 

date).  

Transition – These were patients that were in an active treatment pathway with Healthshare – There 

were 6008 transition patients.  

PIFU – these were patients that had been seen in the Healthshare service and were on a list to re-

engage with the service if they required within a 6-month window. These patients had no follow up 

appointments booked and would only be seen in the service if they made contact for a review. There 

were 7523 patients who were on a PIFU pathway.  

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



2 
 

As of 24th January 2023 100% of all backlog patients have started their treatment in the new service. 

92% of the transition patients have been seen within the service. The majority of the remaining 8% 

of patients are awaiting an injection appointment. We have super injection clinics being mobilised 

from February onwards to support.  

The clinical model being mobilised was different to that of the existing model including a higher 

proportion of face to face clinical activity. Clinicians that have TUPE’d over from the previous 

provider and new starters have been through an extensive induction period to ensure that clinical 

pathways, clinical ethos and guidelines are all clear and to identify training needs.  

As recommended by the Health Scrutiny Committee in 2019, there is a dedicated specialist 

mobilisation teams from both Connect Health and NHS Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire & Berkshire 

West Integrated Care Board, this includes a Senior Commissioning Manager whose role was to 

manage the transition. Both teams remain in situ at 3 months post go live and meet on a weekly 

basis to identify and resolve any issues.  

CHALLENGES 

NHS Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire & Berkshire West Integrated Care Board and Connect Health 

have been working together to reflect on challenges and lessons learnt during the mobilisation to 

ensure that not only does learning facilitate immediate change but also so that we can share that 

learning with our colleagues when considering future mobilisations.  

Table 1. Challenges during pre and 3 months post mobilisation 

Challenge Actions Taken Outcomes 

TUPE list 

The outgoing provider 
(Healthshare) shared the final 
TUPE list including working 
days, working patterns and 
working location of the 
clinicians just 10 days before 
the service was due to go live. 
Connect’s clinical model 
identified that the service 
needed 50FTE and the final 
TUPE list contained 20FTE. 
From the final TUPE list there 
were no clinicians that were 
based/worked in the South of 
the County.  

 

Actions taken: 

 Connect recruited 
18FTE before go live 

 Connect have 
recruited a further 
10FTE post go live 

 Connect’s recruitment 
strategy changed and 
roles were advertised 
for South based 
clinicians only. 4FTE 
have now started 
delivering face to face 
clinics in the South and 
a further 2FTE are due 
to start in coming 
months.  

 Whilst Connect were 
recruiting, inducting 
and training new 
colleagues, locums 
were recruited to 
support timely 

38FTE started on the service 
go live, a further 10 FTE have 
started since taking the service 
to within 10% of full FTE. 
Recruitment continues with 
good uptake.  

 

Page 10



3 
 

management of 
patients on the 
backlog list.  

 

Prioritisation: 

It was identified that a small 
number of patients were 
placed on the wrong transfer 
lists or prioritisation lists by 
the outgoing provider.  

 

Connect clinicians completed a 
manual review of urgent lists 
to ensure that patients were 
booked with the right clinician 
first time.  

 

Connect were unable to 
manually review all transferred 
patients due to the volumes, 
but all patients that were on 
an urgent list have been 
reviewed 

Data Transfer 

For about 30% of patients that 
were transferred, there was a 
block in place which 
prevented data sharing. The 
record stated that the patient 
had dissented to sharing 
records outside of the GP 
organisation.  

 

Connect identified data 
sharing issue early on to NHS 
Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire 
& Berkshire West Integrated 
Care Board  

Connect IM&T team worked 
extensively with Healthshare 
IM&T to identify the issue-
Healthshare advised it was 
down to record sharing at GP 
level.  

Connect held a meeting with 
NHS Buckinghamshire, 
Oxfordshire & Berkshire West 
Integrated Care Board and GP 
representatives to 
troubleshoot. There were live 
testing sessions with GP 
practice managers and GPs to 
amend settings on patient 
notes to establish if this was 
the case.  

When this strategy failed to 
resolve the issue, Connect 
went back to Healthshare 
IM&T and identified a way to 
override the block so that 
Connect could see the 
information.  

There is a panel review 
meeting planned, with 
representatives from 
Healthshare, Connect health 
and NHS Buckinghamshire, 
Oxfordshire & Berkshire West 
Integrated Care Board with the 
aim of understanding how this 

Data sharing and visibility of 
historic notes is now available 
for all patients transferred 
from Healthshare to Connect.  

 

Page 11



4 
 

happened, to prevent this 
issue from arising again in the 
future.  

As an interim measure, 
Connect offered patients who 
were affected the option of 
having a telephone 
consultation immediately to 
discuss symptoms/care to date 
and to escalate care 
appropriately or advise that 
they could wait until issue 
resolved and that records 
were visible to the clinician.  

 

Red flag pathway changes, 
whole spine MRI changes.  

The standard process for any 
patient referred into the 
previous service, who had a 
history of cancer would 
automatically be sent for a 
whole spine MRI. The service 
did not have direct access to 
the 2 week wait pathway and 
if cancer was detected they 
would then have to refer back 
to the GP to instigate the 2 
week wait pathway, causing a 
delay 

 

The NHS Buckinghamshire, 
Oxfordshire & Berkshire West 
Integrated Care Board, 
Connect and primary care 
clinicians worked 
collaboratively to revise the 
pathway for patients 
presenting with MSK 
disorders, who have a history 
of cancer. Having a history of 
cancer is a risk factor for 
future cancer or possible 
metastasises. As a result, a 
careful medical evaluation is 
required to determine the risk 
of this possibility. 

 

Connect have successfully 
received referrals for patients 
who have obtained their scan 
through primary care and 
where cancer has been 
excluded before onward 
referral for MSK management. 
GPs can now stipulate on MSK 
referral that they have 
completed their evaluation 
and believe the risk is low in 
order to facilitate safe referral 
to the MSK service 

Injecting Clinicians 

It was identified early in the 
mobilisation that there were 
only 2 part time injecting 
clinicians in tier 2 but there 
was a significant backlog of 
patients awaiting an injection.  

 

Connect recruited a Sports and 
Exercise Medicine Consultant 
for complex 
injections/procedures. 
Connect recruited injecting 
locums to conduct injection 
clinics.  

The Connect Clinical Lead put 
together plan for clearing 
injection backlog with 
additional injection clinics 
using locums and internal 
staff.  

Clinical Lead Identified any 
foot and ankle injections that 
could be seen by podiatrist 

Injection clinics are running, 
and we are utilising colleagues 
from within the organisation 
to run additional injection 
clinics to work through all of 
the patients. The injection 
training and supervision of 
colleagues to enable 
competency sign off takes 
time and during this phase 
colleagues from within the 
organisation will support by 
providing injection clinic cover.  

Page 12



5 
 

and /or Advanced Practice 
Physicians.  

Connect supported 
development of clinicians onto 
injection training for internal 
staff to ensure sufficient 
capacity going forwards.  

 

Post Op/Priority Appointments 

Post op/priority patients were 
not consistently being offered 
the embargoed slots available 
for these patients.  

 

Operations Manager discussed 
with the clinical and Patient 
care co-ordination team at a 
team meetings and 
communications sent out via 
email. Further comms have 
been given via email and also 
ensuring all new starters and 
locums are trained extensively 
on this during induction.  

Triaging clinicians to put clear 
and specific instructions to 
patient care coordination staff 
on what type of appointment 
to book for post op patients  

 

Embargo slots are being used 
and priority/post op patients 
are being seen within clinically 
appropriate timeframes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 13



6 
 

CURRENT SERVICE DELI VERY AND PERFORMANCE 

 

CLINICAL MODEL AND REFERRAL 

PATHWAYS 
Fig 1. Clinical model and referral pathway 

 

Patients can self refer into the service online via our website or via telephone. They can only self 

refer to tier 1. Under the community tier 1 MSK pathway, digital first and virtual consultations 

include; Physionow. Physionow anywhere the digital triage tool and physioline a clinician led 

telephone assessment. This part of the pathway will support assessment of symptoms to ensure  that 

patients are seen by the right person first time. Connect have created a referral guide and referral 

decision tool to support primary, community and secondary care clinicians to have shared decision 

making conversations with patients.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 14



7 
 

 

Fig 2. Referral decision tool for primary care and secondary care colleagues.  

 

 

 

PERFORMANCE 

The service has been live for 3 months and Connect have been working very closely with NHS 

Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire & Berkshire West Integrated Care Board team to ensure that the data 

quality and architecture of the outcomes and performance reports are accurate and reflective.  

ACCESS 
The below graph (fig.3) shows wait times for all attended appointments including all appointment 

types,  with the mean being 2.5 weeks and median being 1.6. The start time is referral registration 

date and the stop time is appointment attended. Therefore, this data set includes patients that did 

not attend or cancelled any appointments and patients who didn’t respond to attempts to contact 

them via the phone or letter (could have delayed their appointment by >2 weeks from referral to 

them returning our call). Considering the challenges with TUPE lists, injecting clinicians and 

additional blocked time in diaries to support new ways of working, the service access and 

performance is good.  

 

 

 

 

Page 15



8 
 

 

Fig 3. Waiting times from registration to attended appointments for all appointments Oct – Dec 2022 

 

 

Access and wait times for tier 1 

The next available appointment as of 25th January for Tier 1 is 2 working days for physioline and face 

to face physiotherapy.  

You can see from the graph below (fig.4) that the mean time from registration to appointment 

attended for tier 1 appointments between October and December 2022 was 2 weeks.  

 

 

 

Page 16



9 
 

Fig.4 Waiting times from registration to attended appointment for tier 1 – Oct -Dec 2022 

 

Access and wait times for tier 2 

Tier 2 next available appointment as of 25th January is in 5 working days for face to face and 3 

working days for virtual.  

The graph below (fig 5) shows that average time from registration to appointment between October 

to December was 4.6 weeks for tier 2.  

Fig 5. Waiting times from registration to appointment attended for tier 2 services between Oct – Dec 

2022.  

 

Page 17



10 
 

OUTCOMES 
The service performance is aligned to an outcomes framework including measures that are 

categorised as below (table 2) and can be summarised as; patient reported outcome measures, 

patient experience, personalised care and access. These are reported on monthly. 

Table 2. Outcomes Framework categories 

Outcome 1 MSK-HQ mean score shift (over 5.5 signifies a clinically significant change) 

    

Outcome 2 

Completion rates of MSKHQ will be sufficient to be assured of outcomes for 
patients: 
a) Baseline 
b) Discharge MSKHQ score 

    

Outcome 2 People have a good experience of their care 

    

Outcome 2 People are asked about their experience of the service 

    

    

Outcome 3 People are involved in decisions about their care 

    

    

Outcome 4 People are aware of opportunities to improve their health (MECC) 

    

    

Outcome 5  People receive the right care without delay 

    

Outcome 5  People receive timely referrals to secondary care where required.  

 

PATIENT FEEDBACK AND EXPERIENCE 
Patients have the ability to register complaints/compliments and general feedback via our website, 

in writing or via the telephone.  

We collect Friends and Family Test patient experience data via: 

 A URL link sent with first appointment reminder text message 

Page 18



11 
 

 A reply text message on discharge  

 A IVR voice messaging to landlines on discharge  

 Postcards in clinic 

There were some bugs in the initial digital set of this data collection and a fix has been implemented 

so that data will be collected and reported on monthly from 1st February.  

In addition to this there are working groups underway to set up an MSK Patient and Public 

Engagement Group.  

During the first 3 months patients gave 43 pieces of feedback (9 Oct, 22 Nov, 15 Dec).  

5 x Formal Complaints 

25 x Informal Complaints 

13 x feedback from healthcare professionals 

In this same time period there have been 24 positive patient feedback comments received. This has 

been via the telephone or online feedback form.  A file of positive comments received is embedded 

Patient Comments - 

compliments.xlsx   

Patient compliment from December 2022: 

“The doctor after examining me told me two things that could be causing my pain in my legs, she said I needed 

an MRA scan on my spine as soon as possible. I was to contact my GP straight away. He sent me to A&E at the  

John Radcliffe that day 6 December. I was kept in and had a spinal operation on the 9 December. If I had not had 

the scan and the operation my spinal cord would have been severed within days. Please thank your lady doctor 

for me, l will be grateful to her for the rest of my life.” 

A full thematic analysis is being completed for the first quarter of the service, however, the 

overarching themes are: 

Themes Actions carried out 

Clinic availability in the South Recruitment strategy to recruit to the South 
specifically and 5 estates mobilised in the 
South. Working on skill mix in the South but 
clinic capacity is coming in line with demand. 
There are new starters due to start clinics in the 
next few months who will be based in the 
South. Due to the time to recruit clinicians in 
this area the original capacity in south did not 
meet demand and therefore the wait time to 
appointment increased. We are working on a 
plan to put on additional clinics to address that 
within the clinic space that we have available.  

Last minute cancellations due to clinician 
sickness 

Clinicians were made aware of the sickness line 
and process for sickness reporting to ensure 

Page 19



12 
 

that there is no delay when contacting patients 
to rearrange during unforeseen circumstances.  

Data transfer Actions outlined in challenges section 

Waiting times for injections Actions outlined in challenges section 

Healthcare professional feedback Largely linked to patient pathways from pre-
Connect contract.  

Other theme was the use of dummy 
appointments on the NHS e-Referral Service (e-
RS) Connect are putting together a working 
group to see if the national use of eRS can 
change to direct booking. Communication will 
be shared with primary care colleagues on the 
outcome of this initial scoping work.  

 

SERVICE DEMAND 

In addition to backlog and transition the service has received 15174 referrals from go live to the end 

of December, with an average of 5,058 per month. This would equate to an annual trajectory of 

60,696 and is equal to 8% of the Oxfordshire Population (JSNA 2022). 8% population access per 

annum is what is expected of an integrated MSK service.  

Table 3. Total Referrals into the service 

 

 

Fig 6. Referrals into the service as a trend graph 

 

 

 

ACCESSIBILITY  

Page 20



13 
 

As of January 2023, the service operates from 10 sites across the County delivering 161 face to face 

clinic days per week. Full estates and Referral demand distribution review will commence at month 

6 of the service (March 2023). This review will include: 

 analysing estates suitability based on stakeholder feedback 

 Reviewing patient postcodes distribution –split by service line 

 Reviewing estates clinical capacity across the region and correlating with the referral 

demand 

 Reviewing skill mix of clinicians across the County  

 Reviewing diary planning and recruitment strategies as part of actions linked to the findings 

from the above.  

Additional estates for Gym Rehab and Pain Management Programmes are being scoped to be 

mobilised within the next 3-6 months.  

CURRENT SITES

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fig 7. Map of clinic locations across the County 

Page 21



14 
 

 

For this report, we completed a random sample analysis (N=50) of referral postcodes to understand 

the overall distribution of demand across the County. As outlined above, a full estates/demand 

review will be more in depth and include this split by service lines. Connect will lead on this review 

and share their findings and any associated actions with the commissioners as part of their 

contractual meetings. The analysis shows that there is close alignment between referral and capacity 

distribution. We have plans to onboard more clinicians in the next few months and the location of 

those clinicians will aim to close the gap which is shown in table 4, for example Increasing clinics 

scheduled in Wallingford to improve room utilisation and align capacity and demand.  

 

 

Table 4. Clinic Capacity split by clinic/region against referral sample review (December 2022).  

Page 22



15 
 

Region Clinic 

Number 
of rooms 
available 
(full  day) 

per week 

Number 
of full  day 
Clinic 
diaries 
scheduled 

per week 

Util isation 
of clinic 

room 

Clinic 
locations 
split by 
regional 

distribution 

Referrals by 
Post Code 
split by 
regional 

distribution 

South Wantage 3 2 67% 

22% 26% 

  Marcham Road 10 6 60% 

  Didcot 1 1 100% 

  Wallingford 25 8 32% 

  Henley on Thames 25 19 76% 

Central Oxford East Oxford 65 56 86% 35% 25% 

Central West Deer Park 25 24 96% 15% 10% 

West Chipping Norton 6 6 100% 4% 6% 

North Banbury 15 15 100% 
24% 33% 

  Bicester 25 24 96% 

   Total 200 161 81%  100% 100%  

 

Fig 8. This map shows the total clinical days split by percentage across the County. It also shows how 

our total referrals are split regionally across the County as a percentage. (Data from December 

2022).  

 

 

Page 23



16 
 

The majority of the clinical pathway is delivered via a face to face model. Patients are given choice of 

appointment modality at the point of booking with the exception of physioline; the rapid access first 

appointment for suitable tier 1 physiotherapy referrals. 

Excluding physioline 88% of appointments attended between October and December 2022 have 

been face to face (62% including physioline). 11% were video and just 1% of non physioline 

appointments were via the telephone (28% of all appointments via telephone including physioline). 

We review this data to correlate with patient outcomes, experience and improvement in quality of 

life measures.  

 

INTEGRATION   

 

Prior to go live the Connect team have been building relationships across the system. This included 

understanding commissioned pathways and developing streamlined and safe bi -directional referral 

pathways as well as strong clinical communication to support streamlined care and good outcomes 

for patients. Some examples are listed below: 

PRIMARY CARE 
Partnered with the GP Federation Principal Medical Ltd (PML)and jointly designed pathways 

 

Attended Primary Care Network meetings to engage about the service clinical model and 
referral pathways  

 

 

SECONDARY CARE 
Monthly multi-disciplinary meeting set up with Optimise Pain team  

Lumps and bumps pathway agreed between Connect, NHS Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire & 
Berkshire West Integrated Care Board, OUH and Primary care  

Clinician on secondment from Oxford Health with conversations to include senior clinician 
rotations into the service. There are also conversations about the service supporting podiatry 
apprenticeships 

 

ICE – Collaborative working with OUH, including pilot of diagnostic requesting/reporting 
process. This pilot was successful and now all diagnostic requests/reports will be sent/received 
via ICE from February 2023.   

 

Page 24



17 
 

Connect are working in partnership with Cherwell Hospital 

 

Connect have been invited to contribute to the Thames Valley Spinal Network 

 

Connect met with Paediatrics to discuss pathways and collaborative working  

 

 

COMMUNITY TEAMS 
Pelvic Health Community team - plans to share training, regular meetings to ensure best 
treatment pathways for patients 

 

Community Falls service: collaborating on plans for reciprocal learning regarding MSK and falls 
across both services 

 

 

Delivering the best outcomes and value across systems is dependent upon replacing siloed views of 

performance and demand by individual service lines with a whole-pathway approach that identifies 

and acts on opportunities for system-wide quality improvement. Connect and NHS Buckinghamshire, 

Oxfordshire & Berkshire West Integrated Care Board launch the first MSK Stakeholder Board 

meeting on February 14th.  

Board membership includes representation from Primary Care, the MSK MATT service, secondary 

care (T&O, Rheumatology, Pain and Paediatrics) and commissioning and will meet quarterly to 

problem-solve individual and shared performance issues and collaborate on quality improvement 

across the pathway. 

PREVENTION  

Connect Health have an Oxfordshire MSK MATT service webpage which directs patients to clinical 

expert created patient resources and waiting well support.   

https://www.connecthealth.co.uk/resources/ 

https://www.connecthealth.co.uk/waiting-well/ 

 

 

 

Fig 9. Patient resource page of the website.  

Page 25

https://www.connecthealth.co.uk/resources/
https://www.connecthealth.co.uk/waiting-well/


18 
 

 

Fig 10. Waiting well page of the website 

 

 

Page 26



19 
 

WHAT’S NEXT?  

 

Gym rehab Mobilising gyms (ideally local authority) to treat patients 
within a wellbeing environment and to activate patients to 
continue with physical activity as part of their exit strategy 
from the service. It has been shown that this model can result 
in >25% of patients who receive care in the gym joining as 
members and becoming more physically active post 
discharge.  

FCP Connect are providing 1 WTE FCP to 1 PCN and recruiting for 
second. There are conversations with other PCN’s about 
providing FCPs.  

Pain Management Programmes Work is underway to scope premises that are suitable for 
group pain management programmes. Pain management 
programmes are currently being delivered on a 121 basis. 
Groups are not only more efficient but provide better 
outcomes and peer support for patients.   

Estates review Full estates and Referral demand distribution review will 
commence at month 6 of the service (March 2023). This 
review will include: 

 analysing estates suitability based on stakeholder 
feedback 

 Reviewing patient postcodes distribution –split by 
service line 

 Reviewing estates clinical capacity across the region 
and correlating with the referral demand 

 Reviewing skill mix of clinicians across the County  

 Reviewing diary planning and recruitment strategies 
as part of actions linked to the findings from the 
above.  

 

Patient and public engagement group  Connect are working with NHS Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire & 
Berkshire West Integrated Care Board to set up a Patient and 

public engagement group. The purpose of this board is to facil itate 
wider stakeholder engagement (patient and VCFS groups). Standing 

agenda items are l ikely to be service performance updates and 
stakeholder feedback but we also intend to use the group as a 
platform for initiating co-creation of service improvements and 
innovations.  

 

Shared Records The next phase of integration with primary care is to work on 
the integration of clinical systems and shared care records.  

 

 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

 

The Connect Health Primary Care Guide to 

Musculoskeletal Referrals 
Tips for improving patient experience and outcomes 

 
 

 

 

Refer suspected serious underlying pathology such as 

cauda equina syndrome, fractures, unstable joints, 

progressive neurology, cancer and infection to secondary 

care on-call teams, A&E, UCC and fracture clinics 

Emergencies 

Hospital 

Months 

Face-to-face 

Weeks 

First 

Contact Physio 

Days 

Virtual 
consultation 

Days 

Online 

advice/chatbot 

Minutes 

Multiple options for your patients – Supporting self-management 

Right therapist, Right time 

What treatments previously? 

How much improvement? 

How long improvement lasted? 

3 Qs 
 
 

General physiotherapy 

– High capacity 

Specialist orthopaedic MATT, 

pain, podiatry, paediatric MSK 

and rheumatology 

Which stream? 

Remember 

Check previous discharge letters 

Treat underlying depression 

Enclose hospital letters and results 

Page 29



 

  

Table 1: Which stream? 

Connect Health offers one or more of the following: 

Online advice 

• Guide patients to online resources to support self-management as exacerbations of many 
musculoskeletal conditions improve with time, and even where treatment is needed, recovery will be 
quicker if people have started basic exercises 

https://www.nhs.uk/  
https://www.versusarthritis.org/get-help/  
https://www.connecthealth.co.uk/resources/  

• Connect Health online ‘chatbot’:  https://www.connecthealth.co.uk/physionow/  

General tier 1 MSK (including physiotherapy) 

• Most patients referred to this stream will be offered initial virtual consultation by telephone or video 
call unless this is not appropriate (please indicate this in referral) 

• High-capacity service offering fast and flexible patient access 

• Generic clinics for any new, uncomplicated musculoskeletal condition of recent onset, especially first 
episodes of back and neck pain 

• Selecting this option means that delays waiting for electronic triage are avoided  

• Physiotherapist can request an opinion in a specialist stream, if indicated  

Community Musculoskeletal Specialist (Interface) Clinics 

MATT – Orthopaedics, 
MSK Podiatry 

• All patients referred to this stream will be electronically triaged by an 
advanced clinician and directed to the most appropriate stream 

• Patients that have lacked persistent benefit following general physiotherapy, 
have significant functional impairment or suspected significant nerve root 
involvement 

• Consideration of appropriate investigations (including MRI, ultrasound) or 
injection therapy 

• Assessment for surgical opinion, ensuring appropriate non-surgical 
management has been trialled, including a shared decision-making 
discussion, and onward referrals meeting local criteria and thresholds 

Pain • Chronic primary pain (fibromyalgia, chronic widespread pain) and chronic 
secondary pain (e.g. mechanical low back pain) where the patient is willing 
to consider a combined physical and psychological approach to managing 
pain, particularly where other treatments have not been effective 

• Psychologically-informed multidisciplinary team pain therapies, assessment 
for combined physical and psychological pain management programmes  

• Medicines optimisation, where the patient is willing and ready to reduce 
medication (drugs only work for a small minority of people with  
chronic pain) 

Rheumatology 
(Triage) 

• Suspected inflammatory joint disease or axial/peripheral 
spondyloarthropathy 

• Investigation of widespread pain where systemic causes have not been 
excluded 

• Nb: there are no community rheumatology clinics in Oxon 

Other • Pelvic Health 

Page 30

https://www.nhs.uk/
https://www.versusarthritis.org/get-help/
https://www.connecthealth.co.uk/resources/
https://www.connecthealth.co.uk/physionow/


 

  

 
 

 

Table 2: Right therapist, Right time 

Rapid access to a virtual consultation by telephone or video call, or to a physiotherapist based in primary 
care leads to early assessment and treatment, and improved outcomes  

Virtual consultations 

• Improved recovery times as early advice for symptom relief reduces the likelihood of chronicity  

• Supports self-management and self-efficacy 

• Provides convenient and timely access to advice and treatment 

• Reduces GP appointments for new musculoskeletal conditions 

• 20% of people offered virtual consultation telephone advice need no further treatment 

Table 3: 3 Qs 

Ask the following three questions to guide shared decision-making 

Supporting shared decision-making 

1. What treatments have you had for this condition before? 

2. How much improvement did you have with the treatments? 

3. How long did the improvements last? 

Table 4: Which stream – Remember… 

Suggestions to improve the ability to triage referrals, choose the most appropriate stream and 
improve outcomes for musculoskeletal health 

Improving patient experience and outcomes 

• Seek and treat any co-morbid mental health problems, including depression 

• Check previous clinic and discharge letters as they may give suggestions for further management, the 
conditions for re-referral and the most appropriate service 

• Consider if any previous treatments have had a significant meaningful clinical benefit on pain or 
function, lasting well beyond the end of the treatment. As a guide, for non-invasive treatments, this 
means at least a 30% improvement in pain or function, lasting at least 3–6 months beyond the end of 
treatment. A greater and more sustained improvement would be needed for invasive treatments in 
view of their higher clinical risks and costs 

• Adequate information should be provided on referral forms to ensure patients have been offered 
appropriate advice to support self-management before referral, and to support triage 

• Manage patient expectation – explain that you are referring for a clinical opinion, and the person may 
not need imaging, injections or surgery (NICE 2016) 

• Include copies of hospital letters and results where the GP clinical system is not linked to SystmOne 
at Connect Health 

Page 31



 

https://www.connecthealth.co.uk/  05.02.2020 

 

 

Table 5: Emergencies and Exclusions 

Emergency referrals 

Refer urgently to secondary care if there is a reasonable clinical suspicion of serious underlying 
pathology. Community clinics are not commissioned to investigate cauda equina syndrome and other 
severe and rapidly progressive neurological disease, metastatic disease, serious trauma, structural 
deformities, or infection 

• Cauda equina syndrome: 
Emergency same-day referral to local hospital orthopaedics (or neurosurgery if available) via A+E. 
Local hospital will transfer to regional neurosurgery unit as appropriate  

• Acute and frank neurological deficit e.g. foot drop,  
Same day referral to local hospital orthopaedics (or neurosurgery if available) via A+E. 

• Suspected or confirmed serious underlying pathology e.g. fracture, cancer, infection including 
septic arthritis, inflammatory disease including temporal (giant cell) arteritis, severe soft tissue trauma 
with critical joint instability: 
Referral to on-call team, fracture clinic, urgent care centre or accident and emergency, depending on 
local arrangements 

Other referrals to community clinics 

There are several other community services, that may be better suited to managing the 
requirements for your patient. In such case, please refer to other local providers. The following 
services are not commissioned from Connect Health and should be referred according to local 
pathways 

• Children requiring therapy for neurological or developmental or other medical diagnosis - 
Make a referral - Children’s Integrated Therapies Children’s Integrated Therapies 
(oxfordhealth.nhs.uk) 

• Children’s Bladder and Bowel (Ages 2-18) 
https://www.oxfordhealth.nhs.uk/service_description/childrens-continence-advisory-service/  

• Diabetic footcare https://www.oxfordhealth.nhs.uk/podiatry/treatment/  

• Housebound patients requiring domiciliary therapy – (If relating to a new illness or injury) 
Community therapies service (CTS)   

• Neuro rehab for long term conditions -
https://www.oxfordhealth.nhs.uk/service_description/physiotherapy-neurophysio/  

• Multidisciplinary falls assessment/ Older persons mobility services 

• Social prescribing link worker  
 

Useful information 

• Referrer advice (not for patients)  Generic e-mail: oxfordshire.msk@nhs.net  
 

• Tel: 01865 634336 

• If you need non-urgent clinical advice about a specific patient not under our care, please use 
e-Referral Service (eRS) ‘Advice and Guidance’ option 

Page 32

http://www.connecthealth.eo.uk/
https://www.oxfordhealth.nhs.uk/cit/support/refer/
https://www.oxfordhealth.nhs.uk/cit/support/refer/
https://www.oxfordhealth.nhs.uk/service_description/childrens-continence-advisory-service/
https://www.oxfordhealth.nhs.uk/podiatry/treatment/
https://www.oxfordhealth.nhs.uk/service_description/cts/
https://www.oxfordhealth.nhs.uk/service_description/physiotherapy-neurophysio/
mailto:oxfordshire.msk@nhs.net


Patient Comments
pt stated that the physio made her laugh, was very engaging, listened to all of her symptoms and was extremely thorough Pt used the term "awe-inspiring" to 
describe physio Was very eager to put in positive feedback and grateful for great service

pt wanted to express how happy she was with the physioline call she received. The clinician was incredibly understanding and very knowledgeable about the subject. 
She feels less anxious now than she did before the call and the clinician has gone a long way to reassure her and make her feel heard.
Patient requested that we pass on their gratitude and personal thanks to Katie following the way the appointment was conducted which was when they were at a 
really low point and also that the compliments and praise provided by them were recorded for the above and beyond level of service that was offered and received 
during the appointment.
Excellent help.and thorough examination and he listened to what I was saying 
My daughter had a podiatry appointment. The health worker we saw was not only friendly, approachable but put my daughter at ease.Very happy with the service 
we received. Thank you 
The staff member was Very polite and very helpful,
Good cleal phone call
Hello. Can I say it was a pleasure and very reassuring to meet a member of your staff today.  I'm sorry I didn't get a name but I wanted to commend the gentleman on 
the fact that FINALLY somebody made an effort.  Very impressed. 
No rush,  Very thorough questions, Hopeful for effective assistance.
The physio was very helpful and gave me good advice
Very friendly and helpful 
Prompt service; clear explanations of the problem and of the treatment.
Very friendly and helpful 
Very friendly but professional attitude. 
Really pleased
Easy access for my self. 
I felt the dr listened to me and hopefully will get me some answers. 
Once again exemplary service. Care and attention VERY refreshing to get this level of service from the NHS these days.  
Exemplary service and care and attention. Impressive 
The doctor after examining me told me two things that could be causing my pain in my legs, she said I needed an MRA scan on my spine as soon as possible. I was to 
contact my GP straight away. He sent me to A&E at the John Radcliffe that day 6 December. I was kept in and had a spinal operation on the 9 December. If I had not 
had the scan and the operation my spinal cord would have been severed within days. Please thank your lady doctor for me, l will be grateful to her for the the rest of 
my life.

The physiotherapist was very kind and helpful and asked me lots of questions about my pain and symptoms and covered the two main conditions that l was very 
worried about and l felt that she understood well my problems . I am very grateful for her help and the outcome of the appointment. 
Very efficient and thorough.
The physio Madeleine was very helpful in explaining things

Poppy was very helpful and gave clear instructions and the exercises were doable She had a good sense of humour I was quite nervous but she calmed me down 

P
age 33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Oxfordshire Integrated Improvement Programme 

 
 

Improving care for people who need inpatient 
rehabilitation or intensive community support 
 

A progress report for the Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) 
 

January 2023 
 

  

Page 35

Agenda Item 6



 

Contents 

 

Executive summary ............................................................................................................................................. 3 

Introduction ......................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Strategic alignment ......................................................................................................................................... 5 

Previous work (including the OX12 project) .................................................................................................... 6 

Local Context ....................................................................................................................................................... 7 

The needs of local people (Oxfordshire JSNA 2022) ....................................................................................... 7 

Current community services ........................................................................................................................... 9 

The case for modernising our bed-based model ............................................................................................... 14 

Patient admission locations for Community Hospitals ................................................................................. 14 

People are having to wait a long time for care ............................................................................................. 14 

Increased complexity of care needs .............................................................................................................. 14 

Workforce recruitment and retention .......................................................................................................... 15 

Financial sustainability of services ................................................................................................................ 15 

Limitations to the community hospital estate .............................................................................................. 16 

Move to 24-hour working .............................................................................................................................. 16 

Opportunities for change .................................................................................................................................. 16 

Urgent and emergency care – acute Virtual wards and Same Day Emergency Care units (SDECs) .............. 16 

Proposed clinical care model for Community Hospital inpatient rehabilitation ........................................... 17 

Home first ...................................................................................................................................................... 21 

John Bolton principles ................................................................................................................................... 22 

Digital opportunities ...................................................................................................................................... 23 

Third sector collaborative working ................................................................................................................ 23 

Dependencies .................................................................................................................................................... 23 

Optimal service location modelling ............................................................................................................... 23 

Outpatients .................................................................................................................................................... 23 

Urgent care service changes.......................................................................................................................... 24 

Next steps .......................................................................................................................................................... 24 

Appendices ............................................................................................................ Error! Bookmark not defined. 

 

  

Page 36



 

Executive summary  
This paper sets out the system partnership work completed to date to develop the case for change for the 

redesign of community inpatient and intensive community support services across Oxfordshire. It builds on 

previous public and stakeholder engagement work and data analysis to understand and clarify the changes 

needed to address these elements of care, as part of the integrated improvement programme for 

community services across Oxfordshire. 

The Oxfordshire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and recent census shows that the population of 

Oxfordshire is growing, ageing and, on average, living with more complex care needs. Historically, 

rehabilitation services for people with frailty have been based on people receiving care within inpatient 

settings. In recent years, however, development of new Urgent Community Response (UCR), 7-day 

community reablement and patient discharge and flow teams has shown, evidenced through performance 

data and service user feedback, what more we can do more to care for people successfully at home.  

Our review illustrates that these services are not sustainable as currently configured due to: 

o Insufficient capacity to meet need – many patients experience significant delays in their 

discharge from acute hospital 

o People increasingly have multiple care needs which mean staffing ratios have increased, leading 

to recruitment and financial sustainability challenges for services 

o Patients and carers report that care is not joined-up and services need to be better integrated 

and coordinated, to improve people’s experience of care 

o Workforce pressures are leading to inconsistent service provision and variability 

o Lack of capital investment in community estate over many years is now limiting service efficiency 

and facilities no longer meet the needs of patients and staff 

o The need to move to a 7-day working to maintain system capacity and flow has required changes 

to staff working patterns, in order to provide safe and reliable services 24-hours-a-day, 365-

days-a-year. 

In recent years there has been a significant shift in health and care service development, recognising the 

importance of providing more care at home. There is a strong consensus among health and care 

professionals that to avoid a deterioration in mobility and loss of independence, most older and frail patients 

should be enabled to return home promptly when they no longer require hospital care and have achieved 

their inpatient rehabilitation goals, rather than remaining in a hospital bed. This is supported by an extensive 

evidence base showing that early supported discharge and reablement is better for long-term patient 

outcomes and health system performance (e.g. Prof John Bolton’s work on discharge pathways1, NHS Home 

First policy2).  

In recognition of the benefits of providing more community-based care, there has been a national and local 

move toward the development of ‘care closer to home’ services. In Oxfordshire, this incorporates a range of 

new approaches developed and piloted by the health and care system partners, including ‘virtual wards’3, 

transfer of care hubs, enhanced hospital-at-home and urgent community response teams.  

 
1 Developing a capacity and demand model for out of hospital care | Local Government Association 
2 NHS England » Principle 5: Encourage a supported ‘Home First’ approach 
3 A virtual ward provides support in the community to people with more complex medical and social needs. It enables 
the delivery of care and organisational approaches of a physical hospital ward to be delivered to a group of patients in 
their own homes, by a visiting team of expert staff. For more information, see: https://www.england.nhs.uk/virtual-
wards 

Page 37

https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/developing-capacity-and-demand-model-out-hospital-care
https://www.england.nhs.uk/urgent-emergency-care/reducing-length-of-stay/reducing-long-term-stays/home-first/


 

The acute virtual wards catering for people who require urgent care that previously had to be provided in 

hospital will be supported by same-day diagnostics and expert clinical assessment. In future, this will be 

provided through a number of Same Day Emergency Care units (also known as SDECs) which work closely 

with visiting Hospital-at-Home teams. All of these innovative services are explained in detail later in this 

document. 

Complementary to these developments, a clinical and operational review of community hospital inpatient 

pathways was undertaken by the system partners; this commenced in late 2021 with a set of system 

workshops led by Oxfordshire CCG (the workshop reports are included in Appendix 4). The aim of this work 

was to develop a vision for the optimal service model based on the latest evidence and specialist expertise, 

that will enable patients to maximise their independence and improve quality of life. These expert groups 

recommended that community inpatient care should be focused on delivering clearly defined outcomes 

through more specialised, goal-focused pathways where staff skills and training, care interventions and the 

therapeutic environment are optimised to meet the needs of the cohort of patients they support.  

This work also identified opportunities to deliver care differently in our community hospitals, where this 

provides additional benefits to patients. Specific examples include developing community hospitals to 

support more outpatient and therapy services (such as the services being piloted at Wantage Community 

Hospital), co-location of Children and Family services and development of health and wellbeing hubs to host 

the voluntary and community sector and provide local access to digital services. 

In addition to improving the use of community hospital buildings, there are increasing opportunities to use 

digital technology to better understand and support patients at home, for example increased monitoring 

equipment within the community. At a time when health and care services are under unprecedented levels 

of pressure, it is essential to align services to reduce any potential duplication. This includes consideration of 

how we can work better with the third sector and ensure services are aligned with whole population needs.  

To move this work forward it is now proposed that the following steps should be taken:  

• Finalise the case for change and confirm organisational support from system partners and stakeholders 

• Work with stakeholders to develop options and plans to operationalise the integrated community-based 

care model to provide both virtual ward care, community hospital inpatient care and same day 

assessment, incorporating public feedback 

• Complete an options appraisal with stakeholders and agree recommendations for implementation of the 

improved model for community hospital inpatient care 

• Work with local stakeholders to apply the above work to local areas and sites, including making a formal 

decision on the future of Wantage Community Hospital inpatient unit. 

 

  

Page 38



 

Introduction 

Strategic alignment 
This paper provides an update on the progress made in developing the case for change for inpatient and 

intensive community support services within Oxfordshire. This covers the intensive community care and 

patient flow & recovery elements of the integrated improvement programme (see appendix 1 for full 

programme structure): 

 

Programme Project Project Objective 

Intensive 
Community Care 

Intensive community care 
pathway 

A 24/7 integrated intensive community care and 
support pathway for Oxfordshire (including Acute 
Virtual Wards) 

Patient Flow & 
Recovery 

Modernising Community 
Hospital In-patient 
rehabilitation and care 

To develop costed plans and options for 
Community Hospital inpatient pathways that 
address changing population needs, best practice, 
workforce and financial sustainability challenges 

Transfer of Care Hub To create a single integrated Transfer of Care Hub 
Team across the partner organisations / different 
inpatient settings to streamline flow, discharges 
and provide a joined-up view on the best use of 
available beds and resources 

 

The Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West Integrated Care Partnership (BOB ICP) is developing a 

strategy to further develop the local health and care system and reduce inequality. The members of the ICP 

have worked with partner organisations, the voluntary sector, and other stakeholders to understand their 

areas of focus. The ICP has launched public engagement to seek feedback on these proposed priorities from 

wider partners and with people who live or work in Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West. 

The draft strategy proposes priorities in the following categories: 

• Promoting and protecting health – to support people to stay healthy, protect people from health 

hazards and prevent ill-health 

• Start Well – to help children achieve the best start in life 

• Live Well – to support people and communities to stay healthy for as long as possible 

• Age Well – to support people to live healthier, independent lives for longer 

• Improving quality and access – to help people access services at the right place and right time. 

Page 39



 

The service changes discussed in this paper are closely aligned with the principles set out in the draft 

strategy and are of particular relevance to the ‘Age Well’ section – to support people to live healthier, 

independent lives for longer. In addition, the development of community hospitals to support health and 

wellbeing hubs, and the expansion of local outpatient and therapy clinics, will directly support the 

promotion and protection of health in the community. 

The next step for the BOB ICP strategy is to work with local people and communities to set the direction and 

agree a common set of priorities for the partnership, linking with plans already in place, to meet local needs 

while sustainably managing the growing pressure on services.  

Previous work (including the OX12 project)  
(See appendix 2 for further papers relating to engagement carried out to date)  

This paper builds on a substantial foundation of previous work over the past 5 years.  

The OX12 Project tested and utilised the Oxfordshire Health and Care Needs Framework to identify the 

health care needs of the OX12 population; this work indicated that in general these needs were being met 

though there were some issues that could be considered for improving access. The expected September 

2020 deadline advised in February 2020 was completely overtaken by the essential NHS response to COVID 

in a level 4 Pandemic where the entire NHS was instructed to drop all non-COVID/non-priority work in a 

National Command and Control incident management structure. Since then, this work has been picked up 

within the community services strategy work which is encompassed within the integrated improvement 

programme.  

The COVID period showed that we can deliver different solutions if we innovate and recognise each 

individual’s strengths. It demonstrated that it was possible to shorten lengths of stay, reduce delays, and 

avoid admission to hospital. There has been continued work in OHFT to build on the evidence base plus the 

system experience of doing things differently through COVID, for example through the implementation of 

the urgent community response service. This work builds on best practice and this learning and applies it to 

all our services for older adults including the Wantage area. 

In June 2021, a review of engagement to date (see Appendix 2) identified the following key feedback in 

relation to services for older adults identified the following priorities:  

• Staying healthy and active along with support to tackle loneliness and isolation, and access to 

appropriate healthcare and local services 

• Maintaining independence; people want to stay at home for as long as possible if you become unwell or 

need care 

• More advice about how to stay healthy, how to manage financially as people get older and how to 

navigate the complex care pathways from the health, social care and community sectors 

• Better access; getting to health appointments by public transport is often challenging (particularly from 

rural areas) and it can also be difficult by car due to traffic congestion and problems parking. 

Building on this work, some focused public and stakeholder engagement was carried out in winter 2021-22 

to develop principles for shaping services for community services in Oxfordshire, which were subsequently 

ratified by the Oxfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board. This work included a number of public discussion 

events facilitated by Healthwatch Oxfordshire. Full details of the feedback on this work can be found in at 

appendix 2.  

 

Page 40



 

The models described in this paper, support the delivery of the following principles developed to shape 

community services in Oxfordshire: 

• Principle 3: Enable people to stay well for longer in their own homes. 

• Principle 5: Ensure our use of beds in the community maximises improvements in people's long-term 

health. 

• Principle 6: Base service design on best practice, clinical evidence and user experience 

• Principle 7: Organise services so staff operate in teams with appropriate skills and in buildings that 

enable them to work more effectively 

• Principle 9: Deliver the locally and nationally agreed priorities for our health and care system 

• Principle 11: Maximise the positive impact on health and wellbeing for our population, within the 

limitations of our resources 

Local Context 

The needs of local people (Oxfordshire JSNA 2022) 
This work builds on the areas of focus which have are set out within the Joint strategic needs assessment for 

Oxfordshire. Specifically, 4 key population trends relating to older adults have been identified which will 

need to inform the way in which we deliver community health and care services moving forward.    

1. The population of Oxfordshire is growing 

On Census Day, 21 March 2021, the size of the usual resident population in Oxfordshire was 725,300. 

Oxfordshire’s population grew by 71,500 (10.9%) since the last Census in 2011 when it was 653,800 

residents. This increase in Oxfordshire was above the growth across England (6.6%).  

Looking ahead, Oxfordshire County Council’s (OCC) housing-led forecasts (interim-2020) estimate a total 

population of 801,700 in Oxfordshire by 2028, a growth of 110,400 people over 10 years. 

2. Overall, the Population is getting older 

The JSNA completed in 2022 identified that older people make up an increasing proportion of the 

population. Between 2002 and 2022 the older age group, aged 65 and over, increased by 50%. In addition, 

much of this older population is based within rural areas of the county.  

In 2020, older people aged 65+ made up 20% of the estimated population of Oxfordshire’s four rural 

districts, compared with only 13% of the population of Oxford City. Community healthcare therefore need to 

be updated to meet the growth in this population.  

 

Page 41

https://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/system/files/documents/JSNA2022_Full_Oct22.pdf


 

3. A lot of our older population live in rural districts 

The rural districts in Oxfordshire have a much higher proportion of older people than Oxford City. In 2018, 

people aged over 65 years were estimated to make up 20% of Oxfordshire’s four rural districts, compared 

with 12% of the population of Oxford City (18% overall).  

 

4. People are living longer, with increasingly more complex care needs that require more support from 

health and social care services 

The oldest population group, those aged 85 and 

over, are particularly high users of community 

services including community nursing and therapy, 

frailty, falls prevention, home care, care home and 

reablement services. This group is predicted to 

increase from 17,847 in mid-2018 to 22,020 by 

2028, an increase of 4,173 people (+23%). 

Assuming the use of health and social care services 

remains at current levels for the oldest age group 

(85+) would mean the forecast population growth 

in Oxfordshire leading to an increase in demand of:   

• +7,000 additional hospital inpatient spells for people aged 85+: from 12,600 in 2016-17 to 19,600 in 
2031-32. 

• +1,000 additional clients supported by long term social care services aged 85+: from 1,900 in 2016-
17 to 2,900 in 2031-32 
 

 

Page 42



 

The Family Resources Survey provides national disability estimates annually which can be scaled to 

Oxfordshire using population numbers. In 2018/19 around 19% of people in the South-East region had an 

identified disability, equating to around 131,400 people in Oxfordshire. The most common types of disability 

for adults over 65 is mobility impairment.  

According to Public Health England, falls are the largest cause of emergency hospital admissions (nationally) 

for older people, and significantly impact on long term outcomes, e.g. being a major reason why people 

move from their own home to long term nursing or residential care. In 2020-21 there were 3,005 hospital 

admissions due to falls in people aged 65 and over in Oxfordshire.  

The rate of hospital admissions for falls in older people is higher than national rate (2,186 per 100,00 

population in Oxon compared to 2,023 in England). 

 

As of 1 April 2022, there were 5,954 adults in Oxfordshire receiving ongoing long-term social care from 

Oxfordshire County Council, down from 6,197 on 1 April 2020 (-3.9%). The majority (60%) of Oxfordshire’s 

ongoing long-term social care clients were older people aged 65 and over. 16% were aged 90 or over. Just 

over a quarter (27%) of people receiving social care support are people with learning disabilities. 

Applying the current rate of older people (aged 65+) provided with long-term social care (i.e. assuming no 

change in prevalence) to population forecasts/projections gives a potential change by 2030 of: +900 (3,800 

to 4,700, rounded) from 2020 to 2030 based on Oxfordshire County Council population forecasts including 

housing growth +900 (3,800 to 4,700, rounded) from 2020 to 2030 based on ONS trend-based population 

projections. 

Current community services  

Community hospitals located in Oxfordshire 

Oxfordshire’s Community Hospitals provide a range of important services and facilities that support care 

within the community. At some sites, this includes inpatient (bed based) and outpatient (clinic based) 

services. Community Hospitals also serve as local bases for teams providing outreach and home visiting 

services.  

Community Hospital inpatient units support the recovery of patients who require a period of inpatient 

rehabilitation and nursing care and no longer require the treatment available only in an acute hospital. A key 

aim is to enable people to achieve their potential to resume independent living at home. Oxford Health NHS 

Foundation Trust (OHFT) delivers community hospital inpatient care in eight community hospital wards 

located at six sites across Oxfordshire, with a 9th ward at Wantage Community Hospital temporarily closed 

in 2016. 

Page 43



 

  

 

The cohort of inpatients in Oxfordshire’s community hospitals includes people who require a period of 

specialised nursing or therapy; for example, to support recover from stroke, severe frailty, delirium, ill-health 

requiring hospital treatment, surgery and bariatric (plus-sized) care. Our community hospitals also provide 

care to people at the end of life who need round-the-clock nursing care or symptom control but who, for a 

range of different reasons, are not able to receive this care at home or in a hospice. 

These community hospital wards employ a varied skill-mix and range in scale. Some support ambulatory care 

pathways, enabling direct admission from the community, while others are more focused on inpatient 

rehabilitation for patients stepping down from a period of acute hospital inpatient care.  

It is important to note that the number of beds ‘open’ at each community hospital fluctuates each week and 

is determined by a number of clinical and operational factors. This includes the level of need of the patients 

on the ward and the corresponding staffing ratios of medics, nurses and therapists required to provide safe 

and effective care and deliver their therapy. This is continuously monitored and adjusted in response to a 

number of factors, including: 

• The acuity and care needs of patients on the ward (i.e. the severity of illness in the current cohort of 

inpatients and their corresponding level of care need) 

• The number of patients requiring double-handed nursing or therapy interventions 

• The number of people requiring plus-sized/bariatric care 

• Current pressures on the capacity of acute hospital and home care/reablement services 

• Responses to surges in infectious disease 

• Changes in seasonal demand (e.g. ‘winter pressures’) 

• Changes in infection prevention and control guidance (e.g. COVID-19 bed spacing and social 

distancing requirements) 

• Available staffing levels (e.g. high staff sickness levels or long-term vacancies) 

Locations of the Community Hospitals within the 

Oxfordshire ‘Place’ of the Buckinghamshire, 

Oxfordshire & Berkshire West Integrated Care 

System. 

NB. Services at Thame Community Hospital are 

commissioned through the Buckinghamshire 

Place. 

Page 44



 

In December 2022, the following community hospital beds were operating across Oxfordshire: 

Community Hospital Inpatient Units Bed numbers 

Abingdon 38 

Abbey Ward – General 12 

Abingdon – EMU (subacute) 6 

OSRU (stroke rehab) 20 

Bicester – General 12 

Didcot – General 18 

Oxford (City Comm) – General 15 

Wallingford 18 

General 16 

End of life 2 

Wantage (temporarily closure) - 

Witney 32-33 

Linfoot – General 8-10 

Linfoot – Bariatric 3-4 

Wenrisc – EMU (subacute) 4 

Wenrisc – General 16 

Total 133 

 

In addition to beds provided by Community Hospital inpatient units, a variable number of community beds 

are commissioned within care homes for patients who are medically fit for discharge but require a period of 

bed-based reablement (known as ‘pathway 2’ in the national Discharge-to-Assess model). These are known 

locally as ‘short stay hub beds’. Patients in these beds are supported by healthcare workers, nursing and 

therapy professionals but there are lower ratios of medics, nurses and therapists compared to a Community 

Hospital, reflecting their different needs. 

In 2021 a census of the current role of community hospitals inpatient beds was completed to assess which 

patients were being cared for in inpatient settings, what needs they had and where they usually lived.  

The reason for admission into community hospitals is defined within a set of ‘criteria to reside’. These 

admission criteria are based on the information provided at the time of admittance; this may not reflect fully 

the needs of the patient during their time at a community hospital.  

At the time the census was completed the majority of patients had been admitted due to being highly 

dependent or having increased dependency. These criteria are defined as: 

• Highly dependent: The person currently has a significant level of dependency that requires 24-hour 

support and are currently unable to return home without significantly impacting on their future 

long-term recovery e.g. needing assistance of 2-3 people to transfer and showing good progress in 

recovery. 

• Increased dependency: The person is showing a higher level of dependency and unable to return 

home with the current level of support available or where behavioural issues are impacting 

recovery. 

Page 45



 

The review in 2021 identified nearly 1000 

diagnoses (ICD10 codes) associated with patient 

cohorts who use Oxfordshire’s Community Hospital 

beds. To break these down into more significant 

groupings the census diagnoses categories were 

based on an initial test census which reviewed all 

diagnosis and needs captured which were then 

grouped into themes. These were defined as ‘main 

needs’ and ‘main diagnoses’. The most common 

clinical diagnosis was frailty followed by falls 

although there were also a high proportion of 

patients with fractures and a high level of 

confusion. It is important to note that patients within these settings often have many interrelated 

conditions, in addition to the main diagnoses noted here there were, for all patients, a total of 218 additional 

diagnoses recorded across patients within the community hospital.  

The most common patient needs within community 

hospitals were related to mobility and toileting. This 

aligns with the rehabilitation most commonly provided 

which focus on addressing challenges around mobility 

and personal care to enable functional independence. 

Mobility includes bed mobility - ability to roll, lying to 

sitting, sitting over the edge of the bed, moving up and 

down the bed, sitting to lying. Transfers between bed, 

chair, commode, toilet, wheelchair. Mobilising- in a 

wheelchair, with equipment of some kind.  

As part of the census, we also reviewed the staff who provide support to all patients within all settings. All 

Community hospital patients were receiving support from Health care assistants, Registered nurse, 

Occupational therapist, Physiotherapist, Rehabilitation assistant & Patient flow team. Medical cover was 

divided between GP & consultant. In addition, 

but not captured in the census, medical cover is 

also provided by Advanced Clinical Practitioners 

in Didcot, Bicester and City wards. Due to staffing 

limitations, Therapists within Hub beds are 

expected to work across disciplines e.g. a 

Physiotherapist providing Occupational Therapy 

and vice versa. All short-stay hub bed medical 

cover is provided by GPs however some patients 

are supported by Ambulatory Outreach Team or 

the Ambulatory Units at the JR and Horton 

hospitals.  

Urgent Community Response Service 

Community beds make up only a small part of the community services offer. Services in people’s homes are 

central to supporting the wider population to remain as healthy as possible and reduce lengths of stay in 

acute hospitals.  

 

Page 46



 

The intensive community care pathway, of which the urgent community response is part, is focused on 

reducing the number of people who require admission to an acute hospital bed. This has a significant impact 

on the way in which people are supported within their own homes and reducing the need for community 

inpatient rehabilitation. Further details are available on the NHS England website: 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/community-health-services/community-crisis-response-services/ 

This service is available 08:00-20:00, 7 days a week and delivers:  

• a crisis response service within two hours of referral, avoiding the need for unnecessary hospital 

admission and supporting same day emergency care  

• reablement care within two days of referral reducing unnecessary hospital stays 

Preventing admissions and providing care at home is critical to managing hospital capacity and to improving 

outcomes. Many people with frailty currently admitted to hospital through A&E don’t need inpatient care – 

estimates range up to 30%. The 2018 National Audit of Intermediate Care recommended that intermediate 

care capacity needed to double to meet demand and that waiting times for crisis response were on average 

5.1 hours and for reablement were 5.6 days4. 

The patients referred to the UCR for a 2-hour response can be broadly grouped in to three areas:  

1. Frail and unwell: approx. 41% The patient is dizzy, or has fallen, or is confused or has an underlying 

health condition that has become worse, and a full physical assessment is required.   

2. Mobility problems: approx. 33% The patient is unable to cope with general daily activities and 

requires a full physical assessment to find the cause. They may also require some provision of 

equipment.   

3. End-of-life: approx. 9% The patient has been referred for one of the above and after the full physical 

assessment is identified to be approaching end-of-life and are referred on to other more appropriate 

services  

A short summary of the UCR service is available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Nks24V5QENk  

 
  

 
4 Slide 1 (careengland.org.uk) 

Page 47

https://www.england.nhs.uk/community-health-services/community-crisis-response-services/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Nks24V5QENk
https://www.careengland.org.uk/sites/careengland/files/NAIC%202018findings%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Nks24V5QENk


 

Patient flow through hospitals and the Transfer of Care hub  

Community hospitals have an important role in maintaining ‘flow’ through the whole health and care 

system. To do so, their staff must engage with health and care colleagues to receive patients proactively, 

ensure that care processes are effective and efficient throughout the patients stay, and arrange timely 

discharge from hospital at the earliest point that can be safely achieved.  

The overwhelming majority of patients come to the community hospital having first received their care 

within an Acute Trust. There is an increasing evidence base detailing the benefits of early discharge from 

hospital, though it is clear that for some rehabilitation and recovery with sub-acute medical needs will still 

require non-acute hospital care. Care is a joint endeavour between patients, their families and the staff who 

care for and support them. A key priority is to ensure that families and carers are seen as a true partners in 

care, where this is desired by the patient.  

The case for modernising our bed-based model 

Patient admission locations for Community Hospitals 
The admission location of patients is determined currently based on the needs of the patient combined with 

the availability of a bed within the patient’s local community hospital. The maps in appendix 3 show the 

home locations of the patients admitted to each Community Hospital Inpatient Unit between April-October 

2021. Although preference will always be given to a patient being placed closer to home, there are a number 

of factors which may influence the location to which a patient is admitted and currently a high proportion of 

patients within all inpatient settings are not admitted to their local community hospital. The need to move a 

patient out of an acute hospital bed so that it can be allocated to another patient may result in them being 

admitted to another community hospital which has can meet their needs at that time.  It is important to 

note that Abingdon, Witney and Wallingford Community Hospitals provide some services which serve the 

whole county and so the location of patients would be expected to be more widely distributed 

People are having to wait for care 
The pressures facing both the NHS and social care currently are well reported on and are having a very 

significant impact both at a national and a local level on the quality of care that services are able to provide. 

Perhaps most visibly, this is reflected in the length of time which people who need emergency care are 

waiting. For example, in Oxfordshire in December 2022, 47% of people were waiting more than the 4-hour 

target time as a result of the high levels of demand. Perhaps less visible but equally challenging this pressure 

is also resulting in patients across the NHS having to wait longer to return home or to a care home after an 

admission to hospital. Within Oxfordshire Community Hospitals, during 2022 it was usual for between 20-50 

people who were still on the ward to no longer met the criteria to reside in hospital (data reported monthly 

to Oxfordshire A&E Delivery Board).  

Increased complexity of care needs 
With increases in the older population, more people in the community are living with one or more long-term 

health conditions. Many services were commissioned to manage specific illnesses rather than the whole 

person. This means that people with multiple conditions can experience disjointed care which can result in 

an individual having to have contact with multiple different services. People with one or more long-term 

condition need high quality, consistent and integrated health and social care. People with more than one 

condition, or who have a long-term condition when something else happens to impact on their health (such 

as having a fall), often require more complex support. Health and social care services need to be better 

designed to respond to these needs. 

Page 48



 

Workforce recruitment and retention 
Like many other parts of the NHS, community services are facing significant challenges in recruiting and 

retaining sufficient staff to meet the needs of the population. Central to addressing this challenge is ensuring 

that staff teams are supported to have an appropriate workload and mix of skills to be able to meet patient 

needs. Over the past 2 years Oxford Health have invested in both our community urgent community 

response and community hospital staffing teams to increase their resilience. As part of this a project to 

reduce use of agency staff has developed an international nursing recruitment campaign which has enabled 

us to reduce vacancy rates within staff teams. In order to maintain staff retention however it is necessary to 

ensure services are both financially sustainable and there is sufficient capacity to meet the demand for 

services.  

It is also important to note that where a ward has only a small number of beds it is much harder to maintain 

a core team to provide sustainable staffing, which can impact on the ability of that environment to provide 

optimal care. To ensure wards can be staffed appropriately to meet patient needs, consideration needs to be 

given to a viable ward size and smaller units have higher running costs on average.  

The Lord Carter review (2018) noted that “a much clearer idea of ‘what good looks like’ is needed but one 

thing is certain – an isolated 10-bedded inpatient facility is unlikely to be clinically or financially secure”5. In 

order to provide a safe and sustainable service, it is recommended that a minimum staffing level (equivalent 

to 15-20 general beds) should be maintained on each site, so it is neither clinically safe nor sustainable from 

a workforce perspective to further reduce the bed-base by a small number across all the community hospital 

wards.  

Financial sustainability of services 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) research (2018) has shown that investment in lower-level preventative 

services can lead to a reduced need for care and support and cost saving equivalent to £880 per person. 

Therapy-led reablement is proven to reduce need6. In order to increase the financial sustainability of 

community services it is therefore necessary to review the way in which we deliver services to ensure we are 

achieving the best patient outcomes within the financial resources available to the NHS and move from bed-

based crisis care towards a more preventative approach based within the community.  

The amount of funding available to community services has not risen in line with the ageing population and 

increased complexity of needs. In addition, the challenges associated with staffing are resulting in higher use 

of agency and temporary staff which is both more costly and less good for patients.  

The result of these factors is that the current model of care delivered within the community hospitals across 

Oxfordshire is no longer financially sustainable. This, in combination with the withdrawal of covid-related 

monies, has resulted in a service forecast deficit of nearly £6m in financial year 2022-23.  

The ‘safer staffing’, Improving Quality Reducing Agency, and other reviews carried out by Oxford Health 

NHSFT indicate that, with efficiency savings, the current funding envelope can sustain a workforce to 

maintain a bed-based of 115-120 inpatient rehabilitation beds across Oxfordshire in FY24, with an average 

length of stay of 26-28 days and around 1600 admissions per year. This compares to around 133 beds open 

currently in 8 inpatient wards in December 2022. 

 

 
5 Lord Carter review (2018)https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/09/20180524_NHS_operational_productivity_-_Unwarranted_variations_-_Mental_....pdf p3 
6 Evidence review for adult social care reform (publishing.service.gov.uk) 

Page 49

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/20180524_NHS_operational_productivity_-_Unwarranted_variations_-_Mental_....pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/20180524_NHS_operational_productivity_-_Unwarranted_variations_-_Mental_....pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1037884/evidence-review-for-adult-social-care-reform.pdf


 

In summary, three options have been identified to address the financial challenge which will need to be 

considered by the Integrated Care System as part of any proposal to achieve sustainable community hospital 

services: 

1. Review of the care model, with an increase in the funding envelope available for Community 

Hospital inpatient care aligned with optimised productivity and length of stay to maintain the 

average baseline of c.133 community hospital beds across the county 

2. Review of the care model aligned with optimised productivity and length of stay while moving 

more care into the community and reducing the size of the inpatient rehabilitation service within 

Oxfordshire to c. 115-120 beds, to reach financial balance within the current funding envelope 

3. Review of the care model aligned with optimised productivity and length of stay, with a system 

agreement to continue to run a substantial financial deficit within this service and cross-subsidise 

the service costs from other sources 

Limitations to the community hospital estate 
In addition to community hospital care being comparatively expensive to run, the buildings which these 

services are run from are often not cost effective or best suited to the needs of patients. A report produced 

in 2021 by NHS Benchmarking showed that Oxfordshire community hospitals are relatively inefficient to run 

compared to others, due to small unit size / old buildings. A number of community bed sites have limitations 

relating to their physical estate including parking, building size, design and age, and requirements to share 

space with other services. Future co-design of options and subsequent decisions on the optimum location 

for community beds will need to include a review of the physical estate constraints for each ward as well as 

consideration of any capital works which could be completed to mitigate these, and any travel impacts for 

patients having to travel between wards if smaller wards are seen to be less viable.  

Move to 24-hour working  
Nationally the NHS has committed to the ambition of delivering seven-day services to ensure that patients 

receive consistent high quality safe care every day of the week. This has been shown to have significant 

patient benefits and reduce variation in patient care. However, in order to move to this model, services need 

to either change how they provide services or increase staffing by nearly 30%. In order to deliver this model 

sustainably it is necessary therefore to review how services are provided and identify opportunities to align 

services better to meet patient needs every day of the week.  

Opportunities for change 

Urgent and emergency care – acute Virtual wards and Same Day Emergency Care units (SDECs) 
Acute virtual wards allow patients to get the care they need at home safely and conveniently, rather than 

being in hospital. The NHS is increasingly introducing virtual wards to support people at the place they call 

home, including care homes. Within Oxfordshire this care is being delivered through community-based 

interventions such as hospital-at-home which is a service to enable people with complex health needs to 

remain at home. This approach has been shown to have a significant role in enabling admission avoidance. 

These acute virtual wards will complement the longer-term care being provided by GPs through the 

development of primary care virtual wards. 

Over the next year NHS England has set out an ambitious programme of development for these services to 

provide 45 beds per 100k of the population. Within Oxfordshire this will build on the existing 

Hospital@Home services and align with the Urgent Community Response to develop a collaborative model 

of admission avoidance. 

Page 50



 

Map of developing acute virtual wards and existing same day emergency care units in Oxfordshire 

 

In order to avoid the need for conveyance to hospital, it is also necessary to provide access to improved 

diagnostic facilities in the community. Although many tests can now be done in the home, virtual wards 

work best when they can refer patients to same day emergency care (SDEC) facilities – units where clinical 

expertise and diagnostic facilities can be concentrated.  

Within Oxfordshire there are currently two types of SDEC, Emergency Multidisciplinary Units (EMUs) – 

currently at Witney and Abingdon community hospitals – and Ambulatory Assessment Units (AAUs) – 

located at the Horton and John Radcliffe hospitals. As part of the development of the new acute virtual ward 

model it is also recommended that consideration is given to reconfiguring the SDEC provision and how this 

can be aligned to the acute virtual wards in order to maximise admission avoidance, improve consistency of 

care across the county and support more people to receive care at home. 

Proposed clinical care model for Community Hospital inpatient rehabilitation 
As part of the work carried out to date, a clinically led review has been completed to identify the current and 

optimal clinical model for community beds within Oxfordshire (see Appendix 4). This was based on 

engagement over a number of months with clinicians and care professionals from across the bed-base and 

consideration of the national and local drivers for change associated with bed-based care within the 

community.  

Page 51



 

Within this process two stakeholder workshops were completed, facilitated by Emergency Care 

Improvement Support Team (ECIST). ECIST are the part of NHS England, who directly support health and 

social care systems to improve patient flow and safety and deliver national urgent and emergency care 

priorities. A summary of the workshop agenda and attendees can be found at Appendix 4. Building on these 

workshops a working group was put in place to develop a proposed clinical model for community hospital 

inpatient rehabilitation which is set out below.  

Design principles 

As a general principle, Community Hospital beds are best used to provide a period of expert therapy and 

nursing care which cannot be delivered effectively or safely in the home or a day care setting. This includes 

people with a 24-hour nursing need, or a therapy need which cannot be delivered at home; such as where 

an individual does not have the space for essential equipment or requires intensive support from multiple 

staff members.  

The working group agreed that admission to a community bed should be based on: 

1. The identification of a care, reablement or therapy need that cannot be met in the patient’s usual 

home environment 

2. The frequency and intensity of health care needs, i.e. how often the individual needs care  

3. Diagnostic certainty and relative medical stability, i.e. how confident professionals are that the 

needs of the patient are understood and likely to remain consistent 

In order to manage discharge to the community, a 7-day therapeutically focused approach should be 

implemented. This will reduce the extent to which discharges would be affected by the time and day on 

which a patient is due for discharge. For example, currently there are fewer patients discharged over the 

weekend period and planning for discharge is largely carried out within the day, this can delay the discharge 

of patients. In addition, a target estimated (currently called anticipated) discharge date will be agreed at 

point of admission and regularly reviewed through the multi-disciplinary team (MDT) discharge process.  

As noted, the high level of demand for services within Oxfordshire means that it is important we are 

confident that beds are being used appropriately, alongside both acute care and care at home. For this 

reason, the following approach to determining whether someone’s needs are best met within a community 

bed is recommended: 

1. We will always consider first whether someone can return home and if their needs could be better 

met within the community. 

2. No one whose care and health needs can be met at home at the time of discharge should be placed 

in a community bed. To inform this decision making, it is recommended that a frailty score could be 

used to assess the needs of each patient.  

3. We will minimise wherever possible delays which result in people remaining in the bed when it is not 

the right place for them. 

 

It is recognised that patient choice is important and should be considered as part of any decision making. 

However, choice will need to be balanced against the needs of all patients within the system. To ensure that 

both the patient and family are clear about how long a patient should remain in a community bed and how 

decisions on discharge are made, it is essential that staff work really closely with families to set expectations 

and be realistic about care goals. This will ensure that everyone is clear about what support is most 

appropriate. Community Hospital beds should not be used to provide respite provision as this is better 

provided within another setting, such as a care home. 

Page 52



 

Partnership between all staff involved in the care of the patient as well as close working with patients and 

their carers is key. This will need to include considerations around housing and where the patient is from. It 

is important that consideration is given to all organisations who can support strength-based approaches to 

community living, including the voluntary sector. Consideration will also be given to how we can support 

both formal and informal carers. 

Staff will aim wherever possible to discharge people home with care rather than waiting until they can go 

home without a care package; it is recognised, however, that this is dependent on the capacity of home care 

and visiting services. 

Overview of the proposed community hospital inpatient pathways 

The following section sets out a clinical framework for the inpatient care pathways supported by Community 

Hospitals in Oxfordshire. These pathways form part of a continuum of service provision that spans home, 

community and hospital settings; they require suitably resourced and staffed community inpatient units to 

meet the needs of certain patients, in order to deliver the therapeutic interventions and outcomes that 

require a focused period of inpatient care. 

  
In summary, six updated Community Hospital inpatient care and rehabilitation pathways are 
proposed: 
  

1. Sub-acute medical care and stabilisation 
2. Strength-based rehabilitation for people in recovery 
3. Rehabilitation for people with bariatric needs 
4. Specialist stroke and neurological rehabilitation 
5. Specialist care at the end of life 

  

 

Sub-acute medical care and stabilisation 

• The need: People who become unwell, injured or whose health deteriorates and who have frailty, 

multimorbidity or complex needs, may require an actively managed period of stepped-up medical 

assessment and monitoring, medical treatment, nursing care or therapy in an inpatient unit until they 

are stabilised; but don’t need the facilities of an acute hospital 

• Location: Patients in this pathway require rapid assessment in an ambulatory care or same day 

emergency care unit, following by a period of monitoring and treatment from a suitably trained multi-

disciplinary team of medical, nursing and therapy professionals. They also require access to diagnostic 

and imaging services, such as x-ray, and so these facilities should be co-located together. Because of 

these essential needs, it is necessary to provide this care on a limited number of specialised Community 

Hospital sites with appropriate staffing and facilities. 

• Examples of patients supported:  

o An older person who is unable to walk due to unexplained weakness and has become slightly 

confused 

o A person with multiple health conditions who has become gradually more breathless and 

fatigued over the past week 

o A person with frailty who has been seen in an acute hospital and is well enough to return home, 

but requires a specific treatment and re-assessment by clinical team the following day 

Strength-based rehabilitation for people in recovery 

Page 53



 

• The need: A proportion of people who have had a significant period of illness or immobilisation, 

including some people who are recovering from injury or surgery, need expert inpatient rehabilitation 

and/or nursing to reach strength-based goals within a target timeframe.  

• Location: A period of bed-based reablement or rehabilitation is required by approximately 4% of all 

acute hospital discharges according to national models and should be made available to patients in all 

Network Areas of the county through a series of well-resourced, equipped and suitably staffed 

Community Hospital inpatient units. 

• Examples of patients supported: People with multiple care needs and diagnoses (co-morbidities) who 

require full time care and therapy to be rehabilitated. Examples might include a person who was: 

o Admitted to hospital following a fall which caused multiple fracture admitted for rehabilitation. 

Rehabilitation limited due to pain and postural hypotension 

o Admitted to an intensive care unit and is recovering from post ICU deconditioning in addition to 

having general frailty 

o Admitted following a fall with a history of reduced mobility and who also has a learning disability 

o Admitted with respiratory issues post COVID-19 and associated pneumonitis, struggling with 

fatigue and multiple wounds/pressure ulcers. 

Rehabilitation for people with bariatric needs 

• The need: There is an increasing number of people with a high BMI who require specialised equipment, 

facilities and professional input to enable them to experience safe and effective rehabilitation, so they 

can return home and access appropriate support for weight management as well as other health and 

wellbeing needs 

• Location: This cohort requires use of specialised equipment, premises adaptations and staff trained in 

providing care for plus-sized people. As a result, it is necessary to provide this care on a limited number 

of specialised Community Hospital sites with appropriate staffing and facilities. 

• Examples of patients supported:  

o A person with a BMI of 40 who has had a fall causing toe fractures and is immobile. Previously 

transferred with pivot transfer but unable to do so with fractured toes so needs significant 

support. 

o A person with a high BMI who is recovering from a below knee amputation.  

o A person with a high BMI and complex diabetes and a skin infection 

Specialist stroke and neurological rehabilitation  

• The need: A significant proportion of people who have had a stroke require a period of targeted 

rehabilitation in an environment with specialised staff and facilities, in line with national stroke 

guidance. 

• Location: Specialist stroke care is provided at the Oxfordshire Stroke Rehabilitation Unit (OSRU), located 

at Abingdon CH 

• Examples of patients supported:  

o A person who has had a stroke and needs intensive therapy to help them to regain the ability to 

eat, speak and move themselves. This might include speech therapy, support from a dietitian 

and therapy to improve movement.  

o A person who needs 2:1 care following a stroke to support them with eating drinking, washing, 

dressing, toileting and overnight needs. They also may need dietitian and specialist support to 

feed including starting up Peg feeding and NG tube feeding and support to learn to feed 

themselves prior to returning home.  

Page 54



 

• Inpatient care and rehabilitation for those with level 2 neuro-rehabilitation needs (as defined in national 

guidance) could be co-located with Stroke rehabilitation to enable sharing of specialist resources, 

facilities and expertise and a more sustainable staffing model 

Specialist care at the end of life 

• The need: Most people prefer to die at home when nearing the end of life and this aim will be supported 

through enhanced community-based end-of-life-care services and primary care, in partnership with the 

hospice charities. Much care for people in the last year of life will continue to be provided in Community 

Hospitals with the aim of restoring their independence and enjoyment of life at home for as long as 

possible. However, a small number of specialist palliative care beds is necessary to support some people 

at the end of life when it is not possible to provide them with adequate symptom control at home or 

when other factors mean an admission is necessary to ensure safety or minimise distress. Not all 

patients admitted to one of the specialist palliative care beds will die there; some will have a planned 

return home once stabilised. 

• Location: Specialist end-of-life care is best provided in a purpose-built facility that provides a calm 

environment, enables family members to stay on site and where staff can develop specialist skills in 

palliative care.  

• Examples of patients supported:  

o A patient with hard-to-manage symptoms for whom a period of in-patient care would be 

preferable to care at home. The reasons for this can include carer fatigue or distress; the patient 

lives alone without support between carer visits; there is no suitable hospice placement 

available 

o A patient who prefers not to live their last days in the family home; the patient may be a parent 

of young children; there may be symptoms which could be more easily stabilised in an in-patient 

environment; or they may require additional nursing support or treatment in their last days. 

Home first 
Home First is the national NHS policy ambition to help older people receive care in their own homes 

wherever possible. NHS Reducing length of stay guidance describes taking a ‘Home First’ approach, providing 

patients with support at home or intermediate care. Wherever possible, patients should also be supported 

to return to their home for assessment. 7 

A study carried out by the Better Care Support Programme (available at reducingdtoc.com) found that on 

average, 27% (a range of between 19% and 35% across the areas) of the 10,400 individuals studied were 

declared to be medically fit for discharge yet remained in hospital. When these patients got discharged, in 

92% of these cases, the setting was providing a more intense level of care than required to maximise the 

individual’s independence8. Based on the data gathered as part of this work, achieving best possible 

outcomes for people whose discharges had been delayed would mean the number of people:  

• returning home with reablement increasing by almost 200%  

• going home with support increasing by almost 33%  

• discharged into residential or nursing care reducing by almost 50% 

It is widely accepted that almost everyone wants to leave hospital as quickly as possible and, usually, to 

return to the living arrangements they enjoyed prior to their admission with the highest level of 

 
7 NHS England » Principle 5: Encourage a supported ‘Home First’ approach 
8 People-first-manage-what-matters.pdf (reducingdtoc.com) 

Page 55

https://www.england.nhs.uk/urgent-emergency-care/reducing-length-of-stay/reducing-long-term-stays/home-first/
http://www.reducingdtoc.com/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/urgent-emergency-care/reducing-length-of-stay/reducing-long-term-stays/home-first/
https://reducingdtoc.com/People-first-manage-what-matters.pdf


 

independence, wellbeing and quality of life possible, given the circumstances. Staff caring for people also 

want them to be discharged to the right place, in the right way, at the right time9. 

A hospital is a good place to be when you are acutely unwell, but it can also bring its own risks. In every 

hospital admission, there is a risk of picking up an infection. For the more vulnerable, being in hospital can 

mean:  

• losing confidence in the ability to live independently  

• losing the continuity of whatever care packages are in place 

• losing mobility 

In addition, older patients can often experience confusion and disorientation in an unfamiliar environment 

and daily routine. As a result, the home first approach proposes that where an individual is able to return 

home safely, they should be supported to do this rather than remaining in a hospital bed.  

John Bolton principles 
To guide system planning, targets around the aggregated percentages of patients discharged from acute 

hospital who should be managed through different discharge and reablement pathways have been 

identified. These were articulated by Professor John Bolton in a review of learning from seven health and 

care communities between July 2020 and June 202110. This looked to improve their local arrangements on 

hospital discharge with a focus on the needs of older people.   

The pathway targets for acute hospital discharges are: 

• Pathway 0 – people discharged home with no additional support needed: 50% 

• Pathway 1 – people discharged home with support: 45% 

• Pathway 2 – people transferred to a community rehab bed: 4 % 

• Pathway 3 – people transferred into long term care (e.g. a care home): 1% 

To deliver this change to discharge pathways, we need to move from focusing on inpatient care to care 

based within the community.  

Within Oxfordshire this work is being delivered through the development of the Transfer of Care hub which 

is focused on ensuring discharges are appropriate and identifying opportunities to support more patient to 

return home early.  

 

 
9 People-first-manage-what-matters.pdf (reducingdtoc.com) 
10 Developing a capacity and demand model for out of hospital care | Local Government Association 

Page 56

https://reducingdtoc.com/People-first-manage-what-matters.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/developing-capacity-and-demand-model-out-hospital-care


 

Transfer of care hub outcomes Nov22-Jan 23 

Digital opportunities 
As healthcare has developed, there are increasing opportunities to use digital technology to provide services 

differently. A recent pilot within Oxfordshire community services has carried out remote monitoring to 

inform clinicians about patient need. This has shown that by using technology to enhance visits, clinicians 

can better meet patient need. There are opportunities through the implementation of more home-based 

care on a virtual ward to make use of technology such as remote monitoring using apps, technology 

platforms, wearables and medical devices such as pulse oximeters to help to keep more patients at home 

and reduce emergency admissions to hospital.  

Third sector collaborative working 
Within Oxfordshire there is a strong third sector and this has been regularly recognised within previous 

engagement work. For example, within the OX12 engagement work carried out it was identified that: 

There is a vibrant third sector in OX12 with a wide range of clubs, leisure classes, events, and 

support services, with many opportunities for volunteering and/or sharing skills, knowledge and 

interests. There are active health and care groups such as MIND, MS Society, Young Carers, and AGE 

UK that support people with specific health conditions. A range of online resources to promote 

health and wellbeing are also available to people living in this community. However, feedback from 

stakeholders suggests that more could be done to make people aware of these resources.  

As part of the implementation of the integrated improvement programme there is an opportunity to better 

align NHS services with the voluntary and community sector, including consideration of the development of 

a community hub which could host some of these services. A Community Hub is a multipurpose centre, 

based at an accessible community site such as community hospital, health centre, day centre or other local 

facility, that provides the infrastructure to support a range of health and care services – including visiting 

services, clinics, outpatients, voluntary and community group activities and other services tailored for the 

needs of the local community. A key feature of the Hub is that it has locally empowered leadership and 

engagement with its community, with the potential to develop and support new services in response to 

changing community needs. 

Dependencies 

Optimal service location modelling 
As a part of the wider integrated improvement programme, this work will need to take into consideration 

the optimal location for all community services across the County. In order to do this, it is recommended 

that consideration be given to how development of this services model will align with wider services. In 

order to inform this, it is proposed to use a population health approach to assessing service location and 

identify how the needs of the population as a whole can best be met.  

Outpatients 
In addition to the inpatient beds within the community hospitals, there are a variety of other services co-

located at the sites. Some host services such as midwifery while others provide outpatient functions, therapy 

hubs and minor injuries units. Through the provision of outpatient services, the community hospitals are also 

able to provide preventative care for all ages of patient and to provide care to a much larger part of the 

population.  

In summer 2021, it was agreed to trial a range of outpatient clinics within Wantage community hospital, 

following discussions with JHOSC and the Town Council Health Subcommittee. The aim is to evaluate the 

benefits and feasibility of providing additional services to the population of Wantage who would otherwise 

Page 57



 

have had to travel to Oxford. The pilot services are being provided in the clinical space previously used for 

the in-patient unit, which has remained closed pending the outcome of the Oxfordshire-wide review of 

Community Services now underway and public engagement. The interim evaluation report of the pilot can 

be found at appendix 5. Since that report was published the additional audiology and ENT services have 

been initiated so that the following outpatient’s services are now provided from the hospital: 

• Ophthalmology 

• Adult Mental HT 

• Psychological Therapies 

• Adult Eating Disorders 

• Talking Space 

• GP Health Centre 

• Perinatal 

• Neuro Development  

• NHS Provider audiology 

• Ear, Nose & Throat (ENT) 

• Connect Health MSK physiotherapy 

Urgent care service changes  
Within the integrated improvement programme there is another piece of work which is looking at first 

contact care. This will include decisions around the optimal location for urgent care services within the 

county. This workstream is not dependent on the outcome of this piece of work, however consideration will 

be given to where there are opportunities to align decisions with this work.  

Next steps 
As outlined in this paper, system-leadership and collaborative work will be essential to address the financial 

sustainability challenge and transform community services so they can deliver the best care possible in a 

sustainable way.  

This work summarised in this document forms part of the Oxfordshire Integrated Improvement Programme 

and has been led by the Oxfordshire Integrated Leadership Board. It is anticipated that these governance 

arrangements will continue, to ensure a system position is developed. The Oxfordshire Place-Based 

Partnership will provide oversight to this work on behalf of the local authorities, local partners and the ICB. 

enabling key levers (e.g. financial, commissioning) to be used and strengthening public accountability 

mechanisms for the work. 

Subject to any appropriate governance and consultation processes, the following steps are proposed: 

• Confirmation of support from system partners (through the above governance) to progress the 

development work highlighted in this paper on the same-day emergency care, acute virtual ward care 

and community hospital inpatient care services into a finalised case-for-change proposal 

• Engage with the public and other stakeholders to seek views on the proposals and develop specific 

options for implementation. This includes focused work with local stakeholders to apply the agreed 

pathways and models to specific local sites, to enable options appraisals to be engaged on and 

completed. This will enable decisions on the future of Wantage Community Hospital inpatient unit and 

other services at the hospital to be progressed and finalised. 

• Operationalise the recommended options arising from the engagement work into local implementation 

plans and work with stakeholders to agree resources and timelines for delivery 

Page 58



 

Appendices 
Appendix 1: Oxfordshire Integrated Improvement programme structure (discussed at JHOSC in 2022) 

Strategic 
Aim 

Programme Programme Objective Project Project Objective 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Right 
Care at the 
Right Time 

A. Prevention  

 
A targeted population health 
programme to enable people and 
families to stay healthy and live as 
well as possible in their own homes. 
We will achieve this by strengthening 
preventative services and activities 
to ensure we are providing earlier 
support to people, carers and 
families closer to where they live, 
through stronger community 
networks 

A1. Extending the LiveWell 
online resources 

To develop, promote and maintain a centralised, easily accessible 
online resource to support self-help and signposting to relevant 
community services across Oxfordshire. 

A2. Activating our 
communities to improve 
health (including the 
Oxfordshire Way) 

To promote wellbeing and independence for the people of 
Oxfordshire by improving co-production, establishing local 
communities of practice and healthy, active communities. Will 
enable identification, assessment and delivery of support and other 
interventions for higher risk people and families 

A3. Integrated population 
health and vaccination 
service 

To integrate multiple existing community child/adult vaccination 
and health promotion services into a single, integrated vaccination 
and population health service that will deliver at-scale programmes 
for population immunisation, reduction of health inequalities and 
improving the health of cohorts with outlying clinical outcomes 

B. Planned 
Community 
Care & 
Support  

A programme to support patients, 
carers and families to live more 
independently at home for longer. 
We will do this by delivering planned 
care and support to individuals in a 
more integrated and personalised 
way, mobilising the full range of 
formal and community networks to 
prevent health crises and reduce 
demand on formal healthcare 
services 

B1. Extending Enhanced 
Healthcare in Care Homes  

To build on existing care home support to deliver a comprehensive 
care and support package for care home residents, including 24/7 
urgent and emergency care, intensive community care, preventive, 
planned and End of Life care.  

B2. Delivering sustainable 7-
day planned community care  

To design and implement the new process and costed plans for 
commissioning and delivery of sustainable planned community 
care, including the wraparound enablers for effective 7-day working 
and resilient staffing 

B3. Expanding community 
outpatients 

To develop and pilot and expanded range of outpatient service 
provision at community sites, to benefit local residents and improve 
health and wellbeing outcomes 

C. First Contact 
& Navigation 

To deliver more streamlined access 
to health advice, assessment and 
services when they are needed, 24 / 
7  

C1. A 24/7 integrated first 
contact and navigation 
pathway for Oxfordshire  

To deliver a 24-hour, 7-day first contact care and navigation 
pathway for the Oxfordshire population (all ages) that is able to 
provide effective triage, assessment and initial treatment/support 
and consistently. This will safely navigate people with further needs 
to the right care, at the right time, in the right places. 

D. Intensive 
Community Care 

To manage acute deterioration by 
providing a period of stepped-up 
care and monitoring at home and / 
or in the community, providing 
treatments that would traditionally 

D1. Implementing a 24/7 
integrated intensive 
community care and support 
pathway for Oxfordshire 
(including Acute Virtual and 
Virtual Care Wards) 

To deliver an integrated system of inter-connected services that 
provide the care that enables a person experiencing an urgent 
health or care need to remain at home (with a more intensive level 
of support for a period of time), when they are at risk of being 
admitted to a hospital bed unnecessarily.  

P
age 59



 
take place in hospital where it is in 
the patient's best interest to do so. 

D2. Implementing an 
integrated, multi-provider 
End of Life Care pathway 
that dovetails with First 
contact, ICC and planned 
care pathways 

To deliver an integrated approach to the planning, provision and 
management of EOLC in Oxfordshire  

E. Flow & 
Recovery 

To build on existing system work to 
deliver a more effective patient 
discharge pathway that reduces 
unnecessary hospital stays, promotes 
recovery at home and increases the 
long-term independence and 
wellbeing of Oxfordshire residents.  

E1. Developing a new 
Discharge to Assess (D2A) 
pathway, bed base and MDT 

To redevelop the Hub beds into a D2A service with a larger MDT 
inputting into them to keep LOS at a minimum, leading to reduced 
time in secondary care and supporting the person to be assessed in 
a more appropriate setting, dovetailing with the CH rehab 
pathways 

E2. Optimising Community 
Hospital In-patient 
rehabilitation and nursing 
care 

To develop costed plans and options for Community Hospital 
inpatient pathways that address changing population needs, best 
practice, workforce and financial sustainability challenges and sets 
out a development plan for Oxfordshire’s Community Hospitals* 
*including the future of Wantage CH inpatient unit 

E3. Developing a system-
wide Transfer of Care Hub 

To create a single integrated Transfer of Care Hub/Team across the 
partner organisations / different inpatient settings to streamline 
flow, discharges and provide a joined-up view on the best use of 
available beds and resources 

E4. Implementing a 
Reablement Task Force 

To reduce the duration of the reablement journey (in both P1 and 
P2), by creating a task force to increase capacity in the pathways 
and focus on reducing time in and dependency on reablement 
services. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The Right 
Care in the 

Right 
Places 

F. One Integrated 
Single Point of 
Access (iSPA) 

To develop a unified, integrated 
Single Point of Access for 
Oxfordshire, providing residents and 
professions with 7-day access to and 
coordination of the full range of 
health, social and voluntary sector 
services, whenever they need them, 
and serving as a virtual and physical 
hub for an integrated, multi-
disciplinary workforce 

F1. Development of a 
phased and costed 
programme plan for the 
development of a unified, 
integrated Single Point of 
Access for Oxfordshire 

To work with partners to identify the access priorities for each 
organisation and residents - and the opportunities to consolidate 
resources and deliver services more effectively through a new SPA, 
to develop a PID/delivery plan. 

G. Network 
Development 
and 
Community 

To establish the networks, structures 
and resources required for partner 
organisations, residents and other 
stakeholders to engage, plan and 
work together successfully at 

G1. Area Network 
Development (North / 
Central / South) 

To develop Network Areas as an organised grouping of local health 
and care services, voluntary and community groups, Primary Care 
Networks, Community Hubs, secondary care and Local Authority 
teams, who work closely together to improve the health and 
wellbeing of their population. 

P
age 60



 
Team 
Integration 

appropriate levels of scale and 
deliver their objectives to improve 
the health and wellbeing of the 
population 

G2. Developing the 
integrated Neighbourhood 
Team 

To develop the local multi-professional and multi-agency 
community team with responsibility for planning and delivering the 
care of older, frail or LTC patients within a defined population or 
geography (e.g. the residents of one or more PCNs).  

The Right 
Resources 

H. Cultural and 
Organisational 
Change 

To deliver a comprehensive 
organisational change programme 
across organisations and teams to 
facilitate and embed place level 
transformation 

H1. System Level Change 
Management 

To provide joined-up, practical support tailored to teams across all 
levels of organisations to break down barriers and transition to 
new, shared ways of working 

H2. Extended Programme 
Teams 

To change ways of working to integrate wider support teams into 
the programme to deliver specialist practical support and 
prioritisation and ensure the enablers to delivery are proactively 
planned for and in place 

 

This is a summary of a working document and may be updated in response to local and national priorities. 

Appendix 2: Engagement work to date 

Review of previous engagement June 2021 

https://www.oxfordshireccg.nhs.uk/documents/Community%20Services%20Strategy/Review%20of%20Oxfordshire%20Engagement%20Activity.pdf  

Final principles for community services 

https://www.oxfordshireccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/Latest%20Updates/Improving%20Community%20Health%20and%20Care/Final-community-services-strategy-

principles.pdf  

Engagement report November 2021 

https://www.oxfordshireccg.nhs.uk/documents/Community%20Services%20Strategy/Improving%20community%20health%20and%20care%20services%20engagement%2

0report%20Final.pdf 

 

Appendix 3: Home location of Community Hospital inpatients 

The following maps show the home locations of the patients admitted to each Community Hospital Inpatient Unit between April-October 2021. Although preference is 

given to placing a patient within their local community hospital it is clear that a significant proportion of patients originate from outside the local area. It is important to 

note that Abingdon, Witney and Wallingford Community Hospitals provide some services which serve the whole county and so the location of patients would be expected 

to be more widely distributed.  

P
age 61

https://www.oxfordshireccg.nhs.uk/documents/Community%20Services%20Strategy/Review%20of%20Oxfordshire%20Engagement%20Activity.pdf
https://www.oxfordshireccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/Latest%20Updates/Improving%20Community%20Health%20and%20Care/Final-community-services-strategy-principles.pdf
https://www.oxfordshireccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/Latest%20Updates/Improving%20Community%20Health%20and%20Care/Final-community-services-strategy-principles.pdf
https://www.oxfordshireccg.nhs.uk/documents/Community%20Services%20Strategy/Improving%20community%20health%20and%20care%20services%20engagement%20report%20Final.pdf
https://www.oxfordshireccg.nhs.uk/documents/Community%20Services%20Strategy/Improving%20community%20health%20and%20care%20services%20engagement%20report%20Final.pdf


 
North and West Area 

Witney Community Hospital – Linfoot Ward Witney Community Hospital – Wenrisc Ward Bicester Community Hospital Ward 

   
Central Area       County-wide Services 

Oxford Community Hospital Ward Oxfordshire Stroke Rehabilitation Unit (OSRU) 

  
South Area 

Abingdon Community Hospital – Abbey Ward Wallingford Community Hospital Ward Wantage Community Hospital Ward (2015/16) 

P
age 62



 

   
 Page 63



 

Appendix 4: Community hospital clinical model workshop 

Oxfordshire Community Strategy Beds Group: Clinical Workshops Agenda 

The following people attended these sessions (or part of them): 

  Item Presenter Time 
allocated 

1. Objectives for the workshops 
 
Purpose 
Establish the optimum model for effective and efficient outcomes for patients 
needing to access community beds 
 
Objectives 

• Reminder: overall objectives for the beds work and how do these 
workshops fit into that process? 

 
Workshop 1 

• Understanding the current situation in terms of data, evidence, 
experience  

• What does good look like? 

• The potential role of P2 beds? 

• What might be the future state for Oxfordshire? What are our 
opportunities, risks, barriers? 

 
Workshop 2 

• Define the key requirements/features we need to deliver an effective P2 
pathway? What does it need and what doesn’t it need? 

• Define the other things that need to be in place to deliver a P2 model-
lines of enquiry for further investigation 

• Propose potential model for further development: what does the 
evidence we have reviewed tell us about how many beds and of what 
type are needed in Oxfordshire? 

 

 
 
Diane Hedges 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ian Bottomley 
 
 
 

 
 
5 min 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10 min 

2. Current state 

• Clinical evidence 
 

• Census summary including TOMs data and patient experience 
 

• Data pack  
 

 
Sue Carter 
 
Lucy F/ Sam R 
 
Ian Bottomley 
 

 
10 min 
 
25 min 
 
10 min 
 

3. What does a good pathway look like? 

• Identifying people with the right need rather than just the 
need for a bed 

 
Andrew Williams 
(ECIST) 

 
20 min 

4. What is the clinical purpose of community beds? 

• Subacute medical need 

• Rehab/recovery need 

• End of life 

• Increased dependency 

 
 
Leigh Forsythe 
(ECIST) 
 

 
 
20 min 
 
 

5. Future state 

• What is the clinical case for change to our current model? 

• What are the opportunities, risks, barriers to delivering a new model for 
P2 beds? 

 

ECIST to facilitate 
discussion 

1 hour 

6. Focus and themes for workshop 2 ECIST 10 min 

Page 64



 

HEDGES, Diane (NHS OXFORDSHIRE CCG) 

Bottomley, Ian - S&amp;CS 

JANEVA, Sonja (NHS OXFORDSHIRE CCG) 
STACKHOUSE, Julia (NHS SOUTH, CENTRAL AND WEST COMMISSIONING SUPPORT 
UNIT) 

Riddle Kate (RNU) Oxford Health 

CARTER, Sue (NHS OXFORDSHIRE CCG) 

Griffiths, David (RTH) OUH 

Rosalind Pearce (Healthwatch) 

Kay Francis (Age UK) 

DU PREEZ, Tanya (NHS OXFORDSHIRE CCG) 

Hamblin Sarah (RNU) Oxford Health 

Fenton Lucy (RNU) Oxford Health 

Cater, Tamsin (RTH) OUH 

Steele, Sally - S&CS 

CAPO-BIANCO, Ed (NHS OXFORDSHIRE CCG) 

Rigg Samantha (RNU) Oxford Health 

Cox Gareth (RNU) Oxford Health 

BELL, Jane (NHS OXFORDSHIRE CCG) 

Vanessa Williams (ECIST) 

Locker, Caitlin - Commissioning 

VALENTINE-OCCG, Andy (NHS OXFORDSHIRE CCG) 

McGrane Pete (RNU) Oxford Health 

Ross Cornett (SCAS) 

WILLIAMS, Andrew (DORSET HEALTHCARE UNIVERSITY NHS FOUNDATION TRUST) 

Fuller, Karen - S&CS 

Wagner, Anne - S&CS 

O'Connor Lily (RTH) OUH 

RAHMAN, Shamim (NHS OXFORDSHIRE CCG) 

Leigh Forsyth (ECIST) 

Andrew Williams (ECIST) 

CHAPMAN-OCCG, David (NHS OXFORDSHIRE CCG) 

Page 65



 
Appendix 5: Outpatient pilot review June 22 

Wantage Community Hospital Outpatient Pilot Interim Evaluation – June 22 

Introduction & Background 

In summer 2021, it was agreed to trial a range of outpatient clinics within Wantage community hospital. The aim was 

to evaluate the benefits and feasibility of providing additional services to the population of Wantage who would 

otherwise have had to travel to Oxford. The pilot services are being provided in the clinical space previously used for 

the in-patient unit, which has remained closed pending the outcome of the Oxfordshire-wide review of Community 

Services now underway. 

The following services are included within this pilot: 

• Ophthalmology (eye assessments and treatments) 

• Ears, Nose and Throat (ENT) 

• A range of community Mental Health services  

Prior to the launch of the pilot services, the clinic rooms were refurbished to bring them in line with current best 

practice and standards. This work was designed to be fully reversible so as to not pre-judge the outcome of the 

community services review relating to the inpatient unit and any public consultation arising from this work. 

The Pilot launched on 4 October 2021. The reception is open from 8am until 6pm Monday – Friday. Both 

Receptionists are local to the area and are able to walk to work. The site has a facilities team who maintain the site 

along with their colleagues who ensure infection control is in place. As part of the pilot, there are now 5 clinical 

rooms, 3 therapy rooms and a waiting room. All of the clinical rooms are identical, and all of the therapy rooms are 

identical, other than the size. Structural and permanent changes were not made to the rooms so that they can 

deliver the services determined by the outcome of the review. It was necessary to improve the facilities for the staff 

and an additional staff break and wellbeing room was created. In addition, the garden was upgraded with the 

support of the local garden centre and donations from the Oxford Health charity and this is available for patient and 

staff use. (A floor plan and pictures of the renovations can be found at Appendices 1 & 2) 

Work is ongoing on the optimal use of Community Hospitals across the county; this report assesses the impact of the 

additional outpatient services so far and is intended to inform discussions on whether these pilot services should be 

continued while the long-term future of the inpatient unit is being considered an determined.  

Services included in the outpatient pilot  

Ophthalmology 

Ophthalmology which is provided by Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (OUH) joined the team on 17 

November 2021. The team consisted of a visions team, nurse and orthoptist/visual fields technician. They have 

delivered the service three days per week since that date and continue to have full clinics each day.  

Mental Health 

The Oxford Health Mental Health teams joined Wantage on 12 October 2021 and have slowly, due to the COVID 

guidelines and hybrid working, increased the teams and now use the majority of the three therapy rooms. Currently 

the rooms are used by Neuro Development, Talking Space, Adult Mental Health, Psychological Therapies, Children’s 

Mental Health, Adult Eating Disorders across Monday to Friday.  

Audiology & Ear, Nose & Throat (ENT) 

We have an NHS Provider audiology organisation that use a room for a full day each month. 7 patients a day (for 

Audiology) all over the age of 55 with an average appointment lasting one hour. The appointments are in high 

demand and the hospital is very popular and well liked. Patients occasionally need follow up, however generally one 

appointment is sufficient, and this also helps reduce waiting times. Most patients come from Wantage or Faringdon.  

 Page 66



 
OUH provided ENT haven’t yet joined the Wantage team as they have experienced resource and recruitment issues. 

Part of the plan is to install a hearing booth to support the ENT clinics which we hope to have in place by the end of 

the summer. Once this is in place, ENT will use four rooms on Tuesdays all day.  

GP clinics 

On four occasions to date the local GP practice have seen patients on site due to room shortages at their practice, 

while their extension is being developed. We aim to continue to offer ad-hoc room bookings for local healthcare 

providers to expand local healthcare provision. 

Existing outpatient services 

Wantage Community Hospital has a history of offering outpatient services and also continues to host these 

outpatient services and teams: 

• Podiatry 

• Adult Speech and Language 

• Children’s Integrated Services 

• MSK/Physiotherapy* 

• School Nursing Team 

• Maternity Unit 

* The MSK contract has recently been re-procured by OCCG and a new county-wide provider has been appointed. 

The Community Hospital administration team is holding discussions with the new MSK provider to facilitate the 

continuation of the service at Wantage Hospital. 

Additional planned services 

We plan to implement a further update to one of the rooms which involves improved filtering and ventilation to 

enable intravitreal (eye) injections to be carried out by the Ophthalmology team. This is hoped to be in place in July 

2022 with 5 rooms Mon, Wed-Fri to Ophthalmology (1 room on Tuesdays).  

Evaluation of the pilot 

As set out within the HOSC update on the community services June 2021, the evaluation of services has been carried 

out against a range of criteria (see appendix 3) to assess the benefit and impact of this pilot from both a patient and 

staff perspective.  

Quality and safety of care 

All services provided within the inpatient pilot are registered under the Care Quality Commission and are delivered 

to the standards required under the relevant commissioning framework. Staff training is carried out by each provider 

organisation to ensure that all staff have the required competencies to deliver the service. 

Following investment to upgrade the facilities at the community hospital, services delivered align with current best 

practice and quality standards. The final service which is planned (Eye injections) is due to start providing 

appointments in July 22 following further upgrades to air-conditioning to meet the required standards for this 

service.  

Patient contacts 

Summary footfall of patients from 4/10/21-25/5/22 

Service Attended appointments 

Ophthalmology 1105 

Adult Mental HT 70 

Psychological Therapies 70 

Adult Eating Disorders 53 

Talking Space 48 

GP Health Centre 22 Page 67



 

Perinatal 17 

Neuro Development  37 

NHS Provider audiology 23 

TOTAL 1,445 + additional remote patients 

 

At present, the pilot rooms have a 50% utilisation rate (a detailed breakdown can be found at Appendix 4).  This is 

projected to rise to 56% in August.  This indicates that at full capacity, pilot services could be expanded to benefit 

around 50% more residents than the currently. 

Alongside the pilot of face-to-face services, teams have also used the community hospital facilities to provide virtual 

appointments. This hybrid way of working has been received positively by patients and has provided continuity of 

care so is expected to continue across outpatient services.  

Location and Patient Benefit 

One of the key themes that came up several times in the original criteria was that of population needs and patient 

locations.  68% of patients seen at Wantage Community Hospital during the pilot came from OX12 & OX13 postcode 

areas. With a total of 87% from within around a 20-minute drive time. 

Postcode area % of patients 

OX12 57 

OX13 11 

OX10 3 

OX11 6 

OX14 1 

OX44 1 

RG9  3 

SN7  13 

Other 4 

Patient feedback 

A full breakdown of patient feedback from this survey can be found at appendix 5.  

During the pilot period, patients have been asked to provide feedback through a patient feedback survey. The 

following response were received in answer to the question ‘how was your experience?’.  A total of 401 surveys 

were completed (ca. 28% of those attending pilot services). These can be broken down into: 

• 331 people gave positive feedback including: 

Brilliant (10)  Good (60)  Efficient (16)   Very easy (19)   

Wonderful (2)  Quick (17) Great/friendly/helpful staff (17)  Easy access (6) 

 

Prompt (3)  Excellent (34)  Kind (5)  Easier than the JR (11) 

 

Fantastic (3)  Fine (13) Great (7) Very good (79)   

• 32 people gave negative feedback: 

 21 involved distances from their home (5.2% of all comments) 

 11 involved parking being unavailable (2.7% of all comments) 

 

Page 68



 

• 38 mixed negative/positive comments 

Staffing implications 

As has been well documented in both the local and national press, we have experienced a number of challenges in 

staffing some services during the pilot period.  This remains one of the biggest risks associated with delivering 

services though we are pleased to highlight the expansion of services this summer as we have successfully addressed 

vacancies and are expanding services as outlined in this report. Workforce plans are in place to strengthen the 

staffing of these services as part of Trust work to implement both the NHS People Plan and Promise. Local staff have 

been hired to provide reception services.  

Looking ahead, the lessons from Wantage will be vital as we progress the preventive and planned care parts of the 

Integrated Improvement Plan.  Service staffing costs, numbers and vacancy rates will all be considered as part of the 

wider review, options and recommendations. 

System benefits 

The capital investment in Wantage to upgrade the clinic rooms was provided through an Oxford Health capital 

funding bid. The revenue cost of running these services is equivalent to that of the other Oxfordshire Community 

Hospitals. As part of implementing this outpatient pilot, a review of the financial implications of running outpatient 

services at our community hospitals across Oxfordshire has been completed. As a result a partnership working 

agreement has been put in place to provide improved clarity of costs to ensure that these services are budgeted for 

appropriately and are sustainable. 

As part of the ongoing Covid-19 recovery process, demand for outpatient clinics remains high. The services put in 

place as part of this pilot have seen a high level of demand, in particular, mental health services have seen a 

significant increase in demand since the pandemic. By providing these services within Wantage Community hospital 

we have been able to increase the number of appointments closer to patient’s homes.  

Recommendation & next steps 

Lessons have, and continue to be, learnt from the Wantage Outpatient Pilots.  It is clear from the activity data and 

overwhelmingly positive feedback that the pilots are fulfilling a useful service function, are very popular with local 

people and the vast majority of patients who have benefitted from them live locally (i.e. within OX12 or the 

neighbouring postcodes).  

The multi-provider nature of the services has meant that there are some areas where the evaluation on the impact is 

not yet fully complete, due to data challenges. In addition, staffing restrictions and the challenges presented by 

COVID-19 mean we have been unable to fully assess the costs and benefits of the approach and there is room for 

further learning and analysis to assess: 

• The impact of services that have yet to start 

• The identified expansion of services (e.g. eye treatments) 

• The opportunities presented by the spare capacity in the clinical rooms 

• The changing economic environment where the cost of travel to appointments further away for patients is 

becoming more challenging 

We therefore propose to continue and expand the pilot to continue to benefit residents and to inform the work of 

the Oxfordshire Integrated Improvement Programme. It is important to note, however, that the longer-term future 

of the inpatient unit at the hospital remains under review and so no permanent commitment to delivering these 

services can be made at this time. An update on the community hospital inpatient pathway planning work has been 

provided along with this paper. 

The patient feedback and review completed to assess this pilot will be taken into consideration as part of the work 

being carried out within the Oxfordshire Integrated Improvement Programme. This Programme is responsible for 

completing the work to determine the longer-term optimum model for community services Oxfordshire as a whole 

as well as for Wantage based on resources and local need. 

 Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



   
 

1 
 
 

Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Substantial Change Assessment  

 
 

1. Purpose: 
 

NHS bodies and health service providers have a duty to consult health scrutiny bodies on 
substantial variations and developments of health services. This document sets out a 
framework for assessing substantial change in Oxfordshire and has been created in line with 
the Department of Health’s (DH) Local Authority Scrutiny Guidance (2014) and the Centre 
for Public Scrutiny health scrutiny guidance (2005).  
 
Under Section 7 of the Health and Social Care Act (2001) the NHS is required to consult 
relevant overview and scrutiny committees on any proposals for substantial variations or 
developments of health services. A ‘substantial variation or development’ of health services 
is not defined in regulations. This assessment is designed to help Oxfordshire Joint Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OJHOSC) identify whether proposed variations or 
developments in services are ‘substantial’. 
 

2. Process: 
 

 

Notification

• At the earliest possible stage, the health organisation responsible for the 
proposed change should initiate early dialogue with OJHOSC.

Arrange
Meeting

• The organisation responsible should arrange a meeting with OJHOSC 
representatives. The quorum of the meeting will be the same as formal 
meetings of OJHOSC as per the OJHOSC constitution. No substitutes will be 
permitted given the background knowledge required.

Prior to 
Meeting

• All OJHOSC members should be sent detailed information regarding the 
proposals. The organisation responsible should complete the assessment 
and send it to all members of OJHOSC prior to the meeting. 

Meeting

• The health organisation responsible should go through the framework with 
OJHOSC at the meeting and discuss whether they believe the proposed 
service change or development is substantial. This does not constitute a 
formal meeting of the committee, therefore any outcomes would need to be 
stated at the next avaliable OJHOSC.

After the
Meeting

• All OJHOSC members should be informed of the outcome of the meeting 
and given a record of the meeting.

Page 71



   
 

2 
 
 

 
3. Assessment Framework  

 

A. Background Information 
 

1. Name of responsible (lead) health organisation: 

Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust (OHFT) – Community Services NHS Foundation 
Trust in Oxfordshire 
BOB Integrated Care Board – NHS Commissioning Body for Oxfordshire 
 

2. Brief description of the proposal (please include information about timelines and 
whether the proposed change is temporary or permanent): 

Over the past two years, the Oxfordshire system partners have been working together to 

develop a structured programme of work to improve urgent care and community services 

across Oxfordshire, known as the Oxfordshire Integrated Improvement Programme. This 

builds on strategy development, engagement and other work previously undertaken by 

Oxfordshire CCG, Oxfordshire County Council, the NHS Trusts and stakeholders over a 

longer period. 

 

As a key part of the programme, it is proposed to develop the intensive community care 
and community inpatient rehabilitation pathways in Oxfordshire. This will deliver a new 
model of care to provide more care closer to home, reduce unnecessary hospital stays 
and reduce the need for admission to an acute hospital. Although available to all adults, 
these changes will particularly benefit older people, people living with long-term health 
conditions or frailty, and their carers.  
 
Specifically, the clinical and operational improvement model proposed for these pathways 
includes: 

• Development of virtual ward and Same Day Emergency Care services to increase 
the care available within the community 

• Review and enhancement of community hospital inpatient pathways and resources 

• Better alignment of our community services with population need, to reduce delays 
and improve patient experience 

 
Please see the January 2023 Update Report to JHOSC for more detailed information. 
 

3. Why is this change being proposed? What is the rationale behind it?  

This proposal forms part of the integrated improvement programme ambition to deliver a 
joined-up programme of change across Oxfordshire which will support the development of 
more sustainable health and care services which better meet patient needs moving 
forward.  
 
Please see the January 2023 Update Report to JHOSC for detailed analysis and rationale. 
 

4. What are the main factors driving the change? Please indicate whether they are 
clinical factors, national policy initiatives, financial or staffing factors. 

This work builds on national priorities to deliver priorities, including the development of 
virtual wards and care closer to home.  
 
The Oxfordshire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and census data (2021) shows that 
there has been a significant increase in the number of older adults in the county, 
particularly in rural areas, as well as an increase in life expectancy which means that 
people need more support from community health and social care services.  

Page 72



   
 

3 
 
 

 
Locally and nationally, the NHS continues to face high levels of demand that exceeds 
available capacity, meaning that current service models are not meeting the needs of 
many people. Some existing community services are not sustainable as they are currently 
delivered, in terms of their workforce, quality and financial indicators. We need to rethink 
how these services are delivered, including the opportunities to improve coordination of 
care, patient flow and reduce duplication between services, while ensuring the care 
interventions provided enable people to remain independent and healthy for as long as 
possible.  
 

5. How does the change fit in with the wider strategic direction of healthcare in 
Oxfordshire and the Health and Wellbeing Board? 

This proposal aligns with the ambitions of both the wider health and social care system 
and the Health and Wellbeing Board. The Oxfordshire Integrated Improvement 
Programme encompasses the Oxfordshire Way developed with Adult Social Care and 
voluntary sector colleagues and supports delivery of the Health and Wellbeing Board’s 
ambition to:  
 

• Agree a coordinated approach to prevention and healthy place-shaping. 

• Improve the resident’s journey through the health and social care system (as set 
out in the Care Quality Commission action plan). 

• Agree an approach to working with the public so as to re-shape and transform 
services locality by locality. 

• Agree plans to tackle critical workforce shortages. 
 
 

6. Description of population affected: 

This proposal particularly affects the older adult population within Oxfordshire who require 
community-based health and care services. As mentioned above, the recent census 
shows that this is a growing proportion of the population within Oxfordshire and longer life 
expectancy is resulting in increased demand for health care services from this population 
group. Although this is a county-wide programme to improve community services, options 
for specific sites may affect local populations, due to the historical variation in existing 
service provision and the location of community healthcare buildings and resources. 
 

7. Date by which final decision is expected to be taken: 

 
To be confirmed following further engagement. 

 

8. Confirmation that HOSC have been contacted regarding change - including date and 
nature of contact made: 

 
There have been regular updates and discussions held with HOSC over the past few 

years with regard to the approach to be taken to community services and the development 

of the integrated improvement programme within Oxfordshire. 

  

Since 2016, there have been regular reports to HOSC and discussions at HOSC meetings 

about the ongoing closure of the inpatient unit at Wantage CH, leading to the OX12 

project in 2019. Information related to the OX12 project has been published on the 

dedicated section of the OCCG website and in several public reports by HOSC.  

 
Most recently, in January 2023 there were meetings between the HOSC Chair and Vice 
Chair with Dr Ben Riley (Exec Managing Director for Primary, Community and Dental Care 

Page 73



   
 

4 
 
 

at Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust) and Kerry Rogers (Director of Corporate Affairs 
and Company Secretary, Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust) and between the HOSC 
Chair and Dan Leveson (Place Director for Oxfordshire at the BOB ICS). These meetings 
were to request and plan an update on the work for the February HOSC meeting.  
 

 

B. Assessment Criteria 
 

1. Legal Obligations: Have the legal obligations set out under Section 242 of the 
consolidated NHS Act 2004 to ‘involve and consult’ been fully complied with? 

In process - not yet completed 

Local communities and stakeholders will be involved in developing the strategic options 
and plans. Where appropriate, formal public consultation will be undertaken. Now that the 
BOB ICB has been established, superseding Oxfordshire CCG, it holds the 
commissioners’ statutory responsibility to lead public engagement on these matters; an 
engagement plan with timelines will be developed by system partners to set out this work 
in detail. 
 

2. Stakeholder Engagement: Have initial responses from service users (or their 
advocates) and other stakeholders such as Healthwatch indicated whether the 
impact of the proposed change is substantial? 

Yes 

Engagement to date with stakeholders has supported the view that an effective 
communication and engagement plan will be essential to ensure the views of local 
communities and groups are fully considered in developing new proposals, given the 
potential impacts of the changes being considered. To date, Oxfordshire Healthwatch 
have been involved in this engagement in relation to both the principles to shape the 
programme and the development of the clinical model for community beds.  
 

3. Stakeholder Engagement: Does the service to be changed receive financial or ‘in 
kind’ support from the local community? 

 

Yes. 

These proposals will impact a range of services, of which some receive financial or ‘in 
kind’ support from the local community. Community Hospitals, for example, benefit from 
the activity of League of Friends organisations which are supported by volunteers from the 
local community. These organisations raise funds to support the work of the Hospital. 
 

4. Stakeholder Engagement: Is there any aspect of the proposal that is contested 
by the key stakeholders? If so what action has been taken to resolve this?  

This is not yet identified with regard to the future proposals as these are in development 
(although the temporary closure of the inpatient unit at Wantage has been strongly 
contested by some residents and elected representatives).  
 
The proposal to deliver the integrated improvement programme for Oxfordshire, to ensure 
decisions are taken in the context of the whole county population, has been broadly 
supported by the range of stakeholders who have engaged to date (including residents 
and their representatives). 
 
These proposals include a model for improving the community rehabilitation and urgent 
care pathways, parts of which are currently provided through a combination of community 
hospital inpatient wards, hospital at home teams, visiting teams of professionals and 
ambulatory care units (e.g. EMUs, RACU).  

Page 74



   
 

5 
 
 

 
We anticipate from stakeholder feedback that plans that relate to the future Community 
Hospital inpatient pathways will be of particular interest to local residents and groups that 
are determined to ensure a long-term, thriving future for their local Community Hospital. 
This will include proposals for the future services provided at and supported by Wantage 
Community Hospital, where the inpatient unit remains temporarily closed and a number of 
outpatient service pilots are underway. 
 

5. Staff Engagement: Have staff delivering the service been fully involved and 
consulted during the preparation of the proposals? 

Yes (on work to date). 

OHFT have already begun engaging with community staff regarding the development of 
these proposals. Where proposals impact directly on specific staff groups, the appropriate 
HR processes will be completed with the affected staff.  
 
OHFT staff who previously worked in the Wantage Community hospital inpatient unit were 
redeployed to other services in 2016. Many of these staff remain with the Trust are 
regularly involved in discussions relating to the hospital inpatient unit. 
 

6. Staff Engagement: Do staff support the proposal? 

Yes, to date. 

The initial response to the proposed integrated improvement programme has been 
positive, however further engagement on detailed proposals will need to be completed 
before this can be fully assessed. Staff will be involved in the development of detailed 
service-level plans as part of the next phase of work. 
 

7. Patient Impact: Does the proposed change of service has a differential impact 
that could widen health inequalities (geographical, social or otherwise)? 

Not yet determined. 

This work takes a population health approach (where the needs of the whole community 
are considered in the round and there is more emphasis on prevention and recovery). This 
means the focus is on ensuring that each population group receives the appropriate level 
of care to meet their needs within the total resources made available, as well as 
implementing a consistent approach to service delivery across the county.  
 
By taking a countywide approach we will be able to ensure that all changes are seen in 
the wider context of all community services within Oxfordshire and so any differential 
impacts for specific patient groups can be identified and minimised. However, to assess 
this fully, equality impact assessments will be completed as appropriate for proposed 
service changes to ensure that consideration has been given to any disproportionate 
impacts on specific patient groups. 
 

8. Patient Impact: How many people are likely to be affected? 

This proposal will impact on older adults who use community services within Oxfordshire.  
 

9. Patient Impact: Will the proposed change affect patient access? If so how? 

Yes 

Reviewing our approach to delivering community services as a whole provides the 
opportunity to identify how best to provide services to all patient groups in the context of 
improving outcomes across the population. Access will be one of the key outcomes 
considered. 
 
 
 

Page 75



   
 

6 
 
 

10. Patient Impact: How will the proposed change affect the quality and quantity of 
patient service? 

This proposal will deliver improved consistency and quality across the whole county and 
ensure that we are able to deliver the best services within the available budget and to 
align with the ambitions of the NHS long term plan.  
 

11. Patient Impact: Does the proposal appear as one of a series of small incremental 
changes that when viewed cumulatively could be regarded as substantial?  

The integrated improvement programme encompasses a wide programme of work which 
seeks to bring together the changes which have been explored across the county over 
several years, to ensure that there is a consistent approach to delivering both the NHS 
long term plan and the local Health and Wellbeing Board objectives.  
 

12. Patient Impact: How will the change improve the health and wellbeing of the 
population affected? 

This change will improve patient health and wellbeing in line with the Health and 
Wellbeing Board and Growth Board proposals outlined above. 
 

13. Wider Impact: Will the proposed changes affect: a) services elsewhere in the 
NHS 

b) services provided by the local authorities, c) services provided by the voluntary sector? 

Yes. Taking a system wide approach ensures that we are able to consider the whole 
impact of proposals and identify how we can work with all other providers to deliver the 
best possible service. 
 

14. Standards: How does the proposed change relate to the National Service 
Framework Standards?  

National Service Framework Standards were 10-year frameworks setting out quality 
standards for health and social care. These have been superseded by the NHS Long-
Term Plan. The proposed strategic framework aligns with the targets in the Long-Term 
Plan to improve quality of life for those with long term conditions by providing services to 
support independent living and supportive community networks wherever appropriate.  
 

15. Risk: What could the possible negative impacts of the change be? What 
mitigations are in place to reduce any potential negative impacts of the proposed 
change? 

A central part of the proposed programme will involve engagement with local communities 
and stakeholders to ensure that all views are considered, and stakeholders are able to 
contribute to the development of proposals and the criteria against which they will be 
assessed. A robust governance process will be put in place to ensure all proposed 
changes are reviewed in the context of county wide impacts. 
 

 

C. Outcome/Decision 
 

1. Is this considered to be a significant change by provider? 

Yes - likely 

Oxford Health NHS FT, the largest community services provider in Oxfordshire, takes the 
view that delivery of the integrated improvement programme, a system-wide initiative, will 
likely result in significant change to some community services. In general, to meet patient 
need and improve access, the operating times of some community services may need to 
increase from the originally commissioned Mon-Fri model to a 7-day service with extended 
operating capacity overnight. At the same time, the locations of some services may need 

Page 76



   
 

7 
 
 

to be reviewed to enable extended operating hours to be delivered sustainably and to 
ensure services are resiliently staffed, have up-to-date diagnostic and treatment facilities 
and provide high quality standards of care to residents.  
 
The Trust fully supports the need to work with partners and stakeholders to complete 
appropriate engagement and any required consultation. This will be a central part of 
developing future proposals. 

 

2. Is this considered to be a significant change by HOSC? 

Yes/No (please delete as appropriate) 

To be completed by HOSC 
 

 
Possible Outcomes: 
 
Consultation is Required 

• If the health organisation and OJHOSC representatives agree that the proposal does 
represent a substantial service change or development, the formal consultation with 
OJHOSC should commence.  

• HOSC must be provided with: The date by which the responsible organisation 
intends to decide whether to take the proposal forward. 

• The date by which the responsible organisation requires the health scrutiny 
committee to provide any comments. N.B. It is expected that any formal consultation 
would be undertaken by the commissioner of the service. 

 
Consultation is Not Required: 

• If the health organisation and OJHOSC representatives agree that the proposal does 
not represent a substantial service change or development, then formal consultation 
with OJHOSC is not required. 

• Best practice is that the health organisation should continue to engage scrutiny and 
the public in the development of the proposal and onwards to public consultation in 
accordance with Section 242 requirements.  

 
Agreement Cannot Be Reached: 

• If agreement cannot be reached between the health organisation and OJHOSC 
representatives, then all reasonable, practicable steps should be taken towards local 
resolution.  

• Further meetings may be conducted with wider OJHOSC members or other 
stakeholders such as Healthwatch, carer/user groups, the voluntary sector.  

• If it continues to be impossible to reach agreement both sides may jointly or 
independently pursue the options open to them under their respective statutory 
instruments, such as escalation to the Secretary of State or to the provider’s Board.  

 
N.B. The OJHOSC representatives may prefer not to make a final decision about whether 
formal consultation is required at the meeting and choose to notify the organisations involved 
once a decision is made.  
 

 
Note on Consultation Processes 
 
The Department of Health’s (DH) Local Authority Scrutiny Guidance (2014) states the 
following in relation to consultation processes: 
 

Page 77



   
 

8 
 
 

“The duty on relevant NHS bodies and health service providers to consult health scrutiny 
bodies on substantial reconfiguration proposals should be seen in the context of NHS 
duties to involve and consult the public. Focusing solely on consultation with health 
scrutiny bodies will not be sufficient to meet the NHS’s public involvement and 
consultation duties as these are separate. The NHS should therefore ensure that there 
is meaningful and on-going engagement with service users in developing the case for 
change and in planning and developing proposals. There should be engagement with 
the local community from an early stage on the options that are developed.” 
 
➢ It is therefore understood that the process of assessing substantial change should 

take place as part of broader meaningful engagement with local communities  
➢ The relevant health organisation is responsible for engaging and consulting all 

relevant local people. It is expected that this will include locally elected 
representatives where the service change will have an impact (parish, district, county 
and MPs).  

 

Page 78



 
 

Healthwatch Oxfordshire Report to 
Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee February 2023 
 

 

 

 

 

 

CONTENTS 

1 Healthwatch Oxfordshire reports to external bodies ......................................................... 2 

2 Healthwatch Oxfordshire Open Forum .................................................................................... 2 

3 Influencing change ........................................................................................................................ 2 

4 Healthwatch Oxfordshire research ........................................................................................... 3 

5 Enter and View 2022-2023 ........................................................................................................... 4 

6 What we are hearing about ........................................................................................................ 5 

Appendix A Healthwatch Oxfordshire Feedback Centre Physiotherapy – Connect 
Health services ........................................................................................................................................ 7 

  

Page 79

Agenda Item 7



February 2023 Healthwatch Oxfordshire Report to HOSC Page 2 of 10 

1 Healthwatch Oxfordshire reports to external bodies 
During this period we published the following reports to: 

• Oxfordshire Health and Wellbeing Board in December 2022 
• Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West Integrated Care Board (BOB 

ICB) System Quality Group – briefing note to the January 2023 meeting 
 
All the above reports are available online at: 
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/our-reports/reports-to-other-bodies/ 

2 Healthwatch Oxfordshire Open Forum 
We are holding an online Open Forum on Tuesday 28th February from 4.30pm – 
5.30pm, and all are welcome to attend. Please do come along to:  

• Have your say about local health and care services 
• Hear about our work and tell us your views 
• Meet our board of trustees and put your questions to them. 

For details, including a Zoom joining link, see here. 

3 Influencing change 
Men’s health video Oxford 2018 

https://youtu.be/GcDG7wKMZ40 

https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Mens-Health-
Report-Final.pdf  

This video and report were produced working jointly with East Oxford United Football 
Club in 2018 to reach men from Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities and 
raise awareness of the importance of NHS Health Checks. Some 200 men from the 
diverse communities of East Oxford gave their views as part of this community led 
project. Nigel Carter, of East Oxford United Football Club, later spoke about the work 
we did together on men’s health in this Diabetes UK webinar about working in 
partnerships with Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities.  

The Men’s Health report (page 6) noted  “Given Oxfordshire’s take up of NHS Health 
Checks is just over 50%, our research suggests that men might value opportunity for 
more flexible options. This could include for instance, trial of Health Checks at in a 

Page 80

https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/our-reports/reports-to-other-bodies/
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/news/come-to-our-open-forum/
https://youtu.be/GcDG7wKMZ40
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Mens-Health-Report-Final.pdf
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Mens-Health-Report-Final.pdf
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UR85vXl3QEg&feature=youtu.be


February 2023 Healthwatch Oxfordshire Report to HOSC Page 3 of 10 

community setting where men regularly attend, working closely with community 
members to establish links and spread information”. 

In October 2022 Public Health Oxfordshire commissioned a new and supplementary 
Men’s Health Checks service to be delivered in and co-produced by members of the 
community. They acknowledge “that [the video] was part of the research that led 
us to change this contract to offer NHS checks in the community”. 

Read more about this here: https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/news/new-
oxfordshire-nhs-health-check-supplementary-service/ The service went live in 
January 2023 – to find out more information about this follow this link 
https://www.healthchecksoxfordshire.org/  

4 Healthwatch Oxfordshire research 
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/our-work/research-reports/  

4.1 Leaving Hospital with Medicine January 2023 
In early 2022 we were asked to help Oxford University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
(OUH) gain insight into patient experience of its Patient Medicines Helpline. The 
Helpline provides support – via email and phone – from a pharmacist to patients 
leaving hospital with medicines. 

A survey held between July and end of September gave people an opportunity to 
comment on their experience of being discharged from hospital with medicines, as 
well as of using the Helpline. In total we heard from 113 people – 105 people via the 
survey and 8 people face to face at the discharge lounge in the John Radcliffe 
Hospital. 9 people kindly came forward to share their stories in depth, illustrating the 
journeys people took. Some of these stories are included at the end of the main 
report and on our website here. 
 
A key finding was that few respondents had heard of the Helpline. We also identified 
other themes around clear and timely communication about medicines and 
discharge waiting times. 
 
Based on what we heard, we made a series of recommendations to the Trust, to 
which they responded, including to: 

• Review communication and promotion of the Helpline 
• Seek patient input into the written communication and instructions for 

patients about medicines taken home 

Page 81

https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/news/new-oxfordshire-nhs-health-check-supplementary-service/
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/news/new-oxfordshire-nhs-health-check-supplementary-service/
https://www.healthchecksoxfordshire.org/
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/our-work/research-reports/
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/have-your-say/your-stories/


February 2023 Healthwatch Oxfordshire Report to HOSC Page 4 of 10 

• Review and improve discharge process within hospital 
• Review and ensure patients have clear communication about follow up 

prescriptions and where to turn once left hospital. 
 

Leaving Hospital With Medicine – main report 
Leaving Hospital With Medicine – executive summary including OUH response 
Leaving Hospital With Medicine – easy read summary 

See here for a text version of the report’s executive summary, which can be viewed in 
large print or other formats as well as translated into different languages using the 
Enable ReciteMe button at the top of the web page. 

5 Enter and View 2022-2023 
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/our-work/enter-and-view/  

We make Enter and View visits to healthcare settings to collect evidence of what 
works well and what could be improved to make people’s experiences better. Based 
on our observation and the feedback of patients and members of staff, we highlight 
areas of good practice and suggest improvements. To find out more about why and 
how we carry out these visits see here: Healthwatch Oxfordshire Enter and View 
overview 
 
With the onset of COVID and restrictions to visiting health and care settings our Enter 
and View activity was curtailed but with the agreement and support of Oxford Health 
NHS Foundation Trust we conducted a visit to the Kassam Stadium NHS COVD 
Vaccination Centre in February 2021. 
 
In September 2021 we recommenced a programme of Enter and View visits and have 
since then conducted 15 visits, with two more planned for February 2023, and 
published 12 reports on visits. These include visits to GP practices, community 
pharmacies, dentist, care homes, an outpatient service, A&E and recently the new 
Oxford Community Diagnostic Centre and Children’s Hospital.  All reports are 
published on our website once the service has had a chance to respond to the 
recommendations. They are also sent to the Care Quality Commission (CQC). 
 
Enter and View visits together with the service response to recommendations made 
in the reports is one of the most rewarding parts of Healthwatch Oxfordshire activity.  
Visits are conducted by both Healthwatch Oxfordshire staff and lay volunteers and 

Page 82

https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/OUH-Discharge-with-medicines-final-report-Healthwatch-Oxfordshire-January-2023.pdf
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/OUH-discharge-with-medicines-draft-Exec-summary-Healthwatch-Oxfordshire-61222.pdf
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/Leaving-hospitals-with-medicines-easy-read-summary.pdf
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/summarised-reports/leaving-hospital-with-medicine-report-summary/
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/our-work/enter-and-view/
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/20220922-Healthwatch-Oxfordshire-Enter-and-View.pdf
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/20220922-Healthwatch-Oxfordshire-Enter-and-View.pdf


February 2023 Healthwatch Oxfordshire Report to HOSC Page 5 of 10 

most often recommendations are acted upon before the reports are published.  Thus 
local residents are involved in assessing services and changes are made that will 
improve the experience of service users. 
Reports are found here https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/our-work/enter-and-
view/  

6 What we are hearing about 
We continue to listen people in their communities, through our signposting service, 
utilising social media and via our online feedback centre. A review of activity and 
outcomes will be presented to the Healthwatch Oxfordshire Board of Trustees and at 
our Open Forum online meeting on 28th February 2023. More details can be found at 
the end of this report. 

Outcomes from our work – To read about other outcomes see our Board papers for 
the 28th February 2023 Healthwatch Oxfordshire Trustees meeting which will be 
available on this web page https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/about-us/board-
papers-and-minutes/  
 

6.1 GP patient registrations 
In December 2022 we received 10 calls in a short period of time from patients unable 
to register with a GP surgery in the Didcot area. We were able to signpost them to the 
Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West Integrated Care Board (BOB ICB) 
Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS) team who assisted them to register with a 
GP, sometimes with one that had previously turned them away. 

Of concern to Healthwatch Oxfordshire was that all three practices based in Didcot 
were at the time operating a temporary list closure to new patients. Whilst some 
patients were able to secure registration with a GP by making contact to the PALS 
service this could represent a small sector of people, and that there will be other 
patients seeking registration who may give up, or not have confidence, access or 
awareness of routes to help via Healthwatch Oxfordshire or BOB ICB PALS. 

A review by Healthwatch Oxfordshire of the three GP practice websites on 27th 
January 2023 shows that all three practices – Woodlands Medical Centre, Oak Tree 
Health Centre and Didcot Health Centre are now operating a temporary suspension 
of new patient registrations. A review of the NHS Find a GP website - 
https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/find-a-gp/results/OX11%207GD shows that 
Didcot Health Centre and Oak Tree Health Centre as accepting new patients. This is 

Page 83

https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/our-work/enter-and-view/
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/our-work/enter-and-view/
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/about-us/board-papers-and-minutes/
https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/about-us/board-papers-and-minutes/
https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/find-a-gp/results/OX11%207GD


February 2023 Healthwatch Oxfordshire Report to HOSC Page 6 of 10 

very confusing for patients with inconsistent information being given by the NHS and 
individual practices. 

Healthwatch Oxfordshire understand the pressures on general practices throughout 
the county and agree that GPs have a duty to provide a safe service. They also have 
a responsibility to provide primary care to people living in their area and respond to 
the needs of vulnerable people. Didcot is not the only area of population growth 
associated with housing developments. Our work with Patient Participation Groups is 
raising this as an emerging issue in other parts of the county. 

The NHS Constitution states, amongst other promises, under the section of ‘Patients 
and the public: your rights and the NHS pledges to you’1 that: 

‘You have the right to access NHS services. You will not be refused access on 
unreasonable grounds.’ 

Healthwatch Oxfordshire ask the Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to assure itself that Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West 
Integrated Care Board as the responsible NHS body is keeping this pledge with 
regard to access to primary care to all residents of Oxfordshire. 

6.2 Patient feedback on the Connect Health Service 
Since October 2022 we have only received three reviews about the Connect Health 
Physiotherapy service via Healthwatch Oxfordshire Feedback Centre. This low 
number should not be interpreted as a representative sample of patient experiences, 
however the individual’s experience and time given to write feedback is valuable for 
the service provider. The Feedback Centre is an online service that enables people to 
let us know of their experiences services they have used, these reviews are 
moderated and sent to the service concerned for a response. Appendix A to this 
report reproduces the feedback and response from Connect Health. 

Healthwatch Oxfordshire has met representatives of Connect Health prior to the 
contract commencing to share patient experience of the previous service provider.  
A Connect Health representative presented to a Healthwatch Oxfordshire Patient 
information webinar in July 2022 attended by 23 PPG representatives. You can view 
the webinar here https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/ppgs/patient-webinars/  

 
1 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england/the-nhs-constitution-for-
england#patients-and-the-public-your-rights-and-the-nhs-pledges-to-you  

Page 84

https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/ppgs/patient-webinars/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england/the-nhs-constitution-for-england#patients-and-the-public-your-rights-and-the-nhs-pledges-to-you
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-nhs-constitution-for-england/the-nhs-constitution-for-england#patients-and-the-public-your-rights-and-the-nhs-pledges-to-you


February 2023 Healthwatch Oxfordshire Report to HOSC Page 7 of 10 

We would welcome supporting Connect Health to establish a user group to inform 
the continuing service development and improvement. 

Appendix A Healthwatch Oxfordshire Feedback Centre 
Physiotherapy – Connect Health services 

  https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/services/?filter=physiotherapy  

Since October 2022 we have received three reviews about the Connect Health 
Physiotherapy service via Healthwatch Oxfordshire Feedback Centre.  These reviews 
relate to three different sites East Oxford Health Centre, Bicester Community Hospital 
and Marcham Road.   

Healthwatch Oxfordshire Feedback Centre – enables people to post feedback on 
services anonymously. Where we have the person’s email address and have serious 
concerns about the feedback – for example, safety of service – we will contact the 
person via email and ask permission to send their feedback directly to the service 
provider together with their email address. This means they can have a direct 
relationship with the service provider and gain a personal response. 

All anonymous feedback posted is also sent to the provider so that they hear this 
and are encouraged to post a response below the initial feedback on the website, for 
all to see. 

All feedback and provider responses are moderated prior to being posted. 

The reviews of Connect Health Physiotherapy Service and associated responses from 
the provider are found below. 

October 2022 

After injuring my knee, I was referred to physiotherapy via the JR Trauma Centre. I 
was given an initial appointment which unfortunately after contracting COVID, I was 
unable to attend in person. I had a telephone call with the physio who did give me 
some basic exercises and said she would need to see me in person. It's now been six 
weeks and I've still not received any such follow up appointment. I am lucky that I 
can afford to see a physio privately but I'm sure many people would not be able to. 
It's basic prevention that if physio is done correctly in the early stages of an injury 
such as this, there are less likely to be complications/ongoing issues. I wonder how 
much money it costs the NHS to provide physio compared to surgery - I should think 
substantially less! 

Page 85

https://healthwatchoxfordshire.co.uk/services/?filter=physiotherapy


February 2023 Healthwatch Oxfordshire Report to HOSC Page 8 of 10 

 

October 2022 

I referred myself to physio after being advised by A&E and my GP. I had a gentleman 
phone me up asking what I was expecting from the service?? I wanted to be able to 
walk with more support for my ankle which I had damaged, I also needed ultrasound 
to bring down inflammation. I am caring for two family members who have 
aggressive cancer, and I have to be able to walk to care for them. I was told they no 
longer offer any care!! So why was I asked what kind of help was I looking for, why 
couldn’t they automatically say, “sorry we don’t treat any acute injuries no matter if 
you are a carer!” I was told that if I wanted any help then I had to go private!! I’m a 
carer on income support, how am I supposed to pay for private treatment? I was 
informed that they could send me a range of exercises. Because I have had no one 
physically assess me, how do they know what type of exercises I needed to do? How 
am I supposed to know if I am doing them right and safely? I am so upset and so 
angry by the way I was treated, what was said and how I was completely ignored. 
The gentleman said if I wasn’t happy with their service to make a complaint to my 
local CCG who will do absolutely nothing! I am absolutely furious that we have lost 
our physio department in the community to have urgent treatment. I was told after 8 
weeks I could phone up again and reapply for treatment, but I may only get exercise 
emailed to me again. I messaged my GP In desperation and he has referred me to 
the fracture clinic for additional help. I can’t emphasise what a dreadful conversation 
I had, being refused all treatment and told if I need the care that I am requesting was 
to pay to go private!! This is not a service. This is shambolic!! 

Reply from Connect Health: 

Dear Service User, 

Thank you for taking the time to leave this feedback. I am sorry that you have had a 
negative experience with the service and I would love to be able to look into your 
concerns in more depth. If you would be happy to discuss this matter further with 
me, then please can you email us at generalenquiries@connecthealth.co.uk with 
your name, DOB and contact number, asking to be contacted by the Oxfordshire 
Operations Manager and I will be sure to get in touch. 
Best wishes 
Avril 
Oxfordshire Operations Manager 

Page 86



February 2023 Healthwatch Oxfordshire Report to HOSC Page 9 of 10 

 
December 2022 

I was referred to Connect Health by the Community Physio Service. The first contact 
was the triage phone call. I was given exercises without being seen, including the 
hard bridge exercise. I complained as I had not been seen and was told by the 
community physio that this was a hard exercise. I decided not to do the exercises 
given by Connect Health until I was seen and continue with the community physio 
exercises that was described by the Connect Health physio as good. 

I was seen by the Connect Health Physio on Friday 16th December 2022. I was given 
exercises that are not as hard at the initial appointment. The room was basic. A 
height adjustable couch that was narrow. There was no other equipment e.g. stair to 
practice get advice walking up and down them with advice from a physio. I live in a 
bungalow. I later found out that no clinic has equipment. My foot drops so I wanted 
some advice as I feel terrified coping with kerbs, thresholds, steps and stairs. I have 
falls. This service is not like the NHS. As Connect Health contract is for a period, there 
is no incentive to provide equipment. 

The physio was unable to book another appointment as there were none available. It 
does not look like you see the same person each time. I rang the appointment 
booking line after the weekend and no appointments were available. I will try again 
in the new year but it is Connect Health to contact me and not me trying again and 
again to get an appointment to be told nothing is available. I need to be seen in 
South Oxfordshire. 

I am concerned about the quality of care provided by Connect Health as a partner of 
the NHS. The standard of care is well below previous experiences of physiotherapy. 

Anonymous 

Reply from Connect Health: 

Thank you for taking the time to provide this feedback. We take all feedback seriously 
and value the opportunity to use it to improve the quality of our services. 

It is difficult to comment on specific exercise prescriptions without knowing the 
details of your condition. If you would like me to take a more in depth look into this 
please do contact us on complaints@connecthealth.co.uk and I would be happy to 
examine it further. 

Page 87



February 2023 Healthwatch Oxfordshire Report to HOSC Page 10 of 10 

This is one of our smaller clinics and is a new location that was not offered by the 
previous provider. Due to its size we unfortunately do not have the space for gym 
equipment on site but we do have this equipment at many of our other sites based 
across the county and would be happy to see you in some of our larger south based 
clinics (Witney/Wallingford/Henley) where we have this type of equipment and 
space. If you would like to discuss your complaint more extensively with me please 
do contact us on complaints@connecthealth.co.uk. Thanks again for taking the time 
to feedback. 

Page 88



Health Overview & Scrutiny Recommendation Response Pro Forma 

1 
 

Where a joint health overview and scrutiny committee makes a report or recommendation to a responsible person (a relevant NHS  
body or a relevant health service provider[this can include the County Council]), the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and the Local 

Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013 provide that the committee may 
require a response from the responsible person to whom it has made the report or recommendation and that person must respond 

in writing within 28 days of the request. This may be extended at the wish of the Committee.  
 
This template provides a structure which respondents are encouraged to use. However, respondents are welcome to depart from the 

suggested structure provided the same information is included in a response. The usual way to publish a response is to include it in 
the agenda of a meeting of the body to which the report or recommendations were addressed.  

 

Issue: Integrated Improvement Programme 
 

Lead Cabinet Member(s) or Responsible Person:  
 

Dan Leveson and Julie Dandridge on behalf of BOB The Integrated Care Board  
 
Deadline for response: 31 January 2022 

 

Response to report: 
 

  

P
age 89

A
genda Item

 8



Health Overview & Scrutiny Recommendation Response Pro Forma 

2 
 

Response to recommendation: 
Recommendation Accepted, rejected or partially 

accepted 

Proposed action (if different to that 

recommended) and indicative timescale 
(unless rejected)  

Recommendation 1; Specified roles are 
filled within the ICB with the primary 

responsibility to work with District Councils 

at Place Level to coordinate use of CIL 
funds held by the ICB and from executed 

Section 106 funds for Primary Care. 

Accepted There is the intention that there is a new role 
within the new ICB structure that will focus 

on liaison with local authority planning 
colleagues.  A key part of his role will be 

utilisation and maximising developers’ 
contributions for new health facilities 

Recommendation 2: The ICB amends the 
Oxfordshire Primary Care Estates Strategy 

to reflect the significant growth and change 

in the more rural areas of the County. 

Rejected The Oxfordshire Primary care Estates 
strategy will be incorporated into the ICB 

Infrastructure strategy which should be in 
place by end of March 24 and will include all 

health estates.  The current strategy links to 
Oxfordshire insights which gives provides 
population forecast. Oxfordshire housing-led 

population forecasts (interim) 2018 to 2028 | 
Oxfordshire Insight 

Recommendation 3: A priority list for 

funding of new primary care facilities in 
Oxfordshire is created with a view to 

seeking contributions for health where 
housing developments are already planned 

and delivered. 

Partially accepted The ICB is currently prioritising all primary 

care estates developments across the 
Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire and Berkshire 
West.  This will ensure we can focus on 

areas of greatest need and maximise 
developers’ contributions as required as long 

as they can be simply utilised. 

 

P
age 90

https://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/oxfordshire-housing-led-population-forecasts-interim-2018-2028
https://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/oxfordshire-housing-led-population-forecasts-interim-2018-2028
https://insight.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/oxfordshire-housing-led-population-forecasts-interim-2018-2028


 

South Central Ambulance Service Oxfordshire scrutiny update Jan 2023 

 
Scrutiny Briefing January 2023 
 

1 Introduction 
This paper provides an update from South Central Ambulance Service on: 

 

 Progress against our improvement programme linked to the August 2022 Care Quality 
Commission report. 

 Impact of industrial action 

 Operational performance in the Oxfordshire area  

 Recent Board level appointments 

2 Improvement programme 
Teams across SCAS have been working hard to make improvements to address all the 
recommendations in the CQC’s August 2022 report; and to progress a range of long-term 

improvement projects that were developed before the CQC inspection and report. 
 
Between August and December 2022 there was an intense focus of making immediate 

improvements. These were to address where we were not meeting specific regulations. We are 
confident these issues have now been addressed, but there is more work needed to make sure 

we are consistently providing the level of patient care and staff wellbeing we aspire to. 
 
The second phase of our improvement programme will cover a longer timeframe; at least 12 to 

18 months. In this phase we will need to embed our initial improvements and reassure 
ourselves, and our partners, that they are being sustained. We will also need to progress 

cultural changes and other longer-term improvements. 
 
We meet regularly with NHS England, local system commissioners and the Care Quality 

Commission to monitor our progress. At the appropriate time we will move out of NHS 
England’s recovery support programme and be reinspected by the CQC, though dates have not 

yet been set for these milestones.  
 

2.1 QUALITY REVIEW VISIT FROM SYSTEM PARTNERS 
In December 2022, colleagues from the NHS Integrated Care Boards covering our area carried 
out an assurance visit. The purpose was to test the assurance presented to partners at our 

regular oversight meetings. The review looked at how we are implementing a range of 
improvements and included an infection prevention and control spot check at an ambulance 

station. 
 
At the time of writing this report the written feedback had not yet been received by SCAS. 

However initial verbal feedback was positive in terms of the level of assurance gained and the 
quality of evidence available in support of completed actions. 

 

Page 91

Agenda Item 10



 

   
South Central Ambulance Service Oxfordshire scrutiny update Jan 2023 

2.2 PROGRESS UPDATES 
A summary of the progress made in three key areas of: safeguarding; speaking-up and 
governance is given below. 
 

2.2.1 Safeguarding 

We are very pleased to now have made several permanent appointments to an expanded 
safeguarding team. We now have an Associate Director of Safeguarding in post and Named 

Professionals for Adults and Children. Further posts of safeguarding specialists and team 
administrators have been appointed to and will be starting in February/March. 
 

There are 10 fulltime roles in the expanded team. The added capacity allows the team to do 
more to support the rest of the Trust through: 

• offering advice and supervision 
• delivering training 
• following up referrals 

• working with partners across health, social care and other public services to investigate 
and learn from incidents. 

 
A refreshed safeguarding committee now meets bi-monthly to oversee performance, set 
priorities, agree training needs, identify areas for improvement from safeguarding review 

themes, and identify / manage risks.   
 

We have updated all our safeguarding policies which support both patients and staff. There are 
eight in total including policies for the Mental Capacity Act and preventing radicalisation. The 
team are rolling out awareness of the new policies across the Trust, and there is a rolling 

programme of safeguarding training to ensure everyone is trained to the level appropriate for 
their role. 

 

2.2.2 Speaking up 

Strengthening how we manage speaking up within the trust has progressed significantly in 
recent months. We have expanded the core Freedom to Speak Up (FTSU) team, with a 

permanent Deputy Guardian now in post, and a second deputy in place as a secondment.  
 

Regular reports from FTSU cases are reported into our People and Culture Committee; a non-
executive led sub-committee reporting into the Trust Board. Reporting is being updated in line 
with new national guidance to cover 3 parts: assessment of cases, actions and 

recommendations. 
 

The core FTSU team are key to championing speaking up and being there for individual cases 
when needed. But there are also many more ways we are listening to the voice of our people.  
Our People Voice project is being developed to triangulate themes across multiple sources from 

FTSU cases to staff surveys, exit interviews, leadership visits and more.  
 

We are very clear that speaking up, listening up and following up is something everyone in 
SCAS must be part of. We are rolling out e-learning for all staff, with higher levels of training 
required by line managers. FTSU champions are also being identified in teams across the trust, 

and the FTSU team have an on-going programme of visits/roadshows to raise awareness.  
 

 
 

Page 92



 

   
South Central Ambulance Service Oxfordshire scrutiny update Jan 2023 

2.2.3 Governance 

On 24 November 2022, the Trust Board approved a two-year Corporate Governance strategic 
plan (page 162 of published papers). The plan outlines how we will strengthen the foundations 

of corporate governance to ensure we make the right decisions at the right time with the right 
information. 

 
The plan includes a detailed set of actions scheduled over the rest of 2022/23 and 2023/24.  
We will track progress against key performance indicators (KPIs), including: 

• Annual self-assessments and external reviews 
• Appraisals of non-executive and executive directors 

• Stakeholder engagement (internal and external) 
• Audit recommendations 
• Diversity of Trust membership. 

 
In 2024/25 we plan to commission an external governance review to independently assess our 

position against all aspects of the CQC’s well led framework. 
 

The strategic plan will ensure the Trust builds an outstanding corporate governance approach 

which delivers: 
• Integrity and fairness 

• Transparency and accountability 
• Compliance 
• Effectiveness and efficiency. 

 
Initial improvement steps underway include: 

• Review and update of all corporate policies and procedures. 
• Reviewing risk management processes and implementing a digital risk management 

system. 

• NHS Providers delivering training on chairing meetings effectively, report writing and 
providing assurance, risk management. 

• Standardising templates across all committees/groups within our governance structure. 
 

3 Industrial action 
We fully respect the right of NHS staff to take lawful and peaceful industrial action. Like the rest 
of the NHS, we want to see a resolution as soon as possible, however pay is a matter for the 

Government and the trade unions to agree at a national level.  
 
To date, the level of industrial action within SCAS has been relatively small, and performance 

for call handling and ambulance response times have not been significantly impacted.  
 

The GMB has been the only union to reach the required level in membership ballots to take 
strike action within SCAS. The GMB has around 200 members in SCAS, the majority of which 
work within Non-Emergency Patient Transport Services in Surrey and Sussex. On 11 January, 

50 GMB members of staff took action. 
 

GMB representatives have worked closely with the Trust to manage the strike action taken on  
21 December 2022 (06:00-18:00) and 11 January 2023 (00:00-23:59). Derogations were 
agreed in advance to ensure essential services would remain available. These included: 
 
 

 

Page 93

https://www.scas.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/11/Papers-Board-Meeting-in-Public-24th-November-2022-1.pdf


 

   
South Central Ambulance Service Oxfordshire scrutiny update Jan 2023 

Patient Transport Services 

 All renal / dialysis patients 

 All oncology and related cancer care patients 

 All palliative care patients 

 Hospital discharges/transfers – to support relieving pressure on hospital beds/A&E 

 
Ambulance crews 

 All category 1 and 2 calls will be responded to. 

 Higher risk category 3 calls will also be dealt with. 

 Specialist response teams will work as normal. 
 

Category 1 and 2 calls typically make up about 60% of our calls. A further 15% are normally 
dealt with by phone with no crews needing to attend. 
 
999/111 control centres 

The GMB strike action did not have a significant impact on staffing in our control centres. 

However, the GMB did agreed that 75% of their members, who were due on shift on strike days, 
continued to work to support essential services within control centres. 
 

3.1 FURTHER ACTION IN SCAS 
The Royal College of Nursing has announced strike action on 6 and 7 February. SCAS has 

approximately 125 RCN members in frontline and clinical quality support roles.  
 

The GMB has announces further action on 6 and 20 February, and 6 and 20 March. 
 
Unison and Unite are re-balloting their members on proposals for industrial action. The ballot is 

still open in SCAS and results will be confirmed later in February.  
 

Updates on how any industrial action is affecting SCAS is being published on our website at: 
www.scas.nhs.uk/about-scas/industrial-action/ 
 

3.2 INDUSTRIAL ACTION IN OTHER NHS TRUSTS 
Clearly, any pressures that impacts on patient flow through hospitals and discharges can have a 

significant impact on our crews’ ability to handover patients and move onto their next call. SCAS 
has worked closely with partners in hospitals and other NHS Trusts to plan for the impact of 
nursing industrial action in December 2022 and January 2023, and we continue to do so for any 

further action.  
 

On industrial action days, we have a command cell based in our call centre and have additional 
staff in hospitals where industrial action is taking place. This supports both hospital colleagues 
and our ambulance crews arriving with patients. It should be noted that not all hospitals in the 

SCAS area have been affected on the same strike days.  
 

In the most recent RCN strikes on 18 and 19 January, we did not see a negative impact on 
ambulance response times. This was due to a combination of planning within SCAS and the 
affected trusts, plus significant publicity asking the public to help limit pressure on the NHS on 

strike days.   
 

 

Page 94

https://www.scas.nhs.uk/about-scas/industrial-action/


 

   
South Central Ambulance Service Oxfordshire scrutiny update Jan 2023 

4 Performance 
 

Ambulance Trust performance data is published monthly by NHS England, showing aggregated 
data for all areas covered by each Trust.  
 

December 2022 data showed a very challenging position with extended response times, 
particularly for Category 2 calls. This was driven by very high call demand and some significant 

hospital handover times. Across the whole SCAS area, calls to 111 were up 27% and calls to 
999 were up 40%, compared to December 2021 figures. 
 

January data will not be published until after the scrutiny meeting, however, we have seen a 
significant reduction in demand and improvements in hospital handover times.  

 
On 24 January 2023 we lowered our Resource Escalation Action Plan (REAP) level to Level 2; 
defined as Moderate Pressure. This is the first time since March 2021 that we have been down 

to Level 2. In practical terms, as well as being able to respond to patients more quickly, this 
means crews are sometimes able to be put on stand-by during a shift whilst waiting to respond 

to the next call; something most crews have not experienced for two years.  
 
Below is a breakdown at Oxfordshire level for the latest published data, covering  

December 2022.  
 

 
SCAS - Oxfordshire England  

Times show  
hrs:mins:secs % of all 

calls 
Mean 
average 

90th 
centile 

Mean 
average 

90th centile 

Category 1 5% 12:03 23:23 10:57 19:25 

Category 2 55% 39:45 1:21:52 1:32:54 3:41:48 

Category 3 23% 3:02:49 7:26:08 4:19:09 11:05:56 

Category 4 2% 3:06:26 7:14:44 4:35:09 11:39:08 

Category 5 15% Hear and treat calls, no crews sent to scene 

 

 

Page 95



 

   
South Central Ambulance Service Oxfordshire scrutiny update Jan 2023 

5 Board appointments 
 

5.1 CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
On 8 December 2022, SCAS confirmed the appointment of David Eltringham as our new Chief 

Executive Officer. David will join SCAS on 6 March 2023 for a handover period and formally 
take on the CEO role from 1 April 2023.  
 

For the last four and a half years David has been working as Managing Director at George Eliot 
Hospital NHS Trust, Nuneaton. Prior to this, David was Chief Operating Officer at University 

Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire NHS Trust.  
 
David has a particularly strong patient focus, underpinned by his clinical background and active 

nurse registration. His considerable expertise in system wide urgent and emergency care will 
also be extremely valuable in leading SCAS. 

 

5.2 NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
SCAS has also appointed two new non-executive directors to replace Henrietta Hughes and 
Mike Hawker, who moved on from SCAS in late 2022. 
 

We welcome Mike McEnaney who joined us from January 2023 and Dr Dhammika Perera who 
will join us from 20 February 2023.  
 

Mike will chair the Trust’s Audit Committee and brings with him 25 years’ experience, including 
as a finance director for Oxford Health and non-executive director at Oxford Brookes University. 

 
Dhammika is a public health professional with over 20 years’ experience as a medical doctor. 
Prior to joining the SCAS Board, he was an associate non-executive director with the Dorset 

County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.  

6 Conclusion 
We are making good progress with our improvement plan and are now moving to a second 
phase which will focus on embedding recent improvements and planning the longer-term 

actions needed.  
 
Our improvement programme must of course be balanced with the operational priority to 

manage the on-going pressures of high demand and industrial action to provide patients with 
the best care possible and support the wellbeing of our staff and volunteers.  

 
The committee is asked to note the report and agree an appropriate time for SCAS to return for 
a further update. Given the move to a longer-term phase of our improvement programme and 

recent positive assurance on our progress provided by our Integrated Care Boards’ visit we 
would recommend returning in six months.  

 
We will continue to provide a stakeholder update on the improvement programme bi-monthly by 
email, which can be forwarded to all scrutiny committee members. 

 
 

Will Hancock 
Chief Executive 
South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 

Page 96



 

1 

 

JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

9 February 2023 
 

CHAIR’S UPDATE 
 

REPORT BY CLLR JANE HANNA, COMMITTEE CHAIR  
 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. The Committee is RECOMMENDED to 

 

1. Note the report; 

UPDATES 

 
Reopening of the Wantage and Chipping Norton Midwifery Led Units  

On 6 January 2023, I was pleased to receive the positive news, which was sent to 

the JHOSC and to the Councillors in the affected communities, that after a significant 
period of closure, the Midwifery Led Units at Wantage Community Hospital and 

Chipping Norton Cotswold Birth Hospital were to be reopened.  
 
This follows significant dialogue and work together with Oxford University Hospitals 

(OUH) by the Committee, as well as a resolution at the November Committee 
meeting to consider a completed substantial change toolkit form in respect of the 

services.  
 
The return of the live-births at Wantage Community Hospital was a service which 

was closed in April 2020 and was reopened in 2021 as an indicator of the 
commitment to a return and the development of services at Wantage Community 

Hospital at the request of the HOSC; as a previously worked with community. 
Members of the Wantage Town Council Health Sub-Committee and members of the 
Joint HOSC were able to see the new maternity beds funded by the Wantage 

Community Hospital League of Friends during a site visit to the hospital in June 
2022. A full history in respect the Community Hospital is captured in my Chair’s 

report to the Committee from July 2022.  
 
I thanked David Walliker on 6 January 2023 for all the hard work undertaken to 

reopen the hospital during a challenging national context. I’d especially like to thank 
all colleagues at OUH and especially those in midwifery at Wantage and Chipping 

Norton Community Hospitals.  
 
Wantage Community Hospital Pre-engagement Workshop Offer  

I was pleased to have a productive meeting with Dan Leveson, the ICB Oxfordshire 
Place-Based Director, in order to have a discussion on the future consultation and 

engagement on Wantage Community Hospital.  

Page 97

Agenda Item 11



I welcomed an offer from the ICB for a co-produced pre-engagement workshop 
between the ICB, Oxford Health; and the Wantage Town Council Health Sub-

Committee. It is anticipated that the event would reengage, look over the lessons 
learnt from previous engagement work, acknowledge the previous work with the 
community and discuss the future of health provision at the hospital. It was felt that 

the workshop could discuss areas such as care at home; the role of digital health and 
virtual wards; and the suitability of services such as a Primary Care First Aid Unit or a 

Minor Injuries Unit.  
 
 
BOB Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (BOB JHOSC) Meeting 

Myself , Cllr Nigel Champken-Woods and Cllr Dan Levy attended the first formal 

meeting of the BOB Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee in Aylesbury on 
25 January 2023. During the meeting, Councillor Jane MacBean, Chair of 
Buckinghamshire Council’s Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee, was elected as Chair of the BOB JHOSC and I was elected as Vice-
Chair of the Committee. The Committee considered the draft BOB Integrated Care 

Partnership Strategy, and offered valuable feedback on the specific priorities and 
made comments on the role for scrutiny when such strategies come forward and the 
level of public engagement. As a follow-up to the Committee Meeting, a formal letter 

will be sent outlining the feedback of the BOB JHOSC to the Integrated Care 
Partnership. This will also include the Oxfordshire comments which weren’t able to 

be forward at the Committee meeting, due to time constraints.  
 
Oxfordshire Age Related Hearing Loss Contract  

 
Barbara Shaw attended a meeting with representatives from the Integrated Care 

Board and local stakeholders, on behalf of the Committee, in order to receive an 
update on the Oxfordshire Age Related Hearing Loss Contract. 
 

The meeting were advised that historically earwax removal services were provided 
by primary care. However recently the service had been provided by a number of 

different providers across Oxfordshire as part of the existing audiology contract. A 
number of topics in relation to the service were raised including patients not being 
aware that earwax removal could be accessed for free via the NHS, the payment 

mechanisms relating to the provision of the service, and access to earwax removal to 
those below the age of 55.  

 
The Committee will continue to monitor the service; and together with the other 
stakeholders will be receiving a more detailed report by the Commissioner which 

were outline the state of the age-related hearing loss service which will be appended 
to the Chair’s Update Report in April.  

 
Presentation of the HOSC Recommendation to Cabinet 
 

On 24 January 2023 I was pleased to present to cabinet the HOSC recommendation 
on Primary Care in respect of ways in which the Council could work with the ICB to 

explore ways in which it could change the public narrative around Primary Care in 
Oxfordshire. I look forward to the Cabinet Member for Public Health & Equality 
presenting his response to HOSC and would welcome his work with other cabinet 

members on the formulation of his response. 
 

 

Page 98



Committee Correspondence  
 

The Committee received several pieces of correspondence from the Save the Keep 
The Horton General Group (KTHG) in respect of obstetric services at The Horton 
General Hospital and OUH engagement with the Horton Community. I have 

subsequently written to OUH to suggest that they meet with the KTHG Campaign 
Group and other known community stakeholders to update on maternity matters and 

to continue to build positive working relationships. 
 
I have also appended the correspondence which I sent on behalf of the Committee 

following its resolution at its November meeting in respect of the consideration of the 
temporarily closed services in Oxfordshire.  
 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



 

David Walliker 
Chief  Digital and Partnerships Officer / SIRO 

Oxford University Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Dear David  
 
Re: OUH Maternity Event  
 
First of all, thank you, on behalf of all the HOSC members, who attended the recent 
Maternity Strategy Stakeholder event on 18 November 2022. Members found the event 
interesting and informative; and provided a useful opportunity to ask questions and 
information gather.  
 
In relation to received correspondence from Mr Strangwood from the ‘Keep the Horton 
General’, campaign group, please could you confirm that there is no outcome to report 
on the masterplan application. 
 
Even if there is no update to provide in respect of the masterplan application, please 
could I suggest that OUH offers to meet with the ‘Keep the Horton General’, campaign 
group and other known community stakeholders in relation to the Horton Hospital to 
update on any maternity matters relating specifically to the Horton and to continue 
building positive working relationships. I would be happy to attend the meeting, in my 
capacity of HOSC Chair, as an observer.  
 
This would be in line with the Working in Partnership with People and Communities: 
Statutory Guidance which emphasises the requirement to work with people and 
communities who ‘understand the local history of change’, and to promote an ‘ongoing 
and continuous dialogue with [those] communities’.  
 
This guidance to work with previously worked with communities is something that the 
HOSC is committed to and would be pleased to help facilitate moving forward. 

 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
  
Cllr Jane Hanna OBE 
Chair, Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 
Jane.hanna@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
  

Cllr Jane Hanna OBE   
 
Chair, Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
 
 
02 December 2022 

Page 101

mailto:Jane.hanna@oxfordshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Dear OH Colleagues   
 
Re: Inpatient beds at Wantage Hospital 
 
First of all, please can I give my sincere thanks on behalf of the Oxfordshire Joint Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) for your continued engagement on this 
subject and on the Integrated Improvement Programme.    
 
As discussed at our recent informal meeting, I’m writing to inform you as to the request of 
the HOSC following a resolution made at its Committee meeting on 24 November 2022.  
 
It was agreed that the Committee requests the completion of the substantial change 
toolkit from the relevant NHS trusts in relation to the temporarily closed services in 
Oxfordshire, including the temporarily closed MLUs in Oxfordshire and the bedded units 
at Wantage Community Hospital. This was with the objective to better understand the 
status of these services; and will allow members of the Committee to establish whether 
the service variations constitute a substantial change.  
 
To this effect, please may I request you complete the form appended to this letter by 31 
January 2023 at the latest; in respect of the temporarily closed inpatient unit at Wantage 
Community Hospital.  
 
May I also request a short report, with the purpose of updating as to the status of the 
temporarily closed unit; and your attendance at the 9 February 2022 HOSC meeting in 
order to introduce and answer any questions in respect of your report. It is requested that 
the report includes detailed population needs data; and the inclusion of a proposal for 
public engagement and consultation.  
 
Please can I also ask you to maintain regular engagement with the Wantage Town 
Council Health Sub-Committee in respect of this matter. 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
  
Cllr Jane Hanna OBE 
Chair, Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
Jane.hanna@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
  

Cllr Jane Hanna OBE   
 
Chair, Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
 
 
09 January 2023 

Page 103

mailto:Jane.hanna@oxfordshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Dear OUH Colleagues   
 
Re: Temporarily Closed Midwifery Led Units   
 
First of all, please can I give my sincere thanks on behalf of the Oxfordshire Joint Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) for your continued engagement in respect of 
maternity services in Oxfordshire.   
 
I’m writing to inform you as to the request of the HOSC following a resolution made at its 
Committee meeting on 24 November 2022.  
 
It was agreed that the Committee requests the completion of the substantial change 
toolkit from the relevant NHS trusts in relation to the temporarily closed services in 
Oxfordshire, including the temporarily closed MLUs in Oxfordshire and the bedded units 
at Wantage Community Hospital. This is with the objective to better understand the 
status of these services; and will allow members of the Committee to establish whether 
the service variations constitute a substantial change.  
 
To this effect, please may I request you complete the form appended to this letter by 31 
January 2023 at the latest; in respect of the temporarily closed MLUs in Oxfordshire. In 
relation to the form, it is appreciated that there has already been ongoing dialogue with 
the HOSC in respect of maternity. 
 
May I also request a short report, with the purpose of updating as to the status of the 
temporarily closed MLUs; and your attendance at the 9 February 2022 HOSC meeting in 
order to introduce and answer any questions in respect of your report.  
 
Please can I ask you to outline in the report, the process for determining which MLUs 
would be closed to intrapartum care during periods of midwife unavailability and times of 
insufficient on-call cover.   
 
Yours sincerely 

 
  
Cllr Jane Hanna OBE 
Chair, Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
Jane.hanna@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
  

Cllr Jane Hanna OBE   
 
Chair, Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
 
 
03 January 2023 

Page 105

mailto:Jane.hanna@oxfordshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Consolidated Action and Recommendation Tracker – Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 24 November 2022.  

1 

Action Item Action Lead Progress update 

44/21 1  45/21 Minutes of 23 September Health partners to be invited to the next OCC scrutiny 
training 

Eddie Scott / 
Tom Hudson  

To be actioned in the new municipal year for 
23/24.   

In progress 

Update – OCC scrutiny are working up a 
training proposal with CfGS.   

 28 November Meeting  

46/21 2 47/21 COVID Jo Cogswell to report to the next meeting on the 
allocation of Winter Access Funds. 

Jo Cogswell, 
Oxfordshire 
CCG 

A comprehensive item will be considered at 
the Committee’s meeting on 10 May 2022.   

Update – Committee on 10 May agreed this 
was not completed via the Primary Care 
paper shared with Committee. Would be 
completed subject to further information 
offered via a workshop with ICB colleagues.  

Update - The Primary Care Workshop took 
place on 17 October 2022 and findings and 
topics discussed are to be covered at the 24 
November 2022 HOSC Meeting. 

It is understood the Winter Access funds 
aren’t available for the forthcoming winter. 

At the 24 November 2022 HOSC Meeting it 
was agreed that Eddie would enquire as to 
whether there was an alternative/replacement 
in respect of Winter Access Funds.  

P
age 107

A
genda Item

 12



Consolidated Action and Recommendation Tracker – Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 24 November 2022.  

2 

Action Item Action Lead Progress update 

48/21 3 49/21 COVID Recommended that HOSC planning (at their virtual 
meeting) will develop a template for reporting to 
HOSC, which will include a section on what 
contribution is being made to COVID recovery.  

Eddie Scott  
OCC 

Update – template is being drawn together as 
a result of examples being shared from the 
SE Scrutiny Officers network. This has 
subsequently been discussed at the SE 
Health Scrutiny Officers’ network.  

Completed - A COVID-19 recovery question is 
to be included in the commission of future 
reports where appropriate. Where necessary 
a covering report by the Health Scrutiny 
Officer will provide a recommendation, 
background and context to reports provided 
by NHS Partners.  

50/21 4 51/21 Cllr Barrow’s infection control 
report 

OCC carries out a regular review of current infection 
control procedures in care homes and the support 
provided. 

Karen Fuller, 
OCC 

This is built into our routine procedures in 
relation to infection control and monitoring 
outbreaks. OCC works in partnership with 
Oxford Health care home support service, 
CQC and UKHSA. 

Completed  

Feedback from Cllrs Barrow, Poskitt and 
Barbara Shaw following a visit on 25 July, 
was given to the 22 September 2022 HOSC 
Meeting  

 

UPDATE – Subsequent Care Home Visits to 
be arranged in conjunction with the Director 
for Adult Social Care. 

 

 10 March 

Meeting 

 

P
age 108



Consolidated Action and Recommendation Tracker – Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 24 November 2022.  

3 

Action Item Action Lead Progress update 

52/21 5 53/21 Access and Waiting Times 
Information is supplied on the new elective care 
access offer across the BOB footprint (the provider 
collaborative) 

Sara Randall, 
OUH 

BOB ICS Elective Recovery plan & provider 
collaborative would need to be presented by 
BOB ICS colleagues -  
 
In progress 
 
Update – A scope is being drawn up for Titus 
Burwell, Chair of BOB Elective Recovery 
Backlog Group, to brief the Covid-19 Elective 
Recovery Backlog group on the subject with a 
particular focus on Symptomatic breast cancer 
2WW and in respect of Urological Cancer 
referrals.  

54/21 6 55/21 Access and Waiting Times 
That Members meet separately with James Scott to 
explore workforce challenges across Oxfordshire/the 
NHS 

BOB HOSC, 
BOB ICS   

 Eddie and OCC BOB HOSC Members to ask 
for the item to be placed on the BOB HOSC 
Work Programme.   
 
In progress   
 
Update – To be considered as part of future 
discussions amongst the BOB HOSC 

56/21 7 57/21 Chairs Update  
That Members of the Committee come forward in 
which to develop a glossary of NHS acronyms.  

Eddie Scott/ 
Cllr Nigel 
Champken-
Woods  

Cllr Champken – Woods came forward at the 
last meeting to start an early draft. It was 
identified that Wokingham’s HOSC glossary as 
a good model to follow.  
 
In progress 
This is currently being collated with Cllr 
Champken-Woods and will be appended at 
the back of HOSC agendas once finished.   
 
 

 14 July Meeting     

11 Integrated Improvement 
Programme  

That clarification is sought on the position of Thame 
within the Oxfordshire Integrated Improvement as a 
result of overlapping geographies of service provision 
with Buckinghamshire.   

Eddie Scott / 
Helen Shute 

In progress – The Health Scrutiny Officer is to 
chase for further clarification in respect of this.  

P
age 109



Consolidated Action and Recommendation Tracker – Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 24 November 2022.  

4 

Action Item Action Lead Progress update 

12 Integrated Improvement 
Programme 

That commitment is provided to the Committee in 
respect of the previous undertakings associated with 
the former Community Services Strategy in respect of 
service delivery at Wantage General Hospital.  

Eddie Scott / 
Cllr J Hanna  

A method for further engagement with the 
OX12 Community is to be discussed between 
the Health Scrutiny Officer, the Chair and the 
Integrated Improvement Programme Sub-
Group.  

13 Integrated Improvement 
Programme 

Establish a sub group on the Integrated Improvement 
Programme to provide NHS / OCC colleagues the 
opportunity to engage with HOSC outside of formal 
Committee meetings (as well as in addition to).  It 
should cover all aspects of comms and engagement 
and any issues relating to services at Wantage.   

Cllrs Hanna, 
Edosomwan, 
Barrow and 
Barbara 
Shaw  

 

Eddie Scott 

In progress –  

UPDATE- The Integrated Improvement 
Programme met as a Member-only forum on 
20 September 2022 and agreed to meet with a 
ICB representative in respect of the ICB’s 
involvement in the IIP. The Group also agreed 
that a group would engage with 
representatives at OH in respect of the 
maternity closures and maternity closures 
across Oxfordshire.  

Terms of Reference for the Group will be 
drawn up for engagement in respect of the 
consultation and delivery plan relating to the 
IIP.  

14 Integrated Care Board Update  Place the ICB Strategy on a future agenda for HOSC.   Eddie Scott Completed  

The Integrated Care Partnership Strategy was 
considered by the BOB HOSC on 25 January 
2023.  

In Progress - 

The Joint Forward Plan is also anticipated to 
be considered by the Committee in due 
course. 

 22 September Meeting     

15 Minutes from the Previous 
Meeting  

Relating to Cllr David Turner’s question, clarification is 
sought since March 2020, how many people in 
Oxfordshire had been referred to Palliative Care, how 
many in total had received treatment; and how many 

Eddie Scott/  

Lily O’Connor 

Completed. 

An answer containing metrics was received 
and sent to all Committee Members for 

P
age 110



Consolidated Action and Recommendation Tracker – Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 24 November 2022.  

5 

Action Item Action Lead Progress update 

of those had been treated in bed-based settings; and 
how many had been treated at home. 

reference.  A further email was sent to Cllr 
David Turner containing further metrics.  

 

16 Action and Recommendation 
Tracker  

NHS England Health and Justice to fill out the 
Committee’s substantial change toolkit in relation to the 
SARC in Bicester; this is to then be reviewed by 
Members via email, with a view to meeting the 
Commissioner in person.   

Lisa Briggs  In Progress -  

The Substantial Change Toolkit form has been 
received and was considered by Cllrs 
Champken-Woods, Hanna and Heywood. It 
was considered that there was no substantial 
change. However further information in 
respect of the service has been requested and 
waiting a response. 

17 Responses to Committee 
Recommendations 

A short briefing note is compiled by the Health Scrutiny 
officer in consultation with the Chair outlining the 

modules of the National Covid-19 inquiry to the Cabinet 
Member for Adult Social Care and the role of OCC.  

Eddie Scott /  

Cllr Jane 
Hanna/  

Ansaf Azhar 

In Progress –  

Liaisons are ongoing in respect of this piece of 
work and the Committee is due to receive a 
briefing on the subject on 7 February 2023. 

18 Chair’s Update and Committee 
Sub-Group Updates  

Relating to the Integrated Improvement Programme; a 
meeting is set-up to discuss the future plans for 
maternity in Oxfordshire including the closure of 
maternity units in Chipping Norton and Wantage.  

Eddie Scott/  

Sam Foster  

In Progress- 

A subset of HOSC Members are due to attend 
OUH’s Maternity and Neonatal Services 
Stakeholder event on 18 November 2022.   

19 Chair’s Update and Committee 
Sub-Group Updates 

Further information is sought by the IIP Sub-Group as 
to how the Integrated Improvement Programme fitted 
in with the ICB’s overall vision.  

Eddie Scott/  

Dan Leveson  

In Progress- 

The Health Scrutiny Officer is to ask to write to 
the ICB Place Based Director to ask for his 
attendance at the next meeting of the sub 
group; to better understand the ICB Role’s in 
the Integrated Improvement Programme, and 
clarity as to the leadership and timelines as to 
the Programme.   

20 Chair’s Update and Committee 
Sub-Group Updates 

Following an initial meeting with the new provider, a 
HOSC member is appointed to Connect Health’s 
service-user board    

Richard Pell   In Progress- 

The provider is to get in contact when the 
board is set up.   

P
age 111



Consolidated Action and Recommendation Tracker – Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 24 November 2022.  

6 

Action Item Action Lead Progress update 

 24 November 2022 Meeting     

 Primary Care  The Committee is informed as to how much 
Community Infrastructure Levy funding has been 
received by the Oxfordshire CCG and subsequently 
the BOB ICB (from Oxfordshire), the amounts 
received from the 5 individual District Councils, how 
much of those CIL funds have been spent, which 
health related CIL funded projects have been 
commissioned; and what projects have been 
completed or are in progress using executed Section 
106 funds.  

Julie 
Dandridge 

In progress –  

The ICB has been reminded of these 
questions and will feedback to the Committee 
outside the formal Committee process.  

 Primary Care  The Committee is updated as to the situation in 
respect of proposals for new primary care estate in 
Abingdon.  

Julie 
Dandridge 

In progress –  

The ICB has been reminded of these 
questions and will feedback to the Committee 
outside the formal Committee process. 

 Primary Care  Recommendations:  

Recommendation 1: Specified roles are filled within 
the ICB with the primary responsibility to work with 
District Councils at Place Level to coordinate use of 
CIL funds held by the ICB and from executed Section 
106 funds for Primary Care. 
Recommendation 2: The ICB amends the Oxfordshire 
Primary Care Estates Strategy to reflect the significant 
growth and change in the more rural areas of the 
County.   
Recommendation 3: A priority list for funding of new 
primary care facilities in Oxfordshire is created with a 
view to seeking contributions for health where housing 
developments are already planned and delivered.  

 

Julie 
Dandridge / 
Dan Leveson  

Completed. 

A formal response to the recommendations 
has been received and is included in the 9 
February 2023 Agenda Pack.   

 

 Primary Care  Recommendation A letter is formulated, in 
consultation with the Integrated Care Board; and sent 
on behalf of the Committee to the Secretary of State 
for Health and Social Care to detail the Committee’s 

Eddie Scott/ 
Cllr Jane 
Hanna  

In Progress: The Letter is currently being 
formulated and is also due to be sent to the 
ICB for comment  

P
age 112



Consolidated Action and Recommendation Tracker – Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 24 November 2022.  

7 

Action Item Action Lead Progress update 

concerns in respect of General Practice capacity, 
workforce and retention issues, need for healthcare 
infrastructure as a prerequisite to major 
developments, and to highlight the need for devolved 
capital funding and flexibility in the interests of 
meeting the needs of primary care in Oxfordshire. 

 

 Primary Care  Recommendation: That the Council explores in which 
it can support the ICB, from a communications angle, 
to better inform the public narrative in primary care.   

Cllr Mark 
Lygo  

In progress – The recommendation has been 
submitted to Cabinet and Scrutiny is awaiting 
a response.  

 Primary Care  Recommendation that the Committee further explores 
the use of Additional Roles within Oxfordshire.  

Eddie Scott In progress- 

It is proposed by the Health Scrutiny Officer 
that additional Roles within Primary Care is 
placed on the Committee’s Work Programme 
for 23/24 for a scrutiny investigation via a 
Constituted Working Group.  

 Integrated Care Programme  OUH and OH respectively complete the substantial 
change toolkit for the temporarily closed services; this 
is subsequently considered by members of the 
Committee; and a reports on the temporarily closed 
services in respect of the Midwifery-led units and the 
Wantage bedded-units are reported and presented to 
the 9 February HOSC meeting.  

Eddie Scott 

Cllr Jane 
Hanna 

Completed –  

A report on the closed inpatient bedded unit at 
Wantage Community Hospital is included in 
the 9 February 2023 agenda pack. A 
completed substantial change variation toolkit 
form has also been included.  

 

The temporarily closed MLUs at Chipping 
Norton and Wantage have now been 
reopened.. 

 Serious Adult Mental Health A workshop on serious adult mental health is co-
produced to allow further Committee exploration of  
the area.  

Eddie Scott, 

OH,  

Karen Fuller   

In progress –  

To be scoped after the 9th of February 2023 
HOSC Meeting.  

 

P
age 113



Consolidated Action and Recommendation Tracker – Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 24 November 2022.  

8 

 

 

 

P
age 114



 
 

Work Programme 2022/23 

                                       Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (inc BOB HOSC) 
 

Cllr J Hanna OBE Chair | Eddie Scott eddie.scott@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 
HOSC COMMITTEE BUSINESS  

 
Topic Relevant strategic 

priorities 

Purpose Type Report Leads 

9 FEBRUARY 2023 

Temporarily Closed 
Services in Oxfordshire  

Prioritise the Health 
and Wellbeing of 

Residents 
 

To review the status of 
the the temporarily 

closed impatient units at 
Wantage Community 

Hospital 

 Dr Ben Riley,  
Dan Leveson 

South Central 
Ambulance Service 
Improvement 

Programme  

Prioritise the Health 
and Wellbeing of 
Residents 

 
Support carers and the 

social care system 

To monitor the progress 
of improvements to 
South Central 

Ambulance Service 
following their CQC 

report in August 2022; 
and to receive up to 
date waiting time data 

from across 
Oxfordshire.   

 Will Hancock,  
David Duran.  

MSK Service Update  Prioritise the Health 

and Wellbeing of 
Residents 
 

To receive an update on 

the performance of the 
newly commissioned 
service and plans for 

 Danielle Chulan,  

Avril Fahey (Both 
Connect Health)  
 

P
age 115

A
genda Item

 13



 

the future development 
of the Service. 

Sharon Barrington / 
Judy Foster (BOB ICB) 
 

Winter Pressures  Prioritise the Health 
and Wellbeing of 
Residents 

 
Support carers and the 

social care system 

To receive an update 
from Dan Leveson, ICB 
Place-based director on 

the winter pressures 
currently facing the 

Oxfordshire System 

 Dan Leveson (BOB 
ICB) 

20 April 2023 / 11 May 2023 

End of Life Care – 
Children and Adults 
 

Support carers and the 
social care system  

Understanding the 
palliative care project: 
Hospital Rapid 

Response; how it has 
integrated with existing 

pathways and provides 
a better service for 
those on the EOL 

pathway and their 
families. 

  
Professor Bee Wee ( 
OUH) and the RIPEL 

team (OUH, Macmillan 
and Sobell House 

Hospice) 
 
Cllr T Bearder  

Karen Fuller 
(TBC) 

Dentistry Prioritise the Health 

and Wellbeing of 
Residents 
 

Tackle Inequalities in 
Oxfordshire  

 

Assessment of current 

provision and 
opportunities for 
improvement  

 
 

 
 
 

 Sue Whiting (BOB ICB)  

Public Health (likely to 
be a presentation of the 
JNSA Ward Profiles) 

Tackle Inequalities in 
Oxfordshire  
 

Assessment of 
prevention and early 
intervention services 

 Cllr Lygo 
Ansaf Azhar  
David Munday 

P
age 116



 

Prioritise the Health 
and Wellbeing of 
Residents 

 
Create Opportunities 

for children and young 
people to reach their 
full potential 

with a view to improving 
their ability to reduce 
demand on primary 

care / secondary 
services and drive 

better outcomes for 
residents.   

 
 
 

SUB GROUP / WORKING GROUP  

 
SUB GROUPS / WORKING GROUPS 

Name Relevant strategic 

priorities 

Description Outcomes Members 

COVID-19 
Sub Group  

 
(commenced) 

Tackle Inequalities in 
Oxfordshire  

 
Prioritise the Health and 
Wellbeing of Residents 

 
 
 

To review publicly 
available papers on the 

elective recovery backlog 
and report to HOSC.  

To be assured that the 
targets in plans for the 

recovery of elective care 
are being met.   
 

 
 

Cllr Jane Hanna 
Jean Bradlow 

Barbara Shaw 
Cllr Damian Heywood 

Integrated 
Improvement 
Programme 

Sub-Group  

Tackle Inequalities in 
Oxfordshire  
 

Prioritise the Health and 
Wellbeing of Residents 

 

To consolidate existing 
unanswered questions; 
 

To monitor the progress of 
the implementation of the 

Integrated Improvement 
programme.  
 

To drive better 
outcomes.  
 

Cllr Jane Hanna  
Cllr Paul Barrow 
Barbara Shaw  

Jean Bradlow  
Cllr Imade Edosomwan 

P
age 117



 

To analyse the 
evaluations of the 
Outpatient Pilot. 

 
To seek clarification and 

assurances on the 
previous commitments 
made in respect of the 

Wantage Community 
Hospital.  

 

 
BRIEFINGS FOR MEMBER INFORMATION 

  
BRIEFINGS  

Name Relevant strategic 
priorities 

Description Outcomes Members 

Health And 

Care Act 2022  

 Ensuring Member and 

officer understanding of 
the reforms to the NHS 
and SC as part of the 

Health and Care Act and 
its impact on Oxfordshire  
 

To understand the new 

health landscape  
 
To understand where 

accountability lies within 
an integrated system 
 

All  

Covid-19 
National 
Inquiry  

 Ensuring Member 
understanding of the 
Covid-19 National Inquiry 

and any associated role of 
local government.  

To understand the 
Covid-19 National Inquiry 
and any role of Local 

Government  

All 

The Emerging 

Policy Climate 
for Children’s 

 Understanding the impact 

of the National SEND 
review/green paper, 

To understand the 

emerging policy 
landscape  

All 

P
age 118



 

Services / 
Education:  
 

Opportunity for All White 
Paper, Josh McAlistair 
Review and the Health 

and Care Act and its 
translation for Oxfordshire.   

To include a review of 
reforms introduced by 
OCC on children/adults 

interface in 2021.   
 

The Emerging 

Policy Climate 
for Adults 

Services 

 Understanding the impact 

of the CQC assurance 
responsibilities, People At 

The Heart of Care white 
paper, the Health and 
Care Act and its 

translation for Oxfordshire.   

To understand the 

emerging policy 
landscape  

All  

 
 

 
ITEMS DEFERRED FROM WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23  

Name Relevant strategic 
priorities 

Description Outcomes Members Comments from 
Health Scrutiny 
Officer 

Healthy 
Place 
Shaping  

Tackle Inequalities in 
Oxfordshire  
 

Prioritise the Health 
and Wellbeing of 

Residents  
 

Assessment of the 
development of HPS 
and opportunities for 

maximum impact 
across Oxfordshire.   

 Cllr M Lygo 
Ansaf Azhar  
 

Rosie Rowe 

Agreed to swap 
HPS out of the 
programme and 

place Smoke Free 
in the programme 

as agreed at 
Committee on 9 
June.  This item 

P
age 119



 

Create Opportunities 
for children and 
young people to 

reach their full 
potential 

will stay on the 
deferred 
programme in the 

event that 
Members wish to 

consider it for 
23/24   

Funding For 

Children’s 
Mental 
Health from 

the BOB ICB  

Create Opportunities 

for children and 
young people to 
reach their full 

potential 

To understand current 

and future funding 
position based on the 
need to manage 

current CAMHS 
demand and any 

future demand 

Funding For 

Children’s Mental 
Health from the 
BOB ICB  

Create Opportunities 

for children and young 
people to reach their 
full potential 

Report won’t be 

ready for July 
2022 meeting. 
Suggest members 

use this subject as 
a key line of 

enquiry as part of 
ICB 5 Year Joint 
Forward Plan 

strategy 
conversations and 

any financial 
planning rounds.   

 
DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME 2023/24 

Name Relevant strategic 
priorities 

Description Outcomes Report Leads  

8 June 2023 

Oxford Health 
NHS FT 
Quality 

Account 

Tackle Inequalities in 
Oxfordshire  
 

Prioritise the Health and 
Wellbeing of Residents  
 

To review the Quality 
Account of the Trust, 
specifically, the quality 

objectives for this year 
and the next. 

 Jane Kershaw – Head of 
Quality Governance from 
Oxford Health NHS FT  

P
age 120



 

Oxford 
University 
Hospitals NHS 

FT Quality 
Account 

Tackle Inequalities in 
Oxfordshire  
 

Prioritise the Health and 
Wellbeing of Residents  
 

To review the Quality 
Account of the Trust, 
specifically, the quality 

objectives for this year 
and the next. 

 Dr Andrew Brent (Deputy 
Medical Director) 

 
 

 
 

BOB HOSC COMMITTEE BUSINESS 
 

Topic Purpose Type Report Leads 

Anticipated April/May 2023 (Date TBC) 

BOB Joint Forward 
Plan (Formerly the 5 

Year Plan) 

To scrutinise and offer 
feedback to the 

Integrated Care Board 
on the proposed Joint 

Forward Plan for the 
next five years. 

 Representatives of the 
Integrated Care Board 

(Catherine Mountford to 
confirm in due course) 

 

P
age 121



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Oxfordshire Community Musculoskeletal Service
	Annex A- The Connect Health Primary Care Guide to Musculoskeletal Referrals
	Annex B - Compliments from Service Users

	6 Oxfordshire Temporarily Closed Services Update
	Appendices - Community inpatient and intensive community support services JHOSC update Jan 23
	Background Paper: HOSC Substantial Change Assessment - Oxfordshire Integrated improvment programme Jan 23

	7 Healthwatch Oxfordshire Report
	8 Responses to Committee Recommendations
	10 South Central Ambulance Service (SCAS) Improvement Programme Update
	11 Chair's Report
	Chair's Update Annex A - Horton Maternity Engagement Letter
	Chair's Update Annex B - Substantial Change Form Request Letter (Wantage Bedded Unit)
	Chair's Update Annex C - Substantial Change Form Request Letter (MLUs)

	12 Actions and Recommendations Tracker
	13 Committee Work Programme

